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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K
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Annual Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of te Securities Exchange Act of 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013
Or
O Transition Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) bthe Securities Exchange Act of 1934
For the transition period from to

Commission File No. 0-23047
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Delaware 13-3864870
(State or other jurisdiction of (IRS Employer Identification. No.)
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Registrant’s telephone number, including area c(®IF) 672-9100

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(IhefAct:
Title of each class Name of each exchange on which registered
common stock, $.0001 par value Nasdaq Global Market

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(ghefAct:
None
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a wkelbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405%e0B#dturities Act Yedd No

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuiegd to file reports pursuant to Section 13 ord) 5 the Act Yes[O No
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under those Sections.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant @b filed all reports required to be filed by Secti® or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of4188ring
the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter patiatithe registrant was required to file such reg)pand (2) has been subject to such filing nesments for
the past 90 days. Yex] No[

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant isnitted electronically and posted on its corpo¥absite, if any, every Interactive Data File reqdito be
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10-K/A. O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlazge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, maccelerated filer or a smaller reporting comp&se
definition of “large accelerated filer”, “acceleedtfiler” and “smaller reporting company” in Rulglit2 of the Exchange Act. (check one): Large Aaedésl

Filer O Accelerated FilerxI Non-Accelerated Filerd Smaller Reporting Compariy

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantsbell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the BExge Act) Yes[l No
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The aggregate market value of the voting and ndmg@ommon stock held by non-affiliates of theisérgnt, based upon the closing sale price of tmeroon
stock on June 30, 2013 as reported on the Nasd#zpQVarket was approximately $148,806,051.

As of February 14, 2014 the registrant had outstan®3,262,322 shares of common stock.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

The following document is incorporated herein bfgrence:

Document Parts Into Which Incorporated
Proxy Statement for the Company’s 2014 Annual Part Il
Meeting of Stockholders
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Iltem 1. Business

Iltem 1. Business

Certain statements in this Annual Report on ForrKl@hcluding certain statements contained in “Besis” and “Managemenst’
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition dresults of Operations,” constitute “forward-lookistatements'within the meaning «
Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as aneeindnd Section 21E of the Securities Exchangeofd934, as amended. The word:
phrases “can be,” “expects,” “may affect,” “may ded,” “believes,” “estimate,” “projectand similar words and phrases are intende
identify such forward-looking statements. Such famMooking statements are subject to various known @amdhown risks and uncertaint
and SIGA cautions you that any forwdabking information provided by or on behalf of $1Gs not a guarantee of future performa
SIGA's actual results could differ materially frotinose anticipated by such forwdabking statements due to a number of factors, sof
which are beyond SIGA’ control, including, but not limited to, (i) thésk that potential products that appear promisiogStGA or it
collaborators cannot be shown to be efficaciousafe in subsequent patinical or clinical trials, (ii) the risk that Si& or its collaborators wi
not obtain appropriate or necessary governmentaloapls to market potential products, (iii) thekrihat SIGA may not be able to obt
anticipated funding for its development projectotiter needed funding, including from anticipatedernmental contracts and grants (iv)
risk that SIGA may not complete performance und&/Ss contract (the “BARDA Contract™ith the U.S. Biomedical Advanced Rese:
and Development Authority (‘“BARDA"Pn schedule or in accordance with contractual tefwshe risk that SIGA may not be able to se
or enforce sufficient legal rights in its produdtssluding intellectual property protection, (vhe risk that any challenge to SIGApatent ar
other property rights, if adversely determined,|daffect SIGAS business and, even if determined favorably, cbaldostly, (vii) the risk th
regulatory requirements applicable to SIGAroducts may result in the need for further alitamhal testing or documentation that will delar
prevent seeking or obtaining needed approvals tkehahese products, (viii) the risk that one orrenprotests could be filed and upheli
whole or in part or other governmental action takieneither case leading to a delay of performameder the BARDA Contract or ott
governmental contracts, (ix) the risk that the BARDontract is modified or canceled at the requesequirement of the U.S. government,
the risk that the volatile and competitive natuf¢he biotechnology industry may hamper SIGA&fforts to develop or market its products,
the risk that changes in domestic and foreign esno@and market conditions may affect SIGAdbility to advance its research or its proc
adversely, (xii) the effect of federal, state oreign regulation, including drug regulation andeimational trade regulation, on SIGA’
businesses, (xiii) the risk that our outstandindelntedness may make it more difficult to obtainitgaiaal financing, (xiv) the risk that the U
government’s responses (including inaction) torthBonal and global economic situation may affd@/ s business adversely, (xv) the
that our internal controls will not be effective detecting or preventing a misstatement in ourrfiia statements, (xvi) the risk that sc
amounts received and recorded as deferred revdtimately may not be recognized as revenue, (Xt risk that the recent remand to
Delaware Court of Chancery could result in a busdeme award of damages, which could materially atvsely affect the Company, (xv
the risk that the remand may result in extended expEnsive litigation, (xix) the risk that our djtition with PharmAthene may impede
efforts to continue to grow the Company, and (e tisk that we may not be able to establish aenitded positions or otherwise not preva
any further court proceedings. All such forwadomdking statements are current only as of the datevhich such statements were made. £
does not undertake any obligation to update puybhcly forwardlooking statement to reflect events or circumstaraféer the date on whi
any such statement is made or to reflect the oenuer of unanticipated events.

n ow " ow "o« " ow

Overview
SIGA Technologies, Inc. is referred to throughdis report as “SIGA,” “the Company,” “we” or “us.”

We are a company specializing in the developmedtcammercialization of solutions for serious unmetdical needs and biothre;
Our lead product is Arestvyr, ™ (tecovirimat), alsown as ST-246@an orally administered antiviral drug that targathopoxviruses. Whi
Arestvyr is not yet licensed as safe or effectiyatie U.S. Food & Drug Administration, it is a nbgenall-molecule drug that is being delive
to the Strategic National Stockpile under Projeici3hield.

Lead Product - Arestvyr ™

On May 13, 2011, we signed the BARDA Contract panéuo which we agreed to deliver two million casof Arestvyr to the U.
Strategic National Stockpile (“Strategic StockpjleThe base contract, worth approximately $463 milliorcludes $54 million related
development and supportive activities and contaersous options to be exercised at BARBAdiscretion. The period of performance
development and supportive activities runs unt@QAs originally issued, the BARDA Contract incigdan option for the purchase of up t
million additional courses of Arestvyr; howeverlléoving a protest by a competitor of the CompanpRPA issued a contract modification
June 24, 2011 pursuant to which it deleted theoopth purchase the
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additional courses. Under the BARDA Contract as ifiedi BARDA has agreed to buy from SIGA 1.7 miliocourses of Arestvy
Additionally, SIGA will contribute to BARDA 300,0000urses manufactured primarily using federal fumdsided by the U.S. Departmen
Health and Human Services (“HHSUinder prior development contracts. The BARDA Catti@s modified also contains options that
permit SIGA to continue its work on pediatric angkigtric formulations of the drug as well as useAodstvyr for smallpox prophylaxis.
discussed in Item 3, “Legal Proceedingfé amount of profits we will retain pursuant te BARDA Contract may be adversely affectec
the outcome of PharmAthene’s action against SIGA.

We believe that Arestvyr is among the first new kmaolecule drugs delivered to the Strategic Stockpiider the Project BioShie
Act of 2004 (“Project BioShield”).Arestvyr is an investigational product that is ratrrently approved by the U.S. Food and [
Administration (“FDA”) as a treatment of smallpox any other indication. Nevertheless, the FDA hasighated Arestvyr for “fast-track”
status, creating a path for expedited FDA review awentual regulatory approval. Arestvyr is a npyetented drug that is easy to st
transport and administer. There could be severd e an effective smallpox antiviral drug: towed mortality and morbidity in those infec
with the smallpox virus, to protect the nonmune who risk developing smallpox following viragposure, and as an adjunct to the sma
vaccine in order to reduce the frequency of seramlierse events due to the live virus used forimation.

Arestvyr's regulatory path, and SIG#\'development activities related to Arestvyr, argtarially guided by the results of an F
Advisory Committee meeting that was convened inddamer 2011 (the “Advisory Committee”yhe Advisory Committee was convene(
consider proposals for using a surrogate orthopugvwnodel and to determine what elements of therfalhrule” constitute “enoughévidenc
for approval of a drug for the treatment of smatlp®he Advisory Committes’ recommendation confirmed that the monkeypox, itpbko anc
ectromelia models, especially in combination, caudiably provide appropriate evidence of efficdaytreatment of smallpox. Subsequer
the Advisory Committee, SIGA has had substantivetings and communications with the FDA regarding thgulatory path of Arestwv
Development activities for Arestvyr are based owr thdvisory Committees recommendation, and take into account meeting
communications with the FDA.

The regulatory status of Arestvyr follows: Aresthyais Orphan Drug designation for both the treatraedt prevention of smallpc
and in late 2010, Arestvyr received Orphan Drugigiegion for the broader indication of treatmentosthopoxvirus infections (vaccin
variola, monkeypox and cowpox). Also in 2010, afistudy report was completed and provided to tha For a Phase |l multiple dose clinit
trial to evaluate the safety, tolerability and phacokinetics of Arestvyr when administered as @lsindaily oral dose for fourteen days
clinical study to test the palatability of Arestwyn various food items was initiated in JanuaryZ£@he purpose of which is to support do
for humans who may have difficulty swallowing calesuincluding children and the elderly. Protocals &n expanded clinical safety tria
support an New Drug Application (“NDA"iling and a clinical mass balance (absorption,ahetism and excretion) study to inform on
potential drug to drug interactions are under degwelent. Rabbitpox efficacy studies in rabbits, anpporting studies, are being conductec
planned. An Investigational New Drug (“INDgpplication for an intravenous (1V) formulation Afestvyr was filed with FDA in Septemt
2012 and we received a safe to proceed letter ffBvA in November 2012 along with a letter grantiagttrack status. Formulation work t
commenced on an oral suspension formulation of tyesvhich would support dosing for pediatrics a@hd elderly.

Manufacturing

We use third parties known as Commercial Manufaogu®rganizations (“CMOs™o procure commercial raw materials and supy
and to manufacture Arestvyr. Our CMOs apply methadd controls in facilities that are used for matidiring, processing, packaging
holding pharmaceuticals which conform to currenbdyjonanufacturing practices (“cGMP")he standard set by FDA for manufactur
pharmaceuticals intended for human use.

Product Candidates
We are seeking partners for our Dengue Antiviral Anti-Arenavirus drug candidates to support furttievelopment activity.
Dengue Antiviral : Dengue fever, an acute febrile disease charaetbbly a sudden onset of fever and an abnormally internal bod
temperature, is caused by one of four serotypeefue virus of the genus Flavivirus. Dengue feagrbe classified as classical dengue f
severe dengue, which includes the life threatemieggue hemorrhagic fever syndrome, or dengue shgieirome. Dengue virus may

transmitted via the bite of an infect@ddes aegypti mosquito, which is found in tropical and sub-tr@biregions around the world.

Each year, regional epidemics of dengue fever caigmificant morbidity and mortality. Regional epidics also cause soc
disruption and substantial economic burden in &féareas, in terms of increased hospitalizatitesrand necessary
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mosquito control. The World Health Organizatiotireates that forty percent of the world's populatie at risk with an estimated 3@C
million people infected with the virus each yeahete is currently no approved antiviral or vacdimethe treatment or prevention of dengue
mediated disease. We have identified a leadcfinégzal drug candidate with activity against adluf serotypes of virus and which has sh
efficacy in a murine model of disease.

Anti-Arenavirus. Arenaviruses are hemorrhagic fever viruses thaehasen classified as Category A agents by U.S.eCerib
Disease Control and Prevention (“CDQlye to the great risk that they pose to public theahd national safety. The hemorrhagic f
arenaviruses (Lassa virus in Africa and Junin, Migch Guanarito and Sabia viruses in South Amettigaje no available FDApprove:
treatment. In order to combat this threat, ourrdisés have identified a lead pecénical drug candidate, which has demonstratedifaant
antiviral activity in cell culture assays againsiska virus. Lassa fever is an acute viral illnegvaglent in West Africa with an estima
100,000 to 300,000 infections. We have demonstritepeutic efficacy of our lead candidate agdiasssa fever in several animal challe
studies. We believe that the availability of herhagic fever virus antiviral drugs would addressorat! and global security needs by actin
a significant deterrent and defense against thefiaeenaviruses as weapons of bioterrorism or aitave.

Market for Biological Defense Programs

The market for biodefense countermeasures refieetinued awareness of the threat of global texna biowarfare activity. The U.
government is the largest source of development puodurement funding for academic institutions dvidpharmaceutical compan
conducting biodefense research or developing vascimantinfectives and immunotherapies directed at poterggents of bioterror
biowarfare. U.S. government spending on biodefgmegrams includes development funding awarded btjoNal Institute of Allergy an
Infectious Diseases (“NIAID"), BARDA and Departmeot Defense (“DoD”),and procurement of countermeasures by BARDA, CDd
DoD.

Project BioShield, which became law in 2004, autte® the procurement of countermeasures for biokdgchemical, radiological a
nuclear attacks for the Strategic Stockpile, whik national repository of medical assets and oareasures designed to provide fed
state and local public health agencies with medscgplies needed to treat and protect those affduyeterrorist attacks, natural disast
industrial accidents and other public health emecigs. Project BioShield initially provided apprigtions of $5.6 billion to be expended ¢
ten years. The initial $5.6 billion appropriatiorpged on September 30, 2013. In 2013, Congressheszed Project BioShield and in 20
the Appropriations Act for Fiscal Year 2014 prowdden annual appropriation of $670 million for aities related to countering biological ¢
other threats to civilian populations, of which $2&illion has been set aside for the procuremerbahtermeasures and $415 million has
set aside for advanced research and developmertdanichistrative expenses of BARDA.

In addition to the U.S. government, we believe tbtiter potential additional markets for the salebmfdefense countermeast
include:

» foreign governments, including both defense andiptiealth agencie

» state and local governments, which may be intedeistehese products to protect, among others, eenesgresponders, such
police, fire and emergency medical personnel;

* healthcare providers, including hospitals and ctinani
* nongovernmental organizations and multinational congmrincluding transportation and security comps
Research Agreements

We obtain funding in the form of grants or contsaftom various agencies of the U.S. governmentugapsrt our research a
development activities. Currently, in addition teetBARDA Contract, we have one contract and twatgravith varying expiration dat
through February 2018 that provide for potentialifa aggregate research and development fundingptxific projects of approximately $1
million. This amount includes, among other thingstions that may or may not be exercised at the gb8ernmens discretion. Moreover, t
contracts and grants contain customary terms anditions and include the U.S. governmsntight to terminate or restructure a grant
convenience at any time. We have entered intodh@nfing collaborative research arrangements amdraots:

Smallpox antiviral drug development : In 2006, we were awarded a contract from NIHIbggapproximately $21 million for the contint
development of SP46, now also known as Arestvyr. In 2008, we wavarded a $55.1 million contract from NIH to suppibre developme
of additional formulations and orthopox-relatedidadions for ST-246. In 2008, the NIH increased
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an existing $16.5 million contract to $20.0 millidn August 2011, these contracts were restructarettransferred to BARDA so that $1
million was eligible to cover performance througkbFuary 2013. Subsequently, the period of perfomadar a portion of the remaining fur
available under the contract was extended to FeprR@18. As of December 31, 2013, $7.0 million remaavailable to us under 1
restructured contract.

In September 2009, we received a three-year, $8l@mPhase Il grant from NIH to fund the contirldevelopment of SP46 fol
the treatment of smallpox vaccine-related adveveats. This grant concluded in February 2013.

Dengue antiviral drug development : In May 2011, we received aygar grant of $6.5 million from NIH to continue filing for the
development of antiviral drugs for dengue. As ot®mber 31, 2013, there is $3.0 million availableemthis grant. As described in Iten
“Management's Discussion and Analysis,” in conmectvith the Optimization Program, we have restdcteir earlystage drug discove
efforts and thus do not expect directly to utilimaterial amounts of available funds under this gran

Anti-arenavirus drug development : In August 2011, we received ayBar grant of $7.7 million from NIH to continue fling for the
development of antiviral drugs for Lassa fever sirAs of December 31, 2013, there is $3.9 milligailable under this grant. In connect
with the Optimization Program, we have restrictenl earlystage drug discovery efforts and thus do not exgeettly to utilize materi
amounts of available funds under this grant.

We receive cash payments from NIH and BARDA on antinly basis, as services are performed or goodpuanehased. Our curre
contracts and grants, other than the BARDA Contdeinot include milestone payments. Amounts uiedetract and grant agreements are
guaranteed and can be canceled at any time fooneasich as noperformance or convenience of the U.S. governmedt i canceled, w
will not receive funds for additional work undeethgreements.

For a discussion of research and development egpesse Item 7, “ManagemenDiscussion and Analysis of Financial Condi
and Results of Operations.”

Competition

The biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries craracterized by rapidly evolving technology antemse competition. O
competitors include most of the major pharmaceliiompanies, each of which has financial, technécad marketing resources significal
greater than ours. Biotechnology and other pharotaizé competitors in the biodefense space inclidé,are not limited to, Bavarian Nor
AS, Chimerix Inc., and Emergent BioSolutions. Aaade institutions, governmental agencies and otheblip and private resear
organizations are also conducting research aetsvand seeking patent protection and may commizecjaloducts on their own or through jc
ventures.

Our biodefense product candidates face significanipetition for U.S. government funding for bottvelepment and procurement
medical countermeasures for biological, chemicallialogical and nuclear threats, diagnostic testsygtems, and other emerge
preparedness countermeasures.

Our commercial opportunities could be reduced oniehted if our competitors develop and commerz&lproducts that are sa
more effective, have fewer side effects, are morevenient or are less expensive than productsst@ahay develop. In addition, we may no
able to compete effectively if our product candégato not satisfy governmental procurement requrgs) particularly requirements of
U.S. government with respect to biodefense products

Human Resources and Research Facilities

As of February 1, 2014, we had 34 ftithe employees. None of our employees is covered bgllective bargaining agreement,
we consider our employee relations to be good. @search and development facilities are locate@adnvallis, Oregon, where we lei
approximately 32,800 square feet under a leaseeamgnet signed in January 2007, as amended in May, 20id which expires in Decem
2017.

Intellectual Property and Proprietary Rights

Our commercial success will depend in part on dailita to obtain and maintain patent protection faur proprietary technologie
drug targets and potential products and to presewerade secrets. Because of the substantiathesfgtime and expense associated
bringing potential products through the developnam regulatory clearance processes to reach thieetpkace, the pharmaceutical indu
places considerable importance on obtaining patedt trade secret protection. The patent positidnpharmaceutical and biotechnolc
companies can be highly uncertain and involve cemfdgal and factual
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guestions. No consistent policy regarding the kieadl claims allowed in biotechnology patents hameryed to date. Accordingly, we can
predict the type and extent of claims allowed iesth patents.

We are exclusive owner of 21 U.S. patents. We Beeaxclusive owner of 2 U.S. provisional patentlagations, 16 U.S. utility pate
applications, 3 international PCT patent appligatiand 92 foreign patent applications.

The following are our patent positions as of Decen#i, 2013:

PATENTS Number Owned Patent Expiration Dates*
by SIGA
United States 21 2024 (1), 2026 (2), 2027 (5282(®), 2029 (4),
2030 (1), 2032 (2)
Australia 4 2027(1), 2028(1), 2029(1), 2030(1)
Europe 12 2027(6), 2028(6)
Japan 4 2024(1), 2025(1), 2027(1), 2028(1)
South Africa 2 2027(1), 2028 (1)
African Regional Intellectual Property Organization 2 2027(1), 2028 (1)
(ARIPO)
African Intellectual Property Organization (OAPI) 5 2027(1), 2028 (2), 2029 (1), 2030 (1)
All other jurisdictions 2 2024(1),2029(1)

* Patent Expiration Dates may be affected by patemh extensions and adjustments.

APPLICATIONS Number Owned by SIGA
United States 16
United States provisional 2
PCT 3
Australia 7
Canada 9
Europe 11
Japan 5
Mexico 8
South Africa 4
ARIPO 3
OAPI 1
All Other Jurisdictions 44

We also rely upon trade secret protection for camfidential and proprietary information. No assuwarcan be given that otl
companies will not independently develop substintegjuivalent proprietary information and techréguor otherwise gain access to our t
secrets or that we can meaningfully protect owdrsecrets.

FDA regulations require that patented drugs be salder brand names that comply with various regrat We must develop a
make efforts to protect these brand names for eholr products in order to avoid product piracyl &m secure exclusive rights to these b
names. We may expend substantial funds in devedoaird securing rights to adequate brand namesuopmducts. We currently ha
proprietary trademark rights in SIGA®, Arestvi¥, ST-246®and other brands used by us in the United Statgariain foreign countrie
but we may have to develop additional trademarktsign order to comply with regulatory requiremenfée consider securing adeqt
trademark rights to be important to our business.
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Regulatory Approval Process Regulation by governmental authorities in the UhiStates and other countries is a significant f
in the production and marketing of any biopharmécaliproduct that we may develop. The nature ddextent to which such regulati
may apply to us will vary depending on the natur@my such product. Virtually all of our potentislopharmaceutical products will reqt
regulatory approval by governmental agencies pidonongovernmental commercialization. In particular, hanmtherapeutic products
subject to rigorous prefinical and clinical testing and other approvabgedures by FDA and similar health authoritiesdareign countrie:
Various federal statutes and regulations also goweerinfluence the manufacturing, safety, labelisigrage, record keeping and marketin
such products. The process of obtaining these apfgraand the subsequent compliance with appropfederal and foreign statutes
regulations requires the expenditure of substargsdurces.

In order to test clinically, and to produce and kearproducts for diagnostic or therapeutic use,ommany must comply wi
mandatory procedures and safety standards estdlishFDA and comparable agencies in foreign casitBefore beginning human clini
testing of a potential new drug in the United S$tate company must file an IND application and reeeilearance from FDA. An IN
application is a summary of the pekrical studies that were conducted to charaatettze drug, including toxicity and safety stuc
information on the drug composition and the manufacturing and qualitytr@biprocedures used to produce the drug, as well discussion
the human clinical studies that are being proposed.

The pre-marketing clinical program required for imgyal by FDA for a new drug typically involves ané-consuming and costly three-
phase process. In Phase |, trials are conductddasimall number of healthy subjects to determtieectarly safety profile, the pattern of d
distribution, metabolism and elimination. In Phésérials are conducted with small groups of patseafflicted with a target disease in orde
determine preliminary efficacy, optimal dosages ampganded evidence of safety. In Phase lll, lagdes multicenter comparative tria
which may include both controlled and uncontroliddies, are conducted with patients afflicted vdtharget disease in order to proy
enough data for statistical proof of efficacy aafesy required by FDA and other authorities.

FDA closely monitors the progress of each of thedlphases of clinical testing and may, in itsr@isen, reevaluate, alter, suspen
terminate the testing based on the data that hars decumulated to that point and its assessmeaheafsk/benefit ratio to the patients invol
in the testing. Estimates of the total time tydicakquired for carrying out such clinical testingry between two and ten years. U
completion of such clinical testing, a company tgtly submits a NDA to FDA that summarizes the hssand observations of the drug du
the clinical testing. Based on its review of the NIFDA will decide whether to approve the drug. §heview process can be quite lengthy,
approval for the production and marketing of a qarmaceutical product can require a number ofsyaad substantial funding. There ca
no assurance that any approval will be granted timely basis, if at all.

FDA amended its regulations, effective June 30,22@0 include the “animal rulein circumstances that would permit the typ
clinical testing regime to approve certain new damgl biological products used to reduce or prevleattoxicity of chemical, biologic:
radiological, or nuclear agents not otherwise ralyipresent for use in humans based on evidensafety in healthy subjects and evidenc
effectiveness derived only from appropriate anistatlies and any additional supporting data. FDAihdEated that approval for therape!
use of Arestvyr will be determined under the “arlimge.”

Once the product is approved for sale, FDA regofatigovern the production process and marketingitées, and a postaarketing
testing and surveillance program may be requirethadaitor a product usage and effects. Product approvals may be raithdif complianc
with regulatory standards is not maintained. Matlyeo countries in which products developed by ugy rha marketed impose simi
regulatory processes.

FDA regulations also make available an alternatiggulatory mechanism that may lead to use of thmdymt under limite
circumstances. The Emergency Use Authorization @BUauthority allows the FDA Commissioner to strengthtes public health protectio
against biological, chemical, radiological and maclagents that may be used to attack the Amepieaple or the U.S. armed forces. Under
authority, the FDA Commissioner may allow medicalictermeasures to be used in an emergency to diagtreat or prevent serious or life:
threatening diseases or conditions caused by sgeht@awhen appropriate findings are made concerfiagnature of the emergency,
availability of adequate and approved alternativaas] the quality of available data concerning thegdcandidate under consideration
emergency use. We have provided data to FDA to@tgm EUA for Arestvyr in the event of a smallpatkack. In November 2012, the C
filed an IND application for use of Arestvyr in ergency situations until an EUA is in place. In Dexeer 2012, CDC received &dfe t
proceed” letter from FDA for this IND. In August 28, CDC filed a pre-EUA request for which FDA cuntlg holds an open file.




Table of Contents

Legislation and Regulation Related to BioterrorismCounteragents and Pandemic Preparednes®ecause some of our di
candidates are intended for the treatment of désetisat may result from acts of bioterrorism omi@dare or for pandemic preparedness,
may be subject to the specific legislation and k&tipn described below and elsewhere in this Aniegdort on Form 10-K.

Project BioShield. Project BioShield and related 2006 federal legistaprovide procedures for biodefensdated procurement a
awarding of research grants, making it easier fefSHo commit funds to countermeasure projects.detdBioShield provides alternat
procedures under the Federal Acquisition Regulatiba general rubric for acquisition of goods aedviges by the U.S. government,
procuring property or services used in performiagministering or supporting biomedical countermeaswsearch and development
addition, if the Secretary of HHS deems that thisra pressing need, Project BioShield authorizesShcretary to use an expedited a
process, rather than the normal peer review prodesgrants, contracts and cooperative agreenratased to biomedical countermeas
research and development activity.

Under Project BioShield, the Secretary of HHS, wilte concurrence of the Secretary of the DepartroEhtomeland Security al
upon the approval of the President, can contrapuitohase unapproved countermeasures for the @t&eckpile in specified circumstanc
Congress is notified of a recommendation for at8tria Stockpile purchase after Presidential apgrdveoject BioShield specifies tha
company supplying the countermeasure to the Sicattpckpile is paid on delivery of a substantiaktppn of the countermeasure. To
eligible for purchase under these provisions, ther&ary of HHS must determine that there are @afit and satisfactory clinical results
research data, including data, if available, fram-ginical and clinical trials, to support a reasoleatonclusion that the countermeasure
qualify for approval or licensing within eight ysarProject BioShield also allows the Secretary &fSHto authorize the emergency us
medical products that have not yet been approveeld. To exercise this authority, the SecretariibfS must conclude that:

» the agent for which the countermeasure is desigian cause serious or lifereatening diseas

» the product may reasonably be believed to be é@ffeat detecting, diagnosing, treating or prevegtine diseas

« the known and potential benefits of the productvaigh its known and potential risks; ¢

« there is no adequate alternative to a productishegpproved and availak

Although this provision permits the Secretary of $kb circumvent FDA approval (entirely, or in paidy marketing, its use in tt
manner would likely be limited to rare circumstasicEhe Secretary of HHS concluded that, prior tarawof the BARDA Contract in M
2011, ST-246, now also known as Arestvyr, will giyalvithin eight years for approval by FDA for thegreutic use against smallpox.

Public Readiness and Emergency Preparedness Adthe Public Readiness and Emergency PreparednessrAREP Act, provide
immunity for manufacturers from claims under statefederal law for “loss” arising out of the adnstration or use of acbverel
countermeasure.” However, injured persons may lsfitlg a suit for “willful misconduct’against the manufacturer under some circumste
“Covered countermeasures” include security courdéasures and “qualified pandemic or epidemic praduaicluding products intended
diagnose or treat pandemic or epidemic diseasayedisas treatments intended to address conditi@used by such products. For tr
immunities to apply, the Secretary of HHS must ésaudeclaration in cases of public health emergencigredible risk”of a future publi
health emergency. Since 2007, the Secretary of hik#$Sssued 8 declarations under the PREP Act teqirixom liability countermeasures t
are necessary to prepare the nation for potergiati@mics or epidemics, including a declaration etof®er 10, 2008 that provides immui
from tort liability as it relates to smallpox coentneasures.

Foreign Regulation. As noted above, in addition to regulations in theited States, we might be subject to a variety avéifyr
regulations governing clinical trials and commersies and distribution of our drug candidateseWr or not we obtain FDA approval fc
product, we may have to obtain approval of a prodhycthe comparable regulatory authorities of fgrecountries before we can comme
clinical trials or marketing of the product in tosountries. The actual time required to obtaimreace to market a product in a partic
foreign jurisdiction may vary substantially, basggbn the type, complexity and novelty of the phareutical drug candidate, the spec
requirements of that jurisdiction, and in some ¢des whether FDA has previously approved the dimgmarketing. The requiremel
governing the conduct of clinical trials, marketiagthorization, pricing and reimbursement vary froountry to country. Certain forei
jurisdictions, including the European Union, hawmpied biodefen-specific regulation akin to that available in theitdd States such a
procedure similar to the “animal rule” promulgatadFDA.
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Regulations Regarding Government ContractingThe status of an organization as a governmentactotr in the United States ¢
elsewhere means that the organization is also cutgjevarious statutes and regulations, includimg Eederal Acquisition Regulation, wh
governs the procurement of goods and services bycies of the United States. These governing ssamd regulations can impose str|
penalties than those normally applicable to comiakmontracts, such as criminal and civil damagaiility and suspension and debarn
from future government contracting. In additionyguant to various statutes and regulations, govemimwontracts can be subject to unilal
termination or modification by the government fangenience in the United States and elsewhereiletbtauditing requirements, statuto
controlled pricing, sourcing and subcontractingrieions and statutorily mandated processes fardichting contract disputes.

Availability of Reports and Other Information

We file annual, quarterly, and current reports xgretatements, and other documents with the Sézsiéind Exchange Commiss
(“SEC”) under the Securities Exchange Act of 198% (‘Exchange Act”)The public may read and copy any material thatilgesfith the SE(
at the SEGS Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Wgsthin D.C. 20549. The public may obtain informatemthe operation of tl
Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at (8BL-8330. Also, the SEC maintains an Internet websigd tontains reports, proxy &
information statements, and other information rday issuers, including us, that file electronigaliith the SEC. The public can obtain .
document that we file with or furnish to the SEGQvatw.sec.gov.

In addition, our Company website can be found anltiiernet at www.siga.com. The website contaifigrination about us and ¢
operations. Copies of each of our filings with 8 C on Form 10-K, Form 10-Q, and FornkK8and all amendments to those reports, c¢
viewed and downloaded free of charge as soon abmahly practicable after the reports and amendsmara electronically filed with
furnished to the SEC. To view the reports, accesa/wiga.com, click on “Investor Relations” and “&ircial Information.”

The following corporate governance related docusare also available on our website:

e Audit Committee Charte

» Compensation Committee Char

* Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee €h

» Code of Ethics and Business Cond

» Procedure for Sending Communications to the BoaRirectors

» Procedures for Security Holder Submission of NonimgaRecommendatior

« Policy on Confidentiality of Information and Sedies Trading; an
e Conflict of Interest Polic

To review these documents, access www.siga.contlakdon “Investor Relations” and “Corporate Govance.”

Any of the above documents can also be obtaineatiim by any shareholder upon request to the SmgreSIGA Technologies, Inc., 6
Madison Avenue, Suite 1700, New York, New York 1806
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Item 1A. Risk Factors

This report contains forward-looking statements atiter prospective information relating to futunesets. These forwartboking statemen
and other information are subject to risks and ttaggies that could cause our actual results tiedimaterially from our historical results

currently anticipated results including the follogi

Risks Related to Our Dependence on U.S. Governme@bntracts and Grants

We currently expect to derive substantially all otir foreseeable future revenue from sales of Argstunder the BARDA Contract i
addition to contracts and grants from various agees of the U.S. government. If BARDA demand for Ateyr is reduced, our busine:
financial condition and operating results could baaterially harmed.

Our BARDA Contract does not necessarily increase ltkelihood that we will secure future comparablentracts with the U..
government. The success of our business and ouatope results for the foreseeable future are sultistly dependent on the terms of
Arestvyr sales to the U.S. government, includiriggoper course, the number and size of doses auise and the timing of deliveries.

Furthermore, substantially all of our revenuestfer years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2&ddectively, were derived frc
contracts and grants other than the BARDA Contr@cir. current revenue is primarily derived from cant work being performed for N
under grants and one BARDA development contractduled to substantially conclude in February 200%ere can be no assurance tha
will recognize the revenue from the BARDA Contracthe time periods we anticipate or at all, ort thva will be able to secure future contri
or grants. Failure to recognize such revenue arrsesuch contracts or grants could have an adeffieset on our results of operations.

The pricing under our fixedprice government contracts and grants is based atineates of the time, resources and expenses reglic
perform these contracts and grants. If our estimgtare not accurate, we may not be able to earn dequate return or may incur a lo
under these arrangements.

Our existing contract with BARDA for Arestvyr indes fixedprice components. We expect that our future cotgraed grants wi
the U.S. government for Arestvyr as well as congrand grants for biodefense product candidatdswhasuccessfully develop also may
fixed-price arrangements. Under a fixgdee contract or grant, we are required to delivar products at a fixed price regardless of thea
costs we incur and to absorb any cost in excetisedixed price. Estimating costs that are relategerformance in accordance with contra
grant specifications is difficult, particularly wieethe period of performance is over several ygaus.failure to anticipate technical proble
estimate costs accurately or control costs durigopmance of a fixed-price contract or grant cordduce the profitability of a fixegrice
contract or grant or cause a loss, which couldiin harm our operating results.

Our U.S. government contracts and grants requiregming funding decisions by the government. Reducgdliscontinued funding of thes
contracts and grants could cause our financial cdtidn and operating results to suffer materially.

Our principal customer for Arestvyr at the presime is the U.S. government. We anticipate thatUtfe. government will also be 1
principal customer for any other biodefense prodiat we successfully develop. Over its lifetimé).&. government program, such as Pr
BioShield, may be implemented through the awarthahy different individual grants, contracts andcartiracts. The funding of governm
programs is subject to Congressional appropriatigeserally made on a fiscal year basis even th@ughogram may continue for sew
years. Our government customers are subject ttigadlconsiderations and stringent budgetary cairgs. Our government customers are
subject to uncertainties as to continued fundinghefr budgets. Additionally, governmefutnded development grants and contracts typi
consist of a base period of performance followedsbgcessive option periods for performance of geffisture activities. The value of t
services provided during such option periods, wiinh exercisable in the sole discretion of the gowent may constitute the majority of
total value of the underlying contract. If levelsgmvernment expenditures and authorizations fodéiense decrease or shift to progran
areas where we do not offer products or are natldping product candidates, our business, reveang®perating results may suffer.

Our future business may be harmed as a result of tiovernment contracting process, which can be apetitive bidding process that m
involve risks not present in the commercial conttaxy process.

We expect that a significant portion of the busintgsat we will seek in the near future will be ungevernment grants, contracts
subcontracts, which may be awarded through comaetiidding. Competitive bidding for government taicts and grants presents a nur
of risks that are not typically present in the coenoial contracting process, which may include:
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» the need to devote substantial time and attemtionanagement and key employees to the preparatibids and proposals for
contracts and grants that may not be awarded to us;

» the need to estimate the resources and cost geutttat will be required to perform any contractgoant that we might |
awarded,;

» the risk that the government will issue a requespfoposal to which we would not be eligible tespend

» the risk that third parties may submit protestsuio responses to requests for proposal that cegldltrin delays or withdrawals
those requests for proposal; and

» the expenses that we might incur and the delaysatbanight suffer if our competitors protest or Iidrage contract awards me
to us pursuant to competitive bidding, and the tigkt any such protest or challenge could resuthénresubmission of bids ba:
on modified specifications, or in termination, retian or modification of the awarded contract caryr

The U.S. government may chooseaward future contracts and grants for the supplgrofllpox antivirus and other biodefe

product candidates that we are developing to oopetitors instead of to us. If we are unable to particular contracts and grants, we may
be able to operate in the market for products dhatprovided under those contracts and grants hamaber of years. If we are unable to ok
new contracts and grants over an extended perioiflwe fail to anticipate all of the costs andaeasces that will be required to secure ¢
contracts and grants, our growth strategy and osinkss, financial condition, and operating reszdtsld be materially adversely affected.

The success of our business with the U.S. governméepends on our compliance with regulations andlightions under our U.S
government contracts and grants and various fedestdtutes and regulation:

Our business with the U.S. government is subjecsgecific procurement regulations and a varietyotifer legal compliant
obligations. These laws and rules include thoseedIto:

e procurement integrit

i export contro

e government security regulatio

» employment practice

» protection of the environme!

» accuracy of records and the recording of costs

» foreign corrupt practice

In addition, before awarding us any contract ongréhe U.S. government could require that we radpgatisfactorily to a request
substantiate our commercial viability and industc@pabilities. Compliance with these obligationsreases our performance and compli
costs. Failure to comply with these regulations @giirements could lead to suspension or debarrfentause, from government contrac
or subcontracting for a period of time. The terrimaof a government contract or grant or relatiopsas a result of our failure to satisfy an
these obligations would have a negative impactwnoperations and harm our reputation and abiditprocure other government contract
grants in the future.

Unfavorable provisions in government contracts agdants, some of which may be customary, may harnr future business, financie
condition and potential operating results.

Government contracts and grants customarily corgaivisions that give the government substantigits and remedies, many



which are not typically found in commercial contsadéncluding provisions that allow the governmemnt

* terminate existing contracts or grants, in wholéngart, for any reason or no reas
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« unilaterally reduce or modify grants, contractsabcontracts, including through the use of equitaiice adjustment

« cancel multivear contracts or grants and related orders if§dfodperformance for any subsequent year becoraeailable

» decline to exercise an option to renew a contragrant

e exercise an option to purchase only the minimumuarhepecified in a contract or gre

» decline to exercise an option to purchase the maxiramount specified in a contract or gr

» claim rights to products, including intellectuabperty, developed under a contract or g

» take actions that result in a longer developmentline than expecte

» direct the course of a development program in amm@anot chosen by the government contra

» suspend or debar the contractor from doing busiwéhsthe government or a specific government ags

* pursue criminal or civil remedies under the Falt®Er@s Act and False Statements Act;

» control or prohibit the export of produc

Generally, government contracts and grants comtaiwisions permitting unilateral termination or nifazhtion, in whole or in part,
the governmeng convenience. Under general principles of goveningentracting law, if the government terminatesoatract or grant fc
convenience, the terminated company may recoveritmincurred or committed costs, settlement espsrand profit on work completed p
to the termination.

If the government terminates a contract or grantffault, the defaulting company is entitled toaeer costs incurred and associ
profits on accepted items only and may be liableexcess costs incurred by the government in pioguindelivered items from anotl
source. Our government contracts and grants, imgutie BARDA Contract, could be terminated undese circumstances. Some governi
contracts and grants permit the government thet tighuse, for or on behalf of the U.S. governmemy technologies developed by
contractor under a government contract or gramtelfivere to develop technology under a contragrant with such a provision, we might
be able to prohibit third parties, including ourgaetitors, from using that technology in providimgpducts and services to the government.

Political or social factors, including related ligjation, may delay or impair ouiability to market Arestvyr and our biodefense prad
candidates and may require us to spend time and moto address these issues.

Products developed to treat diseases caused bycontbat the threat of bioterrorism or biowarfail e subject to changing politic
and social environments. The political and so@aponses to bioterrorism and biowarfare have begryihcharged and unpredictable. Polit
or social pressures or changes in the perceptitheofisk that military personnel or civilians cdule exposed to biological agents as wea
of bioterrorism or biowarfare may delay or caussstance to bringing our products to market ortlipnicing or purchases of our products,
of which would harm our business.

In addition, substantial delays or cancellationgpuofchases could result from protests or challetiges third parties. Furthermo
lawsuits brought against us by third parties suEladivists, even if not successful, require usgend time and money defending the rel
litigation. The need to address political and sdssues may divert our management’s time and @dtefrom other business concerns.

Additional lawsuits, publicity campaigns or othezgative publicity may adversely affect the degréenarket acceptance of, ¢
thereby limit the demand for, Arestvyr and our lafhse product candidates. In such event, outyatilmarket and sell such products ma
hindered and the commercial success of Arestvyrodimer products we develop will be harmed, therglolpcing our revenues.
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Risks Related to Product Development

Our business depends significantly on our succassompleting development and commercialization ofig candidates that are still und:
development. If we are unable to commercialize thelug candidates, or experience significant deldgsdoing so, our business will |
materially harmed.

We have invested a substantial majority of ourrdfand financial resources in the developmentuofdsug candidates. Our ability
generate near-term cafibws is particularly dependent on the success wf gmallpox antiviral drug candidate Arestvyr. Tb@mmercie
success of our drug candidates will depend on rfetgrs, including:

» successful development, formulation and cGMResga of drug manufacturing that meets FDA requirers

» successful development of animal moc

» successful completion of natinical development, including studies in approegimal model:

» our ability to pay the expense of filing, prosengtidefending and enforcing patent claims and attteHectual property right

» successful completion of clinical tri

e receipt of marketing approvals from FDA and simftaneign regulatory authoritie

« establishing commercial manufacturing processeaiobwn or arrangements on reasonable terms withratt manufacturer

» manufacturing stable commercial supplies of drutgd@iates, including availability of raw materii

» launching commercial sales of the product, whe#h@me or in collaboration with others; ¢

» acceptance of the product by potential governmestomers, physicians, patients, healthcare paywisothers in the medic
community.

We expect to rely on FDA regulations known as theithal rule”to obtain approval for certain of our biodefensegdcandidates. Tl
animal rule permits the use of animal efficacy Esadogether with human clinical safety trials tgpgort an application for marketing appro
These regulations are relatively new, and both ne the government have limited experience in thgliegtion of these rules to the di
candidates that we are developing. It is posshde tesults from these animal efficacy studies matybe predictive of the actual efficacy of
drug candidates in humans. If we are not successitbmpleting the development and commercializatbour drug candidates, whether
to our efforts or due to concerns raised by ouregomental regulators or customers, our businedsl d@uharmed.

We will not be able to commercialize our drug caddies if our preelinical development efforts are not successful,ralinical trials do not
demonstrate safety or our clinical trials or animatudies do not demonstrate efficacy.

Before obtaining regulatory approval for the sdl@ar drug candidates, we must conduct extensieelmical development, trials
demonstrate the safety of our drug candidates Anid¢al or animal trials to demonstrate the effigaaf our drug candidates. Peéinical anc
clinical testing is expensive, difficult to designd implement, can take many years to completésandcertain as to outcome. Success in
clinical testing and early clinical trials does moisure that later clinical trials or animal eftigestudies will be successful, and interim resof
a clinical trial or animal efficacy study do notcessarily predict final results.

A failure of one or more of our clinical trials animal efficacy studies can occur at any stagesifrtg. We may experience numel
unforeseen events during, or as a result of cpnécal testing and the clinical trial or animdfieacy study process that could delay or pre
our ability to receive regulatory approval or conmaiglize our drug candidates, including:

* regulators or institutional review boards may natharize us to commence a clinical trial or condactinical trial at a prospecti
trial site;

pr
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e we may decide, or regulators may require usptaluct additional prehnical testing or clinical trials, or we may alslm project
that we expect to be promising, if our pi@ical tests, clinical trials or animal efficasyudies produce negative or inconclu
results;

« we might have to suspend or terminate our clinticals if the participants are being exposed tocaeatable health risk

e regulators or institutional review boards maguiee that we hold, suspend or terminate cliniealedlopment for various reasons,
including noncompliance with regulatory requirensgnt

» the cost of our clinical trials could escalate &edome cost prohibitiv

e our governmental regulators may impose requirgmen clinical trials, prefinical trials or animal efficacy studies that w@nno
meet or that may prohibit or limit our ability tefform or complete the necessary testing in omebtain regulatory approval;

» any regulatory approval we ultimately obtain nieylimited or subject to restrictions or pagtproval commitments that render
product not commercially viable;

* we may not be successful in recruiting a sufficrumnber of qualifying subjects for our clinicalais; ant
» the effects of our drug candidates may not be #sireld effects or may include undesirable sideceffer the drug candidates n
have other unexpected characteristics.
We are in various stages of product development &mete can be no assurance of successful commeizdgion.

In general, our research and development prograenataan early stage of development. To obtain Flpproval for our biodefen
products, we will be required to obtain adequat®pof efficacy from at least one animal model @ndvide animal and human safety data.
other products will be subject to the usual FDAutatpry requirements, which include a number ofgalseof testing in humans.

FDA has not approved any of our biopharmaceuticapct candidates. Any drug candidate we develdp require significar
additional research and development efforts, irinlye@xtensive prelinical and clinical testing and regulatory appbwrior to commercii
sale. We cannot be sure our approach to drug disgawill be effective or will result in the succéglscommercialization of any drug. v
cannot predict with certainty whether any drug h&sy from our research and development effortd bl commercially available within t
next several years, or if they will be availablelht

Even if we receive initially positive preinical or clinical results, such results do natan that similar results will be obtained in |
stages of drug development, such as additionatlpmal testing or human clinical trials. All ofuo potential drug candidates are prone tc
risks of failure inherent in pharmaceutical proddetelopment, including the possibility that nofi®ar drug candidates will or can:

* be safe, nomexic and effective

» otherwise meet applicable regulatory stand:

* receive the necessary regulatory appro

» develop into commercially viable dru

* be manufactured or produced economically and @mngeIscal

»  be successfully markete

» be paid for by governmental procurers or be reirsbdiby governmental or private insurers;

e achieve customer acceptar
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In addition, third parties may preclude us from keding our drugs through enforcement of their pietary rights that we are r
aware of, or third parties may succeed in markegiqgivalent or superior drug products. Our failiwelevelop safe, commercially viable dr
would have a material adverse effect on our busijrfagancial condition and results of operations.

Risks Related to Commercialization

Our ability to grow our business depends signifithnhon our ability to achieve sales of Arestvyr tustomers other than the U.
government

An element of our business strategy is to sell Asggo customers other than the U.S. governmenésé potential customers incli
foreign governments and state and local governmast#/ell as noigovernmental organizations focused on global hdikhthe World Healt
Organization, health care institutions like hodpif@omestic and foreign) and certain large busireganizations interested in protecting 1
employees against global threats.

The market for sales of Arestvyr to customers otthe@n the U.S. government is undeveloped, and we moa be successful
generating meaningful sales of Arestvyr, if anythese potential customers.

Governmental regulations may make it difficult fos to achieve significant sales of Arestvyr to oustrs other than the U
government. For example, federal and foreign reguia usually require approval of the drug underggelly applicable food and drug laws
waivers of such approval before these customers pnagure the drug. Additionally, federal laws pla@ious restrictions on the expori
drugs that are not FDA-approved or that have p@tebtodefenseelated uses. These restrictions are subject tngehas global conditio
change. These restrictions and other regulationslrag sales could limit our sales of Arestvyr toeign governments and other fore
customers. In addition, U.S. government demandAfi@stvyr may limit supplies of Arestvyr availablerfsale to norJ.S. governmei
customers.

If we fail to increase our sales of Arestvyr to tomsers other than the U.S. government, our busiaedsopportunities for grow
could be materially limited.

Because we must obtain regulatory clearance or athise operate under strict legal requirements inder to test and market our products
the U.S., we cannot predict whether or when we Wil permitted to commercialize our products othiean through the BARDA Contract.

Except with respect to sales to BARDA undajé&ut BioShield, pharmaceutical products cannoegaty be marketed in the U.S. until ti
have has completed rigorous mil@ical testing and clinical trials and an extemsiregulatory clearance process implemented by
Pharmaceutical products typically take many yearsdtisfy regulatory requirements and require theenditure of substantial resour
depending on the type, complexity and novelty efgihoduct and its intended use.

Before commencing clinical trials in humans, we treibmit and receive clearance from FDA throughracgss begun by an IM
application. Institutional review boards and FDAemsee clinical trials. Such trials:

* must be conducted in conformance with FDA regufet

* must meet requirements for institutional reviewrdoaversight

* must meet requirements for informed cons

* must meet requirements for good clinical and magtufing practice:
e are subject to continuing FDA oversic

e may require large numbers of test subjects

 may be suspended by us or FDA at any time if ibaieved that the subjects participating in thegsst are being exposed
unacceptable health risks or if FDA finds deficiesan our IND application or the conduct of thésals.

Before receiving FDA clearance to market a prodiu¢che absence of a medical or public health enmergeve must demonstrate t
the product is safe and effective on the patiepupation that will be treated. Data we obtain frpre<linical and clinical activities and frc
animal models are susceptible to varying interpiaa that could delay, limit or prevent regulatory
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clearances. Additionally, we have limited experivt conducting and managing the pfigical and clinical trials and animal efficacydtes
and manufacturing processes necessary to obtaitategy clearance.

If full regulatory clearance of a product is grahtéhis clearance will be limited only to those ditions for which the product
demonstrated through clinical trials to be safe effidacious. We cannot ensure that any compounréldped by us, alone or with others,
prove to be safe and efficacious in piteical or clinical trials or animal efficacy stigd and will meet all of the applicable regula
requirements needed to receive full marketing elece.

The biopharmaceutical market in which we competedanill compete is highly competitive.

The biopharmaceutical industry is characterizedapyd and significant technological change. Ourcess will depend on our ability
develop and apply our technologies in the desigh development of our product candidates and tdbbsiaand maintain a market for «
product candidates. In addition, there are manypaoies, both public and private, including majoayphaceutical and chemical compar
specialized biotechnology firms, universities atideo research institutions engaged in developireymphceutical and biotechnology prodt
Many of these companies have substantially grdatancial, technical, research and developmenturess, and human resources that
Competitors may develop products or other techniefothat are more effective than any that are bdageloped by us or may obtain F
approval for products more rapidly than us. If wenmence commercial sales of products, we still ncostpete in the manufacturing
marketing of such products, areas in which we havexperience. Many of these companies also havelfaeturing facilities and establist
marketing capabilities that would enable such camgsato market competing products through existimannels of distribution.

Our potential products may not be acceptable in tinarket or eligible for thirdparty reimbursement resulting in a negative impawt out
future financial results.

Any product we develop may not achieve market aecee. The degree of market acceptance of anyrgbroducts will depend or
number of factors, including:

» the establishment and demonstration in the medaaimunity of the efficacy and safety of such pras|

» the potential advantage of such products overiagistpproaches to combating the problem intenddx taddresse
» the cost of our products relative to their percdilsenefits; an

e payment or reimbursement policies of governnagmt thirdparty payors

Physicians, patients or the medical community inegal may not accept or utilize any product we meyelop. Our ability to gener:
revenues and income with respect to drugs, if deyeloped through the use of our technology wipletel, in part, upon the extent to wt
payment or reimbursement for the cost of such dwmifisbe available from thirgparty payors, such as governmental suppliers lIRRBA,
CDC or DoD, governmental health administration atitles, private healthcare insurers, health ma@tee organizations, pharmacy ben
management companies and other organizations.-phity payors are increasingly disputing the pridegrged for pharmaceutical product:
third-party payment or reimbursement was not availablsuficient to allow profitable price levels to beaintained for drugs we develor.
could adversely affect our business.

Product liability lawsuits could cause us to incsubstantial liabilities and require us to limit comercialization of any products that we m
develop.

We face an inherent business risk related to tleeafaArestvyr and any other products that we sssftdly develop and the testing
our product candidates in clinical trials.

Arestvyr is currently identified as a covered caunteasure under a PREP Act declaration issued tob@c2008, which provides
with substantial immunity with respect to the maratéire, administration or use of Arestvyr. Under BARDA Contract, the U.S. governmi
should indemnify us against claims by third parties death, personal injury and other damagesaélad Arestvyr, including reasona
litigation and settlement costs, to the extent thatclaim or loss results from specified risks cmtered by insurance or caused by our gr
negligent or criminal behavior. The collection pres can be lengthy and complicated, and there guamntee that we will be able to recc
these amounts from the U.S. government.

If we cannot successfully defend ourselves agdiriate claims that our product or product candidataused injuries and we are
entitled to or able to obtain indemnity by the UgBvernment with respect to such claims, or ifth8. government
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does not honor its indemnification obligations, may incur substantial liabilities. Regardless ofritner eventual outcome, product liabil
claims may result in:

» decreased demand for any product candidate or prdigat we may develc

e injury to our reputatiol

« withdrawal of a product from the mark

« withdrawal of clinical trial participant

e costs to defend the related litigati

» substantial monetary awards to trial participamtpatients

* loss of revenue; al

» the inability to commercialize any products thatmway develof

We currently have product liability insurance witbverage up to a $10 million annual aggregate lemil up to $10 million p
occurrence. The amount of insurance that we cuyrdrdld may not be adequate to cover all liabifitihat may occur. Product liabil
insurance is difficult to obtain and increasingipensive. We may not be able to maintain insuraoserage at a reasonable cost and we

not be able to maintain or obtain insurance cowethgt will be adequate to satisfy any liabilitatimay arise.

Additionally, a successful product liability claior series of claims brought against us could cawsestock price to fall and cot
decrease our financial resources and materiallyaandrsely affect our business.

We may be required to perform additional clinicaldls or change the labeling of our products if war others identify side effects after o
products are on the market, which could harm sat#fghe affected products

If we or others identify side effects after anyoof products are on the market, or if manufactuprablems occur:

* regulatory approval may be withdra:

» reformulation of our products, additional clini¢gals or other testing or changes in labeling wf products may be requirt

» changes to or rapprovals of our manufacturing facilities may bquieed

» sales of the affected products may drop signifigs

* our reputation in the marketplace may suffer;

e lawsuits, including class action suits, may be gtdwagainst u

Any of the above occurrences could harm or prewates of the affected products or could increasectbsts and expenses
commercializing and marketing these products.

Healthcare reform and controls on healthcare spendimay limit the price we charge for our productaéthe amounts that we can se

There have been a number of legislative and remgylairoposals in the United States to change tladttheare system in ways t
could affect our ability to sell our products ptafily. One enacted proposal, the Patient ProteetimhAffordable Care Act, as amended by
Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of @@dollectively, the “Healthcare Reform Act§ubstantially changes the way healthca
financed by both governmental and private insuaerd will have a substantial effect on the pharmtécaluindustry. The Healthcare Refc
Act contains a number of provisions, including gagoverning enrollment in federal healthcare progrdike Medicare, reimbursem:
changes and rules protecting against fraud andeakhest will change
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existing healthcare programs and will result in deselopment of new programs, including Medicargnpent for performance initiatives &
improvements to the physician quality reportingteys and feedback program. We anticipate that, ifolvein marketing approval for ¢
products, some of our revenue may be derived froreimmmental healthcare programs, including MedicEtgthermore, beginning in 20:
the Healthcare Reform Act imposed a non-deductllgse tax on pharmaceutical manufacturers or itepowho sell branded prescriptic
drugs,” which includes innovator drugs and biologics (edobg orphan drugs or generics) to U.S. governmeagnams. The Healthce
Reform Act and other healthcare reform measuresntiag be adopted in the future could have an adveffect on our industry generally ¢
potential future sales and profitability of our guzts specifically.

In addition to the Healthcare Reform Act, we expet there will continue to be proposals by legisis at both the federal and s
levels, regulators, and thigghrty payors to keep healthcare costs down whipaeding individual healthcare benefits. Certainhefse chang
could impose limitations on the prices we will i@eato charge for any product that is approvecheramounts of reimbursement available
these products from governmental agencies or dtiiet-party payors or may increase the taxes imposedf@isdiences companies suct
ours. While it is too early to predict what effébe Healthcare Reform Act or any future legislat@rregulation will have on us, such Iz
could have an adverse effect on our business,diabtondition and results of operations.

Laws and regulations governing international operahs may preclude us from developing, manufacturirmgnd selling certain produt
candidates outside of the United States and requiseto develop and implement costly compliance paogs.

As we expand our operations outside of the UnitdtieS, we must comply with numerous laws and réiguis relating to our busine
operations in each jurisdiction in which we plandjerate. The creation and implementation of irggomal business practices complia
programs is costly and such programs are diffimuéinforce, particularly where reliance on thirdtigs is required.

The Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, or FCPA, prdkibiny U.S. individual or business from payingedffg, or authorizing payment
offering of anything of value, directly or indirégtto any foreign official, political party or cdidate for the purpose of influencing any ac
decision of the foreign entity in order to assis tndividual or business in obtaining or retainmgsiness. The FCPA also obligates compi
whose securities are listed in the United Statesotoply with certain accounting provisions requirithe company to maintain books
records that accurately and fairly reflect all sactions of the corporation, including internatiosigbsidiaries, and to devise and maintai
adequate system of internal accounting controlsnt@rnational operations. The abtibery provisions of the FCPA are enforced prityaby
the U.S. Department of Justice. The SEC is involvéd enforcement of the books and records prowusiof the FCPA.

Compliance with the FCPA is expensive and difficplrticularly in countries in which corruptionagecognized problem. In additi
the FCPA presents particular challenges in therphaeeutical industry, because, in many countriespitals are operated by the governn
and doctors and other hospital employees are cemesidoreign officials. Certain payments to hogpita connection with clinical studies ¢
other work have been deemed to be improper paymentmvernment officials and have led to FCPA ecdament actions. In additic
biodefense companies like SIGA often sell theidpicis directly to foreign governments.

Various laws, regulations and executive orders adstrict the use and dissemination outside ofithizked States, or the sharing v
certain nond.S. nationals, of information classified for naté security purposes, as well as certain prodarmdstechnical data relating to th
products. Our expanding presence outside of theedi8tates will require us to dedicate additioraburces to compliance with these laws,
these laws may preclude us from developing, matwfag, or selling certain products and productdidates outside of the United Sta
which could limit our growth potential and increase development costs.

The failure to comply with laws governing intermatal business practices may result in substangiahlpies, including suspensior
debarment from government contracting. Violatiorthef FCPA can result in significant civil and crival penalties. Indictment alone under
FCPA can lead to suspension of the right to dormss with the U.S. government until the pendingndaare resolved. Conviction o
violation of the FCPA can result in longrm disqualification as a government contractdre Termination of a government contrac
relationship as a result of our failure to satisfyy of our obligations under laws governing intéioveal business practices would hay
negative impact on our operations and harm ourtatipm and ability to procure government contradise SEC also may suspend or
issuers from trading securities on United Stateharges for violations of the FCPA'’s accountingvsions.

Other countries have laws similar to the FCPA whitdy be applicable to our operations.
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If we are unable to expand our internal sales andarketing capabilities or enter into agreements withird parties, we may be unable
generate cash flows from product sales to custonateer than the U.S. governmer

To achieve commercial success for any approvedustodie may need to enhance our own sales and tiraylaapabilities, enter in
collaborations with third parties able to perfotmge services or outsource these functions to plairties.

We currently market and sell Arestvyr through a ntargeted sales and marketing group. We plaootttinue to do so and exp
that we will use a similar approach for sales ® thS. government of any other biodefense prodamtlicates that we successfully develo
we are unable to do this, we may be unable to ekpansales of Arestvyr, which could have an adveféect on our growth.

Risks Related to Manufacturing and Manufacturing Facilities

Problems related to lar¢-scale commercial manufacturing could cause us @aly product launches or experience shortages ajgarcts.

Manufacturing drug products, especially in largamfities, is complex. Our drug candidates requéneegal manufacturing steps, i
may involve complex techniques to assure quality sufficient quantity, especially as the manufaotyscale increases. Our products mu:
made consistently and in compliance with a cleddfined manufacturing process. Accordingly, itgsential to be able to validate and coi
the manufacturing process to assure that it isothmible. Slight deviations anywhere in the manufidcg process, including obtaini
materials, filling, labeling, packaging, storaghipping, quality control and testing, some of whalh pharmaceutical companies, incluc
SIGA, experience from time to time, may resultan failures, delay in the release of lots, prodectalls or spoilage. Success rates can
dramatically at different stages of the manufacmiprocess, which can lower yields and increaséscigée may experience deviations in
manufacturing process that may take significanetand resources to resolve and, if unresolved, affagt manufacturing output and/or ca
us to fail to satisfy customer orders or contracteanmitments, lead to delays in our clinical siak result in litigation or regulatory action.

If third parties do not manufacture our drug candates or products in sufficient quantities and at aceptable cost or in compliance w
regulatory requirements and specifications, the é®pment and commercialization of our drug candi@éat could be delayed, preventec
impaired.

We currently rely on third parties to manufacturagicandidates that we require for pifgrical and clinical development, includi
Arestvyr. Any significant delay in obtaining adetpiasupplies of our drug candidates could adversédfgct our ability to develop
commercialize these drug candidates. We expectvibawill rely on third parties for a portion of teanufacturing process for commer
supplies of drug candidates that we successfuljelde. If our contract manufacturers are unabledaleup production to generate enol
materials for commercial launch, the success cdehmoducts may be jeopardized. Our current aridipaited future dependence upon ot
for the manufacture of our drug candidates may e affect our ability to develop drug candidatesl commercialize any product t
receives regulatory approval on a timely and coitipetbasis.

We currently rely on third parties to demonstraggulatory compliance and for quality assurance wéspect to the drug candide
manufactured for us. We intend to continue to miythese third parties for these purposes withe@sje production of commercial supplie:
drugs that we successfully develop. Manufactureessabject to ongoing, periodic, unannounced inspedy FDA and corresponding st
and foreign agencies or their designees to enstice ompliance with applicable regulations.

We cannot be certain that our present or futureuf@aturers will be able to comply with these regjolas and other FDA regulatc
requirements or similar regulatory requirementssiolét the U.S. While our contracts and grants aall dompliance with all applicak
regulatory requirements, we do not control comméhy these manufacturers with these regulatiodsstandards. If we or these third pal
fail to comply with applicable regulations, sanasocould be imposed on us, which could signifigaatid adversely affect supplies of our ¢
candidates.

Our activities may involve hazardous materials, usfevhich may subject us to environmental regulagdiabilities.

Our biopharmaceutical research and developmenttsoe®involves the use of hazardous and radioaatiaterials and generation
biological waste. We are subject to federal, staig local laws and regulations governing the useufacture, storage, handling and disg
of these materials and certain waste products.ofith we believe that our safety procedures for lamand disposing of these mater
comply with legally prescribed standards, the aélccidental contamination or injury from thesetenials cannot be completely eliminatec
the event of an accident, we could be held liabtedmages, and this liability could exceed ououeses. We use, for example, small amc
of radioactive isotopes commonly used in pharmacaiut
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research, which are stored, used and disposed addardance with Nuclear Regulatory Commission legguns. Our general liability polic
provides coverage up to annual aggregate limi&2ahillion and coverage of $2 million per occurrenc

We believe that we are in compliance in all mategapects with applicable environmental laws aggltations and currently do |
expect to make material additional capital expemdg for environmental control facilities in theangerm. However, we may have to in
significant costs to comply with current or futeevironmental laws and regulations.

Risks Related to Sales of Biodefense Products toeth).S. Government

Our business could be adversely affected by a niegatudit by the U.S. government.

U.S. government agencies such as the Defense CoWtualit Agency (the “DCAA”),routinely audit and investigate governn
contractors. These agencies review a contraciperformance under its contracts and grants, stostture, and compliance with applice
laws, regulations and standards.

The DCAA also reviews the adequacy of, and a cotdra compliance with, its internal control systems @aoticies, including th
contractors purchasing, property, estimating, compensatichraanagement information systems. Any cost fourtsetanproperly allocated
a specific contract will not be reimbursed, whilecls costs already reimbursed must be refundedn l&wait uncovers improper or ille
activities, we may be subject to civil and crimipahalties and administrative sanctions, including:

* termination of contract

» forfeiture of profits

e suspension of paymer

+ fines; ani

» suspension or prohibition from doing business whih U.S. governmel
Laws and regulations affecting government contraetsd grants might make it more costly and difficdtir us to conduct our busines

We must comply with numerous laws and regulatiogisting to the formation, administration and perfance of governme
contracts and grants, which can make it more difffifor us to retain our rights under these contrathese laws and regulations affect hov
do business with federal, state and local govertahe@gencies. Among the most significant governneemtracting regulations that affect
business are:

» the Federal Acquisition Regulation and othemagespecific regulations supplemental to the Fddsequisition Regulation,
which comprehensively regulate the procuremeniétion, administration and performance of governngentracts;

» the business ethics and public integrity oblmya, which govern conflicts of interest and therg of former government

employees, restrict the granting of gratuities amdling of lobbying activities and incorporate athequirements such as the Anti-

Kickback Act and Foreign Corrupt Practices Act;

e export and import control laws and regulations;

» laws, regulations and executive orders restricthe use and dissemination of information clésgifor national security purposes
and the exportation of certain products and tectimiata.
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Risks Related to Regulatory Approvals

If we are not able to obtain required regulatory ppovals, we will not be able to commercialize ouud candidates in the United Stat
other than through sales to BARDA, and our ability generate revenue will be materially impaired.

Our drug candidates and the activities associai#d their development and commercialization, inaghgdtheir testing, manufactu
safety, efficacy, recordkeeping, labeling, storagmroval, advertising, promotion, sale and distiin, are subject to comprehensive regul:
by FDA and other regulatory agencies in the Uniftdtes and by comparable authorities in other cmstFailure to obtain regulatc
approval for a drug candidate will prevent us froommercializing the drug candidate in the Uniteat&t other than through sales to BAF
under Project BioShield. We have limited experieimcpreparing, filing and prosecuting the applioa necessary to gain regulatory apprc
and expect to rely on thirdarty contract research organizations and congsltarassist us in this process. Securing FDA agpn@quires th
submission to FDA of extensive pcénical and clinical data and, potentially, aninedficacy studies, information about product mactifanc
processes and inspection of facilities and suppgrinformation in order to establish the drug cdatiés safety and efficacy. Our futt
products may not be effective, may be only modéra#ective, or may prove to have significant s&féects, toxicities, or other characteris
that may preclude our obtaining regulatory appravgrevent or limit commercial use.

Failure to obtain regulatory approval in internatieal jurisdictions could prevent us from marketinguo products abroad.

We intend to have our products marketed outsideUthiged States. To market our products in the EeaopUnion and many ott
foreign jurisdictions, we may need to obtain sefgaragulatory approvals and comply with numerouws earying regulatory requirements. -
approval procedure varies among countries androanivie additional testing. The time required toadbiapproval may differ from that requil
to obtain FDA approval.

The foreign regulatory approval process may inclatleof the risks associated with obtaining FDA apal. We may not obta
foreign regulatory approvals on a timely basistiéll. Approval by FDA does not ensure approvatdmyulatory authorities in other countrie:
jurisdictions, and approval by one foreign regutgtauthority does not ensure approval by regulatarthorities in other foreign countries
jurisdictions or by FDA. We and our potential fugwrollaborators may not be able to file for regapiapprovals and may not receive neces
approvals to commercialize our products in any reark

The Fast Track designation for Arestvyr may not aatly lead to a faster development or regulatoryiew or approval process.

We have obtained a “Fast Trac#i®signation from FDA for Arestvyr. However, we magt experience a faster development pro
review or approval compared to conventional FDAcpdures. FDA may withdraw our Fast Track desigmaifidt believes that the designat
is no longer supported by data from our clinicatelepment program. Our Fast Track designation dioeguarantee that we will qualify for
be able to take advantage of F3AExpedited review procedures or that any apptingtiat we may submit to FDA for regulatory appiovil
be accepted for filing or ultimately approved.

Risks Related to Our Dependence on Third Parties

If third parties on whom we rely for clinical triad or certain animal trials do not perform as conttually required or as we expect, we n
not be able to obtain regulatory approval for orromnercialize our drug candidates and our businessynsaffer.

We do not have the ability independently to condhetclinical trials, and certain animal trialsquéed to obtain regulatory appro
for our products. We depend on independent invaistig, contract research organizations and othet-plarty service providers to cond
trials of our drug candidates and expect to comtitudo so. We rely heavily on these third pafii@successful execution of our trials, bu
not exercise day-tday control over their activities. We are respolesfbr ensuring that each of our trials is condddteaccordance with tl
general investigational plan and protocols for ttiel. Moreover, FDA requires us to comply with mdards, commonly referred to as G
Clinical Practices, for conducting and recording agporting the results of clinical trials to asstiat data and reported results are credibl
accurate and that the rights, integrity and comfiddity of trial participants are protected. Siarlly, animal trials may have to comply w
Good Laboratory Practices.

We also currently rely on thirdarty manufacturers and service providers to preduestvyr. Under the BARDA Contract, we
responsible for the performance of these thirdypeontracts, and our contracts with these thirdigsugive us certaisupervisory and quali
control rights, but we do not exercise complete-tdaglay control over their activities.

Our reliance on third parties that we do nmttool does not relieve us of the responsibilitesl requirements imposed by the BAR
Contract. Third parties may not complete activitesschedule, or may not conduct our trials in etaoce with
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regulatory requirements or our stated protocolse Tdilure of these third parties to carry out thefligations could delay or prevent
development, approval and commercialization ofdrug candidates.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

Our ability to compete may decrease if we do noé@ubtely protect our intellectual property rights.

Our commercial success will depend in part on daility to obtain and maintain patent protection faur proprietary technologie
drug targets and potential products and to presauvérade secrets and trademark rights. Becaueeafubstantial length of time and exp
associated with bringing potential products througke development and regulatory clearance processagach the marketplace,
pharmaceutical industry places considerable impogaon obtaining patent and trade secret proteciiba patent positions of pharmaceut
and biotechnology companies can be highly unceraith involve complex legal and factual questions. dénsistent policy regarding
breadth of claims allowed in biotechnology patdrds emerged to date. Accordingly, we cannot predétype and breadth of claims alloy
in these patents.

As of December 31, 2013, we exclusively own 21 W&tents, 2 U.S. provisional patent applications, LS. utility pater
applications, 3 international PCT patent applicgagi@and 92 foreign patent applications. We includesbmmary of our patent position a:
December 31, 2013 in Part I, Item 1 of this AnrRaport on Form 10-K.

We also rely on trade secrets, knbaw, continuing technological innovation and lidagsopportunities. In an effort to maintain
confidentiality and ownership of trade secrets prabrietary information, we require our employeesnsultants and some collaborator
execute confidentiality and invention assignmemeaments upon commencement of a relationship vgitiThese agreements may not pro
meaningful protection for our trade secrets, caniithl information or inventions in the event ofauthorized use or disclosure of s
information, and adequate remedies may not exigtarevent of such unauthorized use or disclosure.

If our technologies are alleged or found to infrirggthe patents or proprietary rights of others, waynbe sued, we may have to pay dam.
or be barred from pursuing a technology, or we miagve to license those rights to or from others onfavorable terms. Even if we preve
such litigation may be costly

Our commercial success will depend significantlyoom ability to operate without infringing the pate or proprietary rights of thi
parties. Our technologies, or the technologiehiéitparties on which we may depend, may infrintge patents or proprietary rights of oth
If there is an adverse outcome in any dispute awoiireg rights to these technologies, then we coeldibject to significant liability, required
license disputed rights from or to other partied/anrequired to cease using a technology necessamgrry out our research, development
commercialization activities.

The costs to establish or defend against claimsfohgement or interference with patents or otheprietary rights can be expens
and timeeonsuming, even if the outcome is favorable. Arconte of any patent or proprietary rights admintateaproceeding or litigation th
is unfavorable to us may have a material adverfgetebn us. We could incur substantial costs ifaxe required to defend ourselves in ¢
brought by third parties or if we initiate suchtsuWe may not have sufficient funds or resourngbé event of litigation. Additionally, we m
not prevail in any such action.

Any dispute resulting from claims based on patents proprietary rights could result in a significa@duction in the coverage of
patents or proprietary rights owned, optioned byjicamsed to us and limit our ability to obtain masyful protection for our rights. If patel
are issued to third parties that contain competitir conflicting claims, we may be legally prohduitfrom researching, developing
commercializing potential products or be requirealbtain licenses to these patents or to develabtain alternative technology. We may
legally prohibited from using technology owned liigrs, may not be able to obtain any license tg#ients or technologies of third partie:
acceptable terms, if at all, or may not be ableht@in or develop alternative technologies.

In December 2006, PharmAthene, Inc. (“PharmAthefi&gyd an action against us in the Delaware Coti€loancery (the “Courtor
“Court of Chancery”) captioned PharmAthene, IncSVIGA Technologies, Inc., C.A. No. 262¥-In its amended complaint, PharmAth
asked the Court to order us to enter into a licempeement with PharmAthene with respect t028%; also known as Arestvyr, to declare
we are obliged to execute such a license agreemedtto award damages resulting from our suppossaith of that obligation. PharmAthe
also alleges that we breached an obligation totiegosuch a license agreement in good faith, andlst damages for promissory estoppel
unjust enrichment based on supposed informatiopitataand assistance that PharmAthene allegedyiged to us during the negotiat
process. The Court tried the case in January 2011.
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In September 2011, the Court of Chancery issuedhdtst-trial opinion. The Court denied PharmAthenetquests for speci
performance and expectation damages measured gnprealue of estimated future profits. Nevertheléise Court held that we breached
duty to negotiate in good faith and were liable @mithe doctrine of promissory estoppel. The Coonsequently awarded to PharmAthene
the Court described as an equitable payment stoeagquitable lien consisting of fifty percent okthet profits that we achieve from sale
ST-246 after we secure $40 million in net profits, fen years following the first commercial salealidition, the Court awarded PharmAth
one-third of its reasonable attorneys’ fees ancexpitness expenses.

In May 2012, the Court entered its final order ardhment in this matter, implementing its pas# opinion. Among other things, t
final order and judgment provided that (a) net fsofvould be calculated in accordance with gengradicepted accounting principles app
consistently with how they are applied in the prafian of our financial statements, (b) the netfipgccalculation would take into accol
expenses relating to ST-246 commencing with ouuisitpn of ST246 in August 2004, and (c) PharmAthene could rec®2.4 million o
attorneys’ fees and expenses. As of December 313 ,2BIGA has recorded a $2.6 million loss contingewii respect to the fee, expense
interest portion of the judgment.

In June 2012, we appealed to the Supreme Couhieobtate of Delaware the final order and judgmadtaertain earlier rulings of t
Court of Chancery. Shortly thereafter, PharmAthiled its crossappeal. We obtained a stay of enforcement of theafel expense portion
the judgment by filing a surety bond for the amoahthe judgment plus pogtdgment interest. We posted $1.3 million as celialt for the
surety bond which is recorded in other assets &@eokmber 31, 2013The parties briefed the issues and argued bétier®elaware Suprer
Court,en banc, on January 10, 2013.

On May 24, 2013, the Supreme Court of Delawareedsts decision, affirming the Delaware Court ofa@berys judgment in pai
reversing it in part, and remanding to Vice ChaloceParsons. The Supreme Court affirmed the ChgnGaurt determination that t
Company had breached its contractual obligationetgotiate in good faith; reversed the promissotgmgsel holding; and, reversed the \
Chancellors equitable damages award. The Supreme Court haldthe trial judge may award expectation damagesbfeach of th
contractual duty to negotiate in good faith if sutdmages are proven with reasonable certainty,raménded to the Chancery Court
consideration of damages consistent with that hgldThe Supreme Court also reversed the Chancamt’€award of attorney fees and ex
witness fees because they were predicated in pag now-reversed finding of liability on PharmAtieén promissory estoppel claim. 1
Supreme Court held that the Chancery Court cowdglal@ate on remand an alternative award, if anygtmirneys’fees and expert testimc
expenses consistent with the Supreme Court’s apifiimally, the Supreme Court declined to consiadeclaims raised in PharmAthesecros
appeal because it affirmed the Chancery Celiniding that the Company was liable for breachisgontractual obligation to negotiate in g
faith. On June 11, 2013, the Supreme Court issisadandate to the Court of Chancery with the degidsiescribed above.

On June 26, 2013, the parties appeared beforeGhiemcellor Parsons to discuss the remand, at wineghPharmAthene declared
desire to supplement the record with further evigerFollowing briefing and argument on August 1812, the Chancery Court gran
PharmAthene’s motion to supplement the record dsal @lowed the Company to submit responsive evide®n December 189, 2013, th
Court held an evidentiary hearing with respecthiat evidence. On January 15, 2014, after briefingebevant issues, the parties appeare
oral argument regarding what if any remedy the €aanCourt should impose in light of the remandtsy Supreme Court of Delaware.

No assurances can be given as to the Chancery' €datérminations on remand.
In addition, like many biopharmaceutical companigs,may from time to time hire scientific personf@merly employed by oth
companies involved in one or more areas simildhéoactivities conducted by us. It is possible thiatand/or these individuals may be sut

to allegations of trade secret misappropriationtber similar claims as a result of their prioril&fions.

Risks Related to Our Financial Position and Need foAdditional Financing

We have incurred operating losses since our inceptand expect to incur net losses for the foresdedhture.

We incurred net operating losses of approximat@y.5% million and $22.5 million for the years end2dcember 31, 2013 and 20
respectively. As of December 31, 2013, 2012 andL200rr accumulated deficit was approximately $156ilion, $139.4 million and $125
million, respectively. We expect to continue to éaignificant operating expenses and will needetoegate significant revenues to achieve
maintain profitability.

Our ability to fund operations is substantially degent on cash flows from delivery of Arestvyrwié do not achieve positive ci
flows, we cannot guarantee that we can sustainlveirgce our current level of operations. We exgwtd¢ash flows
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will fluctuate significantly and could be delayedbrh one quarter to another based on several fadfocash flows grow slower than 1
anticipate, or if operating expenses or expensadltieg from the postrial ruling in the litigation commenced by Pharrh&he exceed o
expectations or cannot be adjusted accordingly, tug business, results of operations, financiad@@n and cash flows will be materially &
adversely affected. Because our strategy may iecthé acquisition of other businesses, acquisitiod integration expenses and any
required to fund these acquisitions will reduce aailable cash.

Future acquisitions, strategic investments, partsbeips or alliances could be difficult to identifynal integrate, divert the attention
management, disrupt our business, dilute stockhaldalue and adversely affect our operating resudtisd financial condition.

We may in the future seek to acquire or investusitess, products or technologies that we belieuddccomplement or expand «
services, enhance our technical capabilities cgretise offer growth opportunities. The pursuit otgntial acquisitions may divert the atten
of management and cause us to incur various expenddentifying, investigating and pursuing busises, we may not be able to intec
successfully the acquired personnel, operationstecithologies, or effectively manage the combinesiriess following the acquisitions. '
may not be able to find an identify desirable asijion targets or be successful in entering intoagreement with any particulate tar
Acquisitions could also result in dilutive issuasicd# equity securities or the issuance of debtctvicbuld adversely affect our operating res
In addition, if an acquired business fails to nmatexpectations, our operating results, busineddiaancial condition may suffer.

We may need additional funding, which may not beadable to us, and which may force us to delay, ueé or eliminate any of our produ
development programs or commercialization efforts.

While we have raised substantial funds throughitfedilities and the issuance of new equity or #xercise of options or warrants
the past, there is no guarantee that we will comtito be successful in raising such funds. If veetarable to raise additional funds, we coul
forced to discontinue, cease or limit certain opens. Our cash flows may fall short of our projens or be delayed, or our expenses
increase, which could result in our capital beiegsumed significantly faster than anticipated. @unual operating needs vary from yee
year depending upon the amount of cash generatedgih the BARDA Contract, contracts, grants, li@nsthe amount of projects
undertake, and the amount of resources we expetwhimection with acquisitions, all of which may evélly differ from year to year and m
adversely affect our business.

We may require additional financing and we may b@table to raise additional funds. If we are ablelitain additional financir
through the sale of equity or convertible debt siéies, such sales may contain terms, such asdédion and other preferences that are
favorable to us or our stockholders. If we raisditohal funds through collaboration and licensargangements with third parties, it may
necessary to relinquish valuable rights to our ie@bgies or product candidates or grant licenseons that may not be favorable to us. |
financing arrangements, if available, may requsdaipledge certain assets or enter into coverthatavould restrict our business activitie:
our ability to incur further indebtedness and mayabinterest rates and contain other terms tleatatr favorable to our shareholders.

Outstanding indebtedness may make it more difficidtobtain additional financing or reduce our flekility to act in our best interests.

In December 2012, the Company entered into a Ilgaeeanent with a lender to provide the Companyra teen of $5.0 million with
fixed interest rate of 9.85% per annum and a remghine of credit of $7.0 million with a variablaterest rate. As of December 31, 2013
million of the term loan was outstanding. We ardigatted to repay our outstanding balance by Decermib@015. We also are obligatec
make monthly interest payments on the outstandiimgipal amount in addition to monthly principalymaents. We may issue additional ¢
or incur other types of indebtedness in the futstghject to compliance with the terms of our currean agreement. The level of
indebtedness could affect us by: making it moréadift to obtain additional financing for workingapital, capital expenditures, debt ser
requirements or other purposes; shortening thetidaraf available revolving credit because lendeay seek to avoid conflicting matui
dates; constraining our ability to react quicklyaim unfavorable economic climate or to changeambaisiness or the pharmaceutical indu
or potentially requiring the dedication of substairhmounts to service the repayment of outstandety, including periodic interest payme
thereby reducing the amount of cash available thempurposes. In addition, our loan agreementatositcustomary covenants which cc
impact our ability to obtain additional financingdarestrict our flexibility in carrying out our bingss strategy.

The term loan and revolving facility under our loagreement are secured by a first priority lienadinof our existing and aft
acquired property, other than certain excludedtasaenong which are: (i) the final drug product @nthe brand names Arestvyr or 346, (ii)
the final drug product whose active ingredient tias United States Adopted Name (“USANdgsignation tecovirimat, (iii) any final dr
product chemically derived from the active ingredithat has the USAN designation tecovirimat, éxy other orthopox related small mole«
therapeutic product derived from the same familtriof/clononenes from which
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Arestvyr was derived, and (v) intellectual propediated to the foregoing items (i) through (if)jwie default on our obligations under our |
agreement, our lender could foreclose on our a¢sttsr than the excluded assets).

Risks Related to Our Common Stock

Our stock price is, and we expect it to remain,atile, which could limit investors’ ability to seBtock at a profit.

The volatile price of our stock makes it difficéittr investors to predict the value of their investits, to sell shares at a profit at
given time, or to plan purchases and sales in ambvah variety of factors may affect the market eraf our common stock. These include,
are not limited to:

» publicity regarding actual or potential clinical animal test results relating to products underetippment by our competitors
us;

e initiating, completing or analyzing, or a delay failure in initiating, completing or analyzingre<linical or clinical trials o
animal trials or the design or results of thesa<gri

e achievement or rejection of regulatory approval®bycompetitors or u
« announcements of technological innovations or nemroercial products by our competitors ot

» developments concerning proprietary rights, inalgdpatents and rights to Arestvyr or a portion lté het profits associat
therewith as asserted by PharmAthene;

» developments concerning our collaborati

* regulatory developments in the United States argida countries

* economic or other crises and other external fa

* period-toperiod fluctuations in our revenues and other tesafloperation:

» changes in financial estimates by securities atalgsi(

*  publicity or activity involving possible future agigitions, strategic investments, partnershipsl@rees

Additionally, because the volume of trading in atwck fluctuates significantly at times, any infation about us in the media n
result in significant volatility in our stock price

We will not be able to control many of these fast@nd we believe that period{period comparisons of our financial results wilk
necessarily be indicative of our future performance

In addition, the stock market in general, and tteekmat for biotechnology companies in particulars kaperienced extreme price
volume fluctuations that may have been unrelategisproportionate to the operating performancendiviidual companies. These broad ma
and industry factors may seriously harm the mapkiee of our common stock, regardless of our opeggterformance.

A future issuance of preferred stock may adversatfect the rights of the holders of our common skos

Our certificate of incorporation allows our Boarfdirectors to issue up to 10,000,000 shares diepred stock and to fix the voti
powers, designations, preferences, rights and fgpaions, limitations or restrictions of these sfsmwithout any further vote or action by
stockholders. The rights of the holders of commimelswill be subject to, and could be adverselyei#d by, the rights of the holders of
preferred stock that we may issue in the futuree Hsuance of preferred stock, while providing ddse flexibility in connection with ol
future activities, could also have the effect ofking it more difficult for a third party to acquire majority of our outstanding voting stc
thereby delaying, deferring or preventing a changsntrol.
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Concentration of ownership of our capital stock cloudelay or prevent a change of control.

Our directors, executive officers and principalcktwlders beneficially own a significant percentaf@ur common stock. They a
have, through the exercise or conversion of cedanurities, the right to acquire additional comnstock. As a result, these stockholder
acting together, have the ability to influence diecome of corporate actions requiring sharehadgroval. Additionally, this concentration
ownership may have the effect of delaying or prémgna change in control of SIGA. As of the mostemet available information, directc
officers and principal stockholders beneficiallyred approximately 43% of our outstanding stock.

In the first quarter of 2013, we identified a maiat weakness, which has been subsequently remediate our internal control ove
financial reporting that resulted in the restatemenf our consolidated financial statements includéwal our 2012 Annual Report on Fori
10-K/A.

Our management is responsible for maintaining ivgkercontrol over financial reporting designed t@pde reasonable assura
regarding the reliability of financial reporting éithe preparation of consolidated financial stateiméor external purposes in accordance
GAAP. During the first quarter of 2013, our managemassessed the effectiveness of our internakaloater financial reporting as
December 31, 2012, and identified a material weskmelated to the failure to ensure timely applicadf antidilution provisions contained
certain outstanding warrant arrangements. As altre$uhis material weakness, our management calecluthat our internal control o
financial reporting and our disclosure controls pnacedures were not effective as of December @122

A material weakness is a deficiency, or combinatibrdeficiencies, in internal control over finariciaporting such that there it
reasonable possibility that a material misstateroéotir annual or interim consolidated financiatstments will not be prevented or detecte
a timely basis. The effectiveness of any controlgrocedures is subject to certain limitations, asdh result, there can be no assurance th
controls and procedures will detect all errorsrauél. A control can provide only reasonable, natohlte, assurance that the objectives o
control system will be attained. We also cannotiasgou that other material weaknesses will nateaar that circumvention of those cont
and procedures will not occur. Additionally, evanproved controls and procedures may not be adedaapeevent or identify errors
irregularities or ensure that our financial statateeare prepared in accordance with generally aedepccounting principles. If we can
maintain and execute adequate internal control imancial reporting or implement required new mproved controls that provide reason:
assurance of the reliability of the financial repug and preparation of our financial statementsefiternal use, we could suffer harm to
reputation, fail to meet our public reporting reganents on a timely basis, or be unable to repogtgrly on our business and the results o
operations, and the market price of our securéttegd be materially adversely affected.

Risks Related to Our Business

The loss of key personnel or our ability to recrwit retain qualified personnel could adversely afteour results of operations.

We rely upon the ability, expertise, judgment, ision, integrity and good faith of our senior mgeaent team. Our succes:
dependent upon our personnel and our ability touieand train high quality employees. We must cuor to recruit, retain and motivi
management and other employees sufficient to nimiotar current business and support our projectedvty. The loss of services of any
our key management could have a material advefseten our business.

Our future success depends on our ability to retain chief executive officer and other key execegivand to attract, retain ¢
motivate qualified personnel. The loss of the smwiof any key executive might impede the achiemtrogour research, development
commercialization objectives. Replacing key empésyenay be difficult and timeensuming because of the limited number of indigldur
our industry with the skills and experiences reggito develop, gain regulatory approval of and cemumlize our product candida
successfully. We generally do not maintain key perlfe insurance to cover the loss of any of omplyees. Recruiting and retain
qualified scientific personnel, clinical personiaeld sales and marketing personnel will also bécalito our success. We may not be ab
attract and retain these personnel on acceptabiestef at all, given the competition among numergaharmaceutical and biotechnol
companies for similar personnel. We also experiecm@apetition for the hiring of scientific and claal personnel from other compan
universities and research institutions. In additie rely on consultants and advisors, includingrgdic and clinical advisors, to assist u:
formulating our research and development, regutatord commercialization strategy. Our consultamd advisors may be employed
employers other than us and may have commitmemtsrwonsulting or advisory contracts with otheiitezg that may limit their availability
us.
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We may have difficulty managing our growth.

Potential future growth could place a significatn&is on our management and operations. Our aliditpanage any future growth v
depend upon our ability to broaden our managemearhtand our ability to attract, hire and retairllas#tiemployees. Our success will ¢
depend on the ability of our officers and key ergpks to continue to implement and improve our djperal and other systems and to t
train and manage our employees.

Our ability to use our net operating loss carryfoands may be limited.

As of December 31, 2013, we had federal net opegatiss carryforwards, or NOLs, of $23.5 milliondffset future taxable inconr
In 2012 and 2011, previously available NOLs of appnately $1.2 million and $0.9 million, respectiyeexpired. The remaining NOLs exg
in various years between 2018 and 2032, if noizetl. Under the provisions of the Internal Reve@ade, substantial changes in
ownership, in certain circumstances, will limit thenount of NOLs that can be utilized annually ie fature to offset taxable income.
particular, section 382 of the Internal Revenue €€iotposes limitations on a company’s ability to L s if a company experiences a more
than-50% ownership change over a thyear period. If we are limited in our ability toausur NOLs in future years in which we have tax
income, we will pay more taxes than if we were dblatilize our NOLs fully. For example, as a resafla previous change in stock owners
the annual utilization of the net operating carrwfards generated in tax years prior to 2004 magutgect to limitation.

In addition, the outcome of PharmAthese@iction against SIGA, may limit our future prdfifity and therefore our ability to gener
future taxable income that we can use our carrydods to offset.

Iltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
Item 2. Properties

Our headquarters are located in New York City, and research and development facilities are locate@orvallis, Oregon. |
January 2013, we entered into a sublease withfdiatafto sublet expanded office space in a NewKYGity location to serve as new corpol
headquarters. The sublease commenced in April 28d3®xpires in 2020.

In Corvallis, we lease approximately 32,700 squiaet under an amended lease agreement signed uraryaf007, which wz
amended and extended on June 1, 2011. The Compangty occupied 5,700 square feet under a sublegieement signed in January 2
which expired in September 2011. The facilitieséghin Corvallis includes space existing underptier lease terms and newly construs
space in the same building under the most recaselamendment. We believe that our current fasldire adequate to our needs.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

In December 2006, PharmAthene, Inc. (“PharmAthefigf)l an action against us in the Delaware Coti€loancery (the “Courtbr
“Court of Chancery”) captioned PharmAthene, IncSIGA Technologies, Inc., C.A. No. 262¥-In its amended complaint, PharmAth
asked the Court to order us to enter into a liceiggeement with PharmAthene with respect to28%; also known as Arestvyr, to declare
we are obliged to execute such a license agreemedtto award damages resulting from our suppossaith of that obligation. PharmAthe
also alleges that we breached an obligation totiregcsuch a license agreement in good faith, andlst damages for promissory estoppel
unjust enrichment based on supposed informatiopitataand assistance that PharmAthene allegedyiged to us during the negotiat
process. The Court tried the case in January 2011.

In September 2011, the Court of Chancery issuedhdtst-trial opinion. The Court denied PharmAthenetquests for speci
performance and expectation damages measured sgrprealue of estimated future profits. Neverthgléise Court held that we breached
duty to negotiate in good faith and were liableemtthe doctrine of promissory estoppel. The Coonsequently awarded to PharmAthene \
the Court described as an equitable payment stogagquitable lien consisting of fifty percent okthet profits that we achieve from sale
ST-246 after we secure $40 million in net profits, fen years following the first commercial saleabtdition, the Court awarded PharmAth
one-third of its reasonable attorneys’ fees andeexpitness expenses.

27




Table of Contents

In May 2012, the Court entered its final order gmtgment in this matter, implementing its ptrs&l opinion. Among other things, t
final order and judgment provided that (a) net fisofvould be calculated in accordance with gengradicepted accounting principles app
consistently with how they are applied in the prafian of our financial statements, (b) the netfipgccalculation would take into accol
expenses relating to ST-246 commencing with ouuisitpn of ST246 in August 2004, and (c) PharmAthene could rec®2.4 million o
attorneys’ fees and expenses. As of December 313 ,2BIGA has recorded a $2.6 million loss contingewii respect to the fee, expense
interest portion of the judgment.

In June 2012, we appealed to the Supreme Couhieobtate of Delaware the final order and judgmadtaertain earlier rulings of t
Court of Chancery. Shortly thereafter, PharmAthiled its crossappeal. We obtained a stay of enforcement of theafel expense portion
the judgment by filing a surety bond for the amoahthe judgment plus pogtdgment interest. We posted $1.3 million as celialt for the
surety bond which is recorded in other assets &@eokmber 31, 2013The parties briefed the issues and argued bétier®elaware Suprer
Court,en banc, on January 10, 2013.

On May 24, 2013, the Supreme Court of Delawareedsts decision, affirming the Delaware Court ofa@berys judgment in pai
reversing it in part, and remanding to Vice ChaloceParsons. The Supreme Court affirmed the ChgnGaurt determination that t
Company had breached its contractual obligationetgotiate in good faith; reversed the promissotgmsel holding; and, reversed the \
Chancellors equitable damages award. The Supreme Court haldthe trial judge may award expectation damagesbfeach of th
contractual duty to negotiate in good faith if sutdmages are proven with reasonable certainty,raménded to the Chancery Court
consideration of damages consistent with that hgldThe Supreme Court also reversed the Chancamt’€award of attorney fees and ex
witness fees because they were predicated in pag now-reversed finding of liability on PharmAtieén promissory estoppel claim. 1
Supreme Court held that the Chancery Court cowdglal@ate on remand an alternative award, if anygtmirneys’fees and expert testimc
expenses consistent with the Supreme Court’s apifiimally, the Supreme Court declined to consiadeclaims raised in PharmAthesecros
appeal because it affirmed the Chancery Celdiniding that the Company was liable for breachisgontractual obligation to negotiate in g
faith. On June 11, 2013, the Supreme Court issisadandate to the Court of Chancery with the degidsiescribed above.

On June 26, 2013, the parties appeared beforeGhiemcellor Parsons to discuss the remand, at wineghPharmAthene declared
desire to supplement the record with further evigerFollowing briefing and argument on August 1812 the Chancery Court gran
PharmAthene’s motion to supplement the record dsal @lowed the Company to submit responsive evide®n December 189, 2013, th
Court held an evidentiary hearing with respectht evidence. On January 15, 2014, after briefingebevant issues, the parties appeare
oral argument regarding what if any remedy the €aanCourt should impose in light of the remandtsy Supreme Court of Delaware.

No assurances can be given as to the Chancery' €datérminations on remand.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
No disclosure is required pursuant to this item.

28




Table of Contents

PART Il
Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Edty Securities
Price Range of Common Stock

Our common stock trades under the symbol “SIG3wF common stock has been traded on the Nasdag@i@Wdrket since Septemt
3, 2009 and, prior to such date, had been tradatieiNasdaq Capital Market since September 9, 1R8ar to that time there was no pul
market for our common stock. The following tabléssterth, for the periods indicated, the high aow kales prices for the common stock
reported on the Nasdaq Global Market:

2013 High Low

First Quarter $ 46C $ 2.71
Second Quarter 4.0C 2.7z
Third Quarter 4.0C 2.82
Fourth Quarter 4.1t 2.9C
2012 High Low

First Quarter $ 3.8¢ ¢ 2.51
Second Quarter 3.5¢ 2.2
Third Quarter 3.57 2.72
Fourth Quarter 3.3¢ 2.3¢

As of February 14, 2014, the closing sale pricowf common stock was $3.3&r share. There were 39 holders of record
February 14, 2014. We believe that the number otfieial owners of our common stock is substantigileater than the number of rec
holders, because a large portion of common stobkli in broker “street names.”

We have paid no dividends on our common stock andad expect to pay cash dividends in the forededakure. We are not unc
any restriction as to our present or future abilitypay dividends. We currently intend to retaily &imure earnings to finance the growth
development of our business.

Performance Graph
The following line graph compares the cumulativealtestockholder return through December 31, 20E3uming reinvestment

dividends, by an investor who invested $100 on Dexsr 31, 2008 in each of (i) our common stock;tfig Nasdaq National Marké&tS; ant
(i) the Nasdaq Pharmaceutical Index.
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December 31,

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013
SIGA Technologies, Inc. $ 10C $ 177 $ 426 $ 77 % 80 $ 10C
NASDAQ Composite Index $ 10c $ 144 % 166 $ 165 $ 191 % 26t
NASDAQ Biotech Composite Index $ 10C $ 11€ % 132 % 14¢ % 19€ $ 32t

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Corpensation Plans

The information required by this item concerninguséies authorized for issuance under equity camp#on plans is set forth in Ite
12, “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owmand Management and Related Stockholder Matters.”

Iltem 6. Selected Financial Data

The selected financial data for the years endededéer 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 and the consolidzdéxhce sheet data as
December 31, 2013 and 2012 have been derived fromawdited consolidated financial information irdda elsewhere in this Annual Rej
on Form 10K. The selected financial data for the years endedember 31, 2010 and 2009 and the consolidatexhdxalsheet data as
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 have been deiroedapplicable audited consolidated financial estaénts not included in this ann
report. The following table should be read in cagjion with Item 7, “Managemerst’Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditior
Results of Operations,” and the consolidated firerstatements and related notes to those statermatided elsewhere in this annual report.

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Revenues $ 551¢ $ 8971 $ 12,72¢ $ 19,21¢  $ 13,81
Selling, general and administrative 13,24 11,41C 23,930 8,131 7,53:
Research and development 13,85 18,21: 18,36 22,65¢ 17,42;
Patent preparation fees 1,421 1,88 1,80¢ 1,14¢ 734
Restructuring charges 51z — — — —
Loss from operations (23,51¢) (22,53¢) (31,38) (12,72) (11,879
Decrease (increase) in fair value of comistock warrants (74) 80t 24,43¢ (38,110 (27,47¢)
Interest expense (1,207 173 — — —
Other income, net 1 1 13 65¢ 1
Loss before income taxes (24,796 (21,909 (6,937 (50,179 (29,359
Benefit from (provision for) income taxes 7,61¢ 7,844 36,03: a7 —
Net income (loss) $ 1717) $ (14,06() 29,10 $ (50,34 $ (29,359
Basic earnings (loss) per share $ 039 $ 0.27) $ 057 $ 112 $ (0.7
Diluted earnings (loss) per share $ 03y % 027 $ 0.0¢ $ 112 $ (0.7¢)
Weighted average shares outstanding: basic 52,368,84 51,639,62 50,929,49 45,151,77. 37,463,25
Weighted average shares outstanding: diluted 52,368,84 51,639,62 54,061,65 45,151,77 37,463,25
Cash and cash equivalents and short-term invessment $ 91,31( $ 32,017 % 49,257 $ 21,33: $ 19,49¢
Total assets $ 193,82: % 105,83t $ 90,38( $ 27,03: % 25,91!
Long-term obligations $ 243¢ % 4,77¢ % 156 $ 27,18t $ 20,37¢
Stockholders’ equity $ 16,97t $ 28,24: $ 40,77 $ (12,91) $ (3,489
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities $ 58,437 $ (20,22H) $ 25,57:  $ (10,82 $ (8,47J)
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Famcial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and notes to those statements and
other financial information appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. In addition to historical information, the following
discussion and other parts of this Annual Report contain forward-looking information that involves risks and uncertainties .

Overview

We are a company specializing in the developmedtcammercialization of solutions for serious unmetdical needs and biothre:
Our lead product is Arestvyr™ (tecovirimat), alsmolvn as ST246, an orally administered antiviral drug thag&ts orthopoxviruses. Wh
Arestvyr is not yet licensed as safe or effectiyatie U.S. Food & Drug Administration, it is a nbgenall-molecule drug that is being delive
to the Strategic National Stockpile under ProjeicsBield.

In the fourth quarter of 2013, the Company beganoptimization program to increase efficiencies wmtlits operations (tt
“Optimization Program”)This program, which includes a reduction in empeheadcount, is intended to align the Companyturess, sta
and efforts with the most promising growth oppoities. With the implementation of the OptimizatiBnogram, the Company is targeting ¢
million reduction in annual operating expenses ugfoa combination of headcount reduction, operagifficiencies and restricting interi
efforts on early stage drug discovery programs.

Lead Product - Arestvyr

On May 13, 2011, we signed the BARDA Contract parguo which we agreed to deliver two million casf Arestvyr to tk
Strategic Stockpile. The base contract, worth apprately $463 million, includes $54 million relatéal development and supportive activi
and contains various options to be exercised at BAR discretion. The period of performance for deveiept and supportive activities r
until 2020. As originally issued, the BARDA Conttancluded an option for the purchase of up to lifion additional courses of Arestw
however, following a protest by a competitor of thempany, BARDA issued a contract modification omel 24, 2011 pursuant to whicl
deleted the option to purchase the additional @surbinder the BARDA Contract as modified, BARDA fageed to buy from SIGA 1
million courses of Arestvyr. Additionally, SIGA wilcontribute to BARDA 300,000 courses manufactugetmarily using federal func
provided by HHS under prior development contratiee BARDA Contract as modified also contains opgitimat will permit SIGA to contint
its work on pediatric and geriatric formulationstbé drug as well as use Arestvyr for smallpox psdaxis. As discussed in Item 3 éga
Proceedings,”the amount of profits we will retain pursuant toe tBARDA Contract may be adversely affected by th#came o
PharmAthene’s action against SIGA.

We believe Arestvyr is among the first new smrmatecule drugs delivered to the Strategic Stockyilder Project BioShield. Arest
is an investigational product that is not currergpproved by FDA as a treatment of smallpox or atier indication. FDA has designa
Arestvyr for “fast-track” status, creating a patin éxpedited FDA review and eventual regulatoryrapal.

Critical Accounting Estimates

The methods, estimates and judgments we use igiagpur accounting policies have a significant &opon the results we repor
our consolidated financial statements, which wewlis under the heading “Results of Operationsb¥alhg this section of our Management’
Discussion and Analysis. Some of our accountingci@d require us to make difficult and subjectiudgments, often as a result of the ne¢
make estimates of matters that are inherently tmicerOur most critical accounting estimates ineluble valuation of stockased awart
including options and warrants, revenue recognitimpairment of assets and income taxes.

Revenue Recoghnitio
Revenue is recognized when persuasive evidence afrangement exists, delivery has occurred, teeddixed and determinab
collectability is reasonably assured, title an& o§loss have been transferred to the custometteare are no further contractual obligations.

Certain arrangements may provide for multiple detbles, in which there may be a combination offrapt licenses; researc
development, regulatory or other services; andvdgfi of product. Multiple deliverable arrangemeo&n be divided into separate unit:
accounting if the deliverables in the arrangemee¢tnthe following criteria: (i) the delivered iteshhave value to the customer on a stand:
basis and (ii) in circumstances in which an arramge includes a general right of return with respgedelivered items, then performanci
the remaining deliverables must be considered fmeksnd substantially in
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control of the Company. If multiple deliverablesinat be divided into separate units of accountirentthe deliverables must be combined
a single unit of accounting.

Total consideration in a multiple deliverable agament is allocated to units of accounting on atned fair value of selling pric
basis. Consideration allocated to a delivered itemnit of accounting is limited to the amount tisahot contingent upon delivery of additio
items.

The BARDA Contract is a multiple deliverable arrangent comprising delivery of courses and coversgarh and developm
activities. The BARDA Contract provides certain gwot replacement rights with respect to deliveredrses. For this reason, recognitiol
revenue that might otherwise occur upon delivergairses is expected to be deferred until our atibgs related to potential replacemer
delivered courses are satisfied. Accordingly weehdeferred revenue for all amounts received to datker the BARDA Contract except
revenue recognized for amounts received with rase@ARDA’s obligation to reimburse the cost of covered neteand developme
services.

Subject to the above, payments for developmentitiet are recognized as revenue is earned, oegoehiod of effort. Funding for t
acquisition of capital assets under cost-gees-contracts and grants is evaluated for apprpriecognition as a reduction to the cost o
acquired asset, a financing arrangement, or revdrased on the specific terms of the related gyanontract.

Share-based Compensation

We account for our stodkased compensation using the fair value recognji@visions prescribed by the authoritative guiganehict
requires the measurement and recognition of congpensexpense for all shab®sed payment awards made to employees and dg
including employee stock options based on estimiaiedalues.

Stockbased compensation expense for 2013, 2012 and\2841%2.3 million, $1.8 million and $12.5 millioregpectively. The fa
value of share-based awards is determined on dre date; for options awards, fair value is gemgesdtimated using the Blackeholes mod
and for stock appreciation rights, fair value itireated using a Monte Carlo method. The value efgbrtion of the award that is ultimat
expected to vest is recorded as expense over thesite periods in our consolidated statement afrafions. Determining the fair value
stockbased awards at the grant date requires judgnrenitiding estimating the expected term over whidtlstawards will be outstandi
before they are exercised, the expected volatiftpur stock, and the number of stdeksed awards that are expected to be forfeiteid
reasonably likely that future assumptions may ckaimgwhich case the fair value of future optioraads may exceed or fall short of histor
calculated fair values. In addition, for stock ops with performance conditions, on a quarterhyidva® estimate the most probable outcon
the performance conditions in order to determimeadimount of compensation costs to be recordedtbgeemaining vesting period.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The measurement of fair value requires the usedfriiques based on observable and unobservablss.irploservable inputs refl
market data obtained from independent sourcesgewtmibbservable inputs reflect our market assumptidhe inputs create the following 1
value hierarchy:

* Level 1 —Quoted prices for identical instruments in activarkets

» Level 2 —Quoted prices for similar instruments in active keas; quoted prices for identical or similar instrents in markets th
are not active; and model-derived valuations wigpats are observable or where significant valueeds are observable.

* Level 3 dnstruments where significant value drivers arehsgovable to third partie

The carrying value of cash and cash equivalentuats receivable, sharm investments, accounts payable and accruechss;
approximates fair value due to the relatively shoaturity of these instruments. Liability classifieommon stock warrants and outstan
debt are classified as Level 2 instruments andexrerded at their fair market value as of eachteppperiod. The determination of fair mar
value is subject to management's judgments.

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 201&idwvet hold any Level 3 securities.

Goodwill

The purchase price of an acquired company is addchetween intangible assets and the net tang#islets of the acquired busir
with the residual of the purchase price recordedasiwill. The determination of the fair value betassets acquired and liabilities asst
involves certain judgments and estimates.
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At December 31, 2013 and 2012, our goodwill was8¥830. We evaluate goodwill for impairment at leasinually or s
circumstances warrant. Goodwill is tested for rerability between annual evaluations whenever eventhanges in circumstances indi
that the carrying amounts may not be recoverabe impairment review process compares the fairevalithe reporting unit in whi
goodwill resides to its carrying value. In 2013, egerated as one business and one reporting urétefore, the goodwill impairment analy
was performed on the basis of the Company as aewlsihg our market capitalization as an estimateuoffair value. In the past, our mat
capitalization has been significantly in exceswof carrying value. It is possible that our futumarket capitalization may fall short of «
current market capitalization, in which case a pti& impairment could result.

Income Taxes

Determining the consolidated provision for incorag expense, deferred tax assets and liabilitiesraladed valuation allowance,
any, involves judgment. The recognition of a vahrmtallowance for deferred taxes requires managertemake estimates and judgme
about our future profitability which are inherentiycertain. On an ogeing basis, we evaluate whether a valuation allmgas needed
reduce our deferred income tax assets to an antbahtis more likely than not to be realized. Thalaation process includes asses
historical and current results in addition to fetexpected results.

Our assessment that our deferred tax assets witkdlezed is based on estimates of future taxaferne arising from the BARC
Contract. If the current estimates of future tagaiblcome are reduced or not realized, for exanysed on the outcome of PharmAthene
action against SIGA described in Item 3, “Legal d@edings,”’our assessment regarding the realization of defdme assets could chan
Future changes in the estimated amount of defearass expected to be realized will be reflectedun financial statements in the period
estimate is changed with a corresponding adjustteeaperating results. Changes in estimates mayraoed can have a significant favore
or unfavorable impact on our operating results fmeriod to period.

Contingencies

We are currently involved in certain legal proceedi If the potential loss from any claim, assedednasserted, or legal proceet
is considered probable and the amount can be rablsoestimated, we accrue a liability for the estied loss. Accruals are based on our
estimates based on available information. On ag&ribasis, as additional information becomes atgl, or based on specific events suc
the outcome of litigation or settlement of claimse may reassess the potential liability, if anyated to these matters and may revise
estimates, which could result in a material adj&stito our operating results.

Recent Accounting Pronouncemen

In February 2013, the Financial Accounting Standd@dard (“FASB”")issued new guidance on the reporting of reclasditios fron
accumulated other comprehensive income to net iecdine new guidance does not change the requirenf@mmteporting net income or otl
comprehensive income in financial statements bqguires disclosures regarding the reclassificatibraecumulated other comprehen:
income by component into net income. The Compamgdoption of this guidance on January 2, 2013ndidhave a material effect on 1
financial statements.

In July 2013, the FASB issued new guidance on itential statement presentation of unrecognizedemnefit when a net operat
loss carryforward, a similar tax loss, or a taxdarearryforward exists. The new guidance is effector fiscal years, and interim periods wit
those years, beginning after December 15, 2013 Cidmepany does not anticipate a material impadteécQompanys financial position, resu
of operations or cash flows as a result of thimgea

Results of Operations
Years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011

Revenues from research and development contradtgrants for the years ended December 31, 20032012, were $5.5 million a
$9.0 million, respectively. The decrease of $3.Hiom, or 39%, includes the impact of a $3.0 miflidecrease in revenues from our fec
contracts supporting the development of Arestvyl ai$455,000 decrease in grant revenues relalesisga fever.

Revenues from research and development contradtgrants for the years ended December 31, 2012@hdt, were $9.0 million ai
$12.7 million, respectively. The decrease of $3ilfian, or 30%, is primarily attributable to the tienpact of a $5.0 million decrease in cont
and grant revenues related to Arestvyr, denguebaoad spectrum, offset by a $1.2 million increasgrant revenues related to Lassa fe
The largest portion of the net decrease in revenaewes from the restructuring of an NIH Arestvyniact in connection with entry into 1
BARDA Contract in 2011, which impacted the timinfggoant usage
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and the amount of funds available for usage. Addilly, $1.2 million of the revenue decrease igkattable to the conclusion in late 201:
two federal grants supporting development of a dsgectrum antiviral.

Selling, general and administrative expenses (“SQ&#r the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2642 %13.2nillion and $11..
million, respectively, reflecting an increase ofpegximately $1.8 million or 16%. The increase prityarelates to a $920,000 increas¢
employee compensation, which is related to an asseén corporate headcount and an increase ircasimstock compensation expense, ai
increase of $413,000 in facilities expenses.

SG&A for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 28%# $11.4 million and $23.9 million, respectivelgflecting a decrease
approximately $12.5 million or 52%. The decreas&®&A expenses primarily relates to a decreaseomaash stoclkased compensation
approximately $10.7 million and a $1.6 million nmeeurring loss contingency expense recorded in 20kbnnection with the PharmAthe
litigation.

Research and development (“R&D”) expenses wered$idlion for the year ended December 31, 2043decrease of approximat
$4.4 million or 24% from the $18.2 million incurreliring the year ended December 31, 2012. $2.4omithf the decrease relates to lo
direct vendor-related expenses supporting the dpwetnt of Arestvyr, dengue antivirals, broad-speutrantivirals and higlikroughpu
screening. An additional $1.2 million of the dea®eds attributable to $775,000 reduction in emptogyempensation and a $468,000 inver
write-off in 2012.

R&D expenses were $18.2 million for the yeaded December 31, 2012, approximately matchingite4 million incurred during the ye
ended December 31, 2011. Decreases in direct veatided expenses supporting the development oftéye dengue antivirals and broad
spectrum antivirals were offset by increases ireesps related to various operation initiatives, leyge compensation and vendetated cos
supporting the development of Lassa fever antisiral

Restructuring expenses for the year ended DeceBhe2013 were $513,000. In the fourth quarter d2Ghe Company began
Optimization Program to increase efficiencies withiis operations. The program, which included aucéidn in employee headcount,
intended to align the Company's resources, stalf efforts with the most promising growth opportiest With the implementation of t
Optimization Program, the Company is targeting an$iion reduction in annual operating expenses, of whiclastantial portion of ti
reduction has been implemented at December 31, 203following table summarizes the activity fbetrestructuring:

Accrued as of Non-Cash Accrued as of
January 1, 2013 Charges Payments Items December 31, 2013
Severance Charges $ — $ 325,000 $ (207,000 $ — $ 118,00(
Asset Impairments — 188,00( — (188,001 —
$ — 8 513,000 $ (207,000 $ (188,000 $ 118,00(

During the years ended December 31, 2013, 201228td, we incurred direct costs of $4.0 million,4bwillion and $7.2 millior
respectively, on the development of Arestvyr. Dgrihe year ended December 31, 2013, we spent ¥E®D0 internal human resour
dedicated to the drug’development and $3.4 million mainly on manufaofyand clinical testing. During the year ended &wber 31, 201
we spent $1.3 million on internal human resourcadiahted to the drug'development and $6.0 million mainly on manufaomiand clinice
testing. During the year ended December 31, 20&1spent $1.4 million on internal human resourceBoded to the drug’development ai
$5.8 million mainly on packaging and manufacturiRgom inception of the ST-246 development prograrddte, we invested a total of $5
million in the program, of which $10.2 million supped internal human resources, and $46.4 milli@mewused mainly for manufacturi
clinical and preclinical work. These resources reflect research dedelopment expenses directly related to the pragrThey excluc
additional expenditures such as patent costs,altot of indirect expenses, and other servicesigeavby NIH and DoD.

During the years ended December 31, 202812, and 2011, we incurred direct costs of $iil8on, $2.2 million and $1.7 milliot
respectively, to support the development of drugdadates for dengue fever, Lassa fever virus ahdrairug candidates for certain arenan
pathogens and hemorrhagic fevers. During the ymded December 31, 2013, we spent $1.0 million terial human resources and $738
was spent mainly on the optimization and chemisfriead antiviral compounds. During the year enBedember 31, 2012, $1.2 million v
spent on internal human resources and $1.0 millias spent mainly on the optimization and chemistrgad antiviral compounds. During
year ended December 31, 2011, we spent $1.7 miiliodengue fever, Lassa virus and other drug ckates for certain arenavirus pathog
and hemorrhagic fevers, of which $766,000 was madioi internal human resources and $916,000 foricreal chemistry and prekhnical
testing of our drug candidates. From inceptiorhefse programs to date, we spent a total of $14lmielated to the programs, of which $
million, $8.5 million and $299,000 were expendedmrrnal human resources, pre-clinical work andigment, respectively. These resources
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reflect research and development expenses dinedtlied to the programs. They exclude additionpkexlitures such as patent costs, alloc
of indirect expenses, and other services provigedIbl and DoD.

Patent preparation expenses for the years endeehibes 31, 20132012 and 2011 were $1.4 million, $1.9 million &8 million
respectively. These expenses reflect our ongoifogtefto protect our lead drug candidates in vagedgraphic territories.

Changes in the fair value of liability classifiedtmants to acquire common stock are recorded &s gailosses. For the years er
December 31, 20132012, and 2011, we recorded a loss of $74,0@@jraof $805,000 and a gain of $24.4 million, retpely. The warran
and rights to purchase our common stock were recbat fair market value and classified as lialeiti

Interest expense for the year ended December 3B ®@s $1.2 million consisting of interest on camsting debt and certain ven
payable arrangements. Interest expense for theeyekad December 31, 2012 was $173,000, reflectrtgia vendor payable arrangements.

Other income for the years ended December 31, 2@IR2, and 2011, was $1,500, $500 and $13,00pectsely. Other incon
mainly consists of interest income on our casheash equivalents.

For the year ended December 31, 2013, we incuretbases of $24.8 million for tax purposes andraesponding tax benefit of $
million. The effective tax rate at December 31, 20das 30.7%. Our effective tax rate was impactedeoyrring items such as state and |
taxes, non-deductible expenses and changes iavesx |

For the year ended December 31, 2012, we incureetbeses for tax purposes and consequently, rezedyan income tax benefit
$7.8 million. For the year ended December 31, 2814 benefit from income taxes of $36.0 million nigireflected a partial reduction of «
valuation allowance as a significant portion of deferred tax assets became realizable on a nkalg than not basis primarily as a resul
the execution of the BARDA Contract and forecadtpretax earnings. Prior to June 30, 2011, we providéakavaluation allowance on ¢
United States federal and state deferred tax alsasex] on our evaluation that such assets werenuoe likely than not” to be realized.

The recognition of a valuation allowance for deddrtaxes requires management to make estimatepidgichents about our futt
profitability which are inherently uncertain. Defed tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowahea, in the opinion of management,
more likely than not that some portion or all of thheferred tax assets will not be realized. Ifaheent estimates of future taxable income
reduced or not realized, for example, based onotiteome in the PharmAthene litigation describedtém 3, “Legal Proceedingsihe
Companys assessment regarding the realization of defearedssets could change. Future changes in thraaget amount of deferred ta
expected to be realized will be reflected in them@anys financial statements in the period the estimatehianged with a correspond
adjustment to operating results. Changes in estgnatay occur often and can have a significant fhleror unfavorable impact on
Company’s operating results from period to period.

In 2012 and 2011, previously available NOLs of appnately $1.2 and $0.9 million, respectively, arpi.The remaining NOI
expire in various years between 2018 and 2032tifitilized.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
On December 31, 2013, we had $91.3 million in ashcash equivalents compared with $32.0 milliobbecember 31, 2012 .

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Compateived approximately $109.7 million from BARD#der the BARD:
Contract of which approximately $96.1 million was the aggregate delivery of approximately 725,000rses of Arestvyr™ (tecovirimat)
the Strategic Stockpile, approximately $5.4 milliaias for reimbursement of expenses related to relseend development expenses
supportive activities, and $8.2 million was for dastone payment for successfully completing théestdone requirements for the Final D
Product Commercial Validation batches and reparaddition to the 725,000 courses of Arestvyr detid to the Strategic Stockpile for wk
we received payment, 195,000 courses were delivagrad cost to BARDA in accordance with the BARDAm(ract.

In the fourth quarter of 2013, the Company initiatee Optimization Program which included a redarctin employee headcou

With the implementation of the Optimization Prograhe Company is targeting a $6 million reductiorannual operating expenses, of whi
substantial portion of the reduction has been implated as of December 31, 2013.
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During the year ended December 31, 2012, we redeiv&12.3 million milestone payment upon receivifigA concurrence wi
respect to the product labeling strategy undeBARDA Contract and net proceeds of $4.9 millionnfréhe issuance of debt after deduc
the discount and issue costs. In December 201Znigred into a loan agreement with a lender toigeothe Company a term loan of $
million with a fixed interest rate of 9.85% per anm and a revolving line of credit of $7.0 millionttv a variable interest rate. Borrowit
under the revolving line of credit are based ogiklé outstanding accounts receivable and will hefarest at a rate per annum equal to 5.
plus the higher of: (a) 1.50%, and (b) threenth LIBOR divided by a defined factor. The terfrtlte loan is three years. As of Decembel
2013, $4 million of the term loan was outstandind ao amounts were available to borrow againstékelving line of credit as there were
eligible accounts receivable.

Operating activities

Net cash provided by operations for the year erldedember 31, 2013 was $58.4 million; net cash usezperations for the ye
ended December 31, 2012 was $20.2 million and s provided by operations during the year endezbiber 31, 2011 was $25.6 milli
In 2013, the Company received approximately $108illflon from BARDA, partially offset by $27.0 millin of cash payments to CMOs for
manufacture, development and other supportive iieor Arestvyr.

In 2012, the Company used $17.6 million of cashtf@ manufacture of Arestvyr and $1.4 million okleafor development a
supportive activities for Arestvyr. These cash ustate to the performance of the BARDA contracrtilly offsetting the aboveientione:
items was the receipt in 2012 of a $12.3 milliohestone payment on the BARDA contract relating BoAFconcurrence with respect to SIGA’
labeling strategy for Arestvyr.

On December 31, 2018nd 2012, our accounts receivable balance was i®illon and $4.7 million, respectively. Our acco
receivable balances primarily reflect work perfodmiiring December 2013 and 2012 in connection witsstvyr, dengue fever antiviral @
Lassa fever antiviral development contracts; therelese is primarily attributed to lower grant aityivn 2013. Our accounts payable, acci
expenses and other current liabilities balance B8r@ million and $14.5 million on December 31, 2@hd 2012, respectively. The decrea
mainly due to the timing of payments to contrachofacturing organizations for inventory processadar the BARDA Contract.

Investing activities
Capital expenditures during the years ended DeceB81he2013, 2012, and 2011 were approximately $857,300, £&EB.ani
$237,000, respectively, reflecting purchases afdiassets in the ordinary course of business.

For the year ended December 31, 2012, we post&dndillion of collateral for a surety bond relatedthe PharmAthene litigation F
the year ended December 31, 2011, we had net glocg&15 million from maturities of U.S. Treaslnijls.

Financing activities

Cash provided by financing activities was $1.7 imil] $4.9 million and $2.6 million, during the ysagnded December 31, 2013
2012, and 2011, respectively. During the year eridecember 31, 2013we received $2.9 million from exercises of opiand warrants
purchase common stock which was offset by a $1lidomrepayment of the term loan in accordance i loan repayment schedule.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, we redgiveceeds of $10,000 from exercises of options \waadants to purcha
common stock. The amount of proceeds was offsethigy repurchase of common stock to meet minimumutstigt tax withholdin
requirements. During the year ended December 311,2@e received proceeds of $3.9 million from eisms of options and warrants
purchase common stock.

Other

We have incurred cumulative net losses and expeatctur additional expenses to perform further aege and development activiti
As of December 31, 2013, we have delivered an aggeeof approximately 920,000 courses of Arestoythe Strategic Stockpile, of whi
195,000 courses were delivered at no cost to BARDAccordance with the BARDA Contract. Upon meetmdey requirement of t
BARDA Contract in the third quarter of 2013, weea®d payment of approximately $96.1 million foettourses of product delivered to d
We believe that the funds received from the BARD&n€act (refer to Note 2 to the Consolidated Fin@nStatements) together with «
existing capital resources and continuing goverrtneentracts and grants will be sufficient to suppmur operations beyond the next twe
months. As discussed in Part II, Item 1, “Legald@exings,our ability to support our operations may be adsigraffected by the outcome
the litigation with PharmAthene. The financial staents do not include any adjustment relating ¢éoréfitoverability of the carrying amoun
recorded assets and liabilities that might resalnfthe outcome of these uncertainties.

36




Table of Contents
Contractual Obligations, Commercial Commitments andPurchase Obligations

Future contractual obligations and commercial commants as of December 31, 2013 are expected te fodlaws:

Payments due by period

Greater than 5

Total Less than 1 year 1to 3 years 3to 5 years years
Long term debt obligations (1) $ 4,415,88' $ 2,307,81. $ 2,108,077 $ —  $ =
Operating lease obligations (2) 8,532,16! 1,602,84! 3,264,68 2,396,20. 1,268,441
Purchase obligations 10,748,54 10,406,71 208,67t 107,50( 25,65(

Total contractual obligations $ 23,696,59 $ 14,317,36 $ 5,581,43 % 2,503,70. % 1,294,091

Q) Consists of $4 million of outstanding debt under tarm loan with a fixed interest rate of 9.85%.eTémounts in the table ab«
assume the payment of interest on our term loasutiir its maturity date and the payment amount @fibtes in accordance with
loan agreement. Interest is payable monthly.

(2 Includes facilities and office space under perating leases expiring in 2017 and 2020, reésde. These obligations assume non
termination of agreements and represent expectadgras, which are subject to change.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
The Company does not have any off-balance shesigements.

ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures Aout Market Risk

Our investment portfolio includes cash, cash edaiva and shorterm investments. Our main investment objectives t
preservation of investment capital and the maxitroneof aftertax returns on our investment portfolio. We beli¢hvat our investment policy
conservative, both in the duration of our investtaeand the credit quality of the investments wedh@Ve do not utilize derivative financ
instruments, derivative commodity instruments dreotmarket risk sensitive instruments, positionstransactions to manage exposur
interest rate changes. Accordingly, we believe, tdile the securities we hold are subject to cleanig the financial standing of the issue
such securities and our interest income is semsitichanges in the general level of U.S. intaiasts, we are not subject to any material
arising from changes in interest rates, foreigmenuy exchange rates, commodity prices, equityepriar other market changes that a
market risk sensitive instruments.
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Iltem 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Index to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of S[Ghnologies, Inc.:

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated bzdasheets and the related consolidated statemémpepations and comprehens
income/loss, of changes in stockholdeesjuity and of cash flows present fairly, in all evél respects, the financial position of SI
Technologies, Inc. and its subsidiary at Decemlier2813 and December 31, 2012, and the resultseaf dperations and their cash flows
each of the three years in the period ended Dece&ihe2013n conformity with accounting principles generadlgcepted in the United Sta
of America. Also in our opinion, the Company main&al, in all material respects, effective interoahtrol over financial reporting as
December 31, 2013, based on criteria establishédténnal Control - Integrated Framework (1992) issued by the Committee of Sponso
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSOg Thmpany's management is responsible for theaadial statements, for maintain
effective internal control over financial reportiagd for its assessment of the effectiveness efrial control over financial reporting, incluc
in Managemens Report on Internal Control over Financial Repartinder Item 9A. Our responsibility is to exprepmions on these financ
statements and on the Company's internal contexl fiwancial reporting based on our integrated @udlVe conducted our audits in accord:
with the standards of the Public Company Accountihngrsight Board (United States). Those standa¥dsire that we plan and perform
audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whetbeinancial statements are free of material tatssnent and whether effective intel
control over financial reporting was maintainedailh material respects. Our audits of the finansi@tements included examining, on a
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and digessn the financial statements, assessing theuatiog principles used and signific
estimates made by management, and evaluating #ralbfinancial statement presentation. Our autlibternal control over financial reporti
included obtaining an understanding of internaltadrover financial reporting, assessing the risatta material weakness exists, and te
and evaluating the design and operating effectis®emé internal control based on the assessed@igk.audits also included performing s
other procedures as we considered necessary airthuenstances. We believe that our audits provideaaonable basis for our opinions.

A companys internal control over financial reporting is @pess designed to provide reasonable assuranaeliregthe reliability of financie
reporting and the preparation of financial statetmdor external purposes in accordance with gelyemicepted accounting principles
companys internal control over financial reporting inclsdiose policies and procedures that (i) pertaithéomaintenance of records tha
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleet ttansactions and dispositions of the assetseotdmpany; (ii) provide reasonable assur
that transactions are recorded as necessary toitpgraparation of financial statements in accor@amdgth generally accepted accoun
principles, and that receipts and expenditureshef dompany are being made only in accordance withoasizations of management :
directors of the company; and (iii) provide readsleaassurance regarding prevention or timely deteaf unauthorized acquisition, use
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzanweterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢taisstatements. Also, projections of
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgexct to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, o
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

/s PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP

New York, New York
March 10, 2014
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SIGA TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012

December 31, December 31,
2013 2012
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 91,309,75 $ 32,017,49
Accounts receivable 982,02 970,28t
Inventory 20,515,34 17,641,92
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 750,80t 801,14¢
Deferred tax assets 10,383,90 33,515,32
Total current assets 123,941,84 84,946,17
Property, plant and equipment, net 1,382,07: 987,86¢
Receivables from long-term contract — 3,771,21!
Deferred costs 22,583,20 2,841,53
Goodwill 898,33 898,33«
Other assets 2,078,15 2,181,721
Deferred tax assets, net 42,940,62 10,209,27
Total assets $ 193,824,23 $ 105,836,13
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities
Accounts payable $ 5,064,338 $ 10,189,91
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 4,842,39: 4,283,84
Current common stock warrants 313,42! 333,79
Current portion of long term debt 1,968,82 954,73t
Total current liabilities 12,189,02 15,762,29
Deferred revenue 162,222,18 57,052,02
Common stock warrants — 657,24t
Long term debt 1,989,94 3,955,26:
Other liabilities 447,60! 166,30:
Total liabilities 176,848,76 77,593,12
Commitments and contingencies (Note 13)
Stockholders’ equity
Common stock ($.0001 par value, 100,000,000 stzartwrized, 53,108,844 and 51,642,520 issued atsteoding
at December 31, 2013, and December 31, 2012, tasgigL 5,31( 5,164
Additional paid-in capital 173,498,02 167,588,37
Accumulated deficit (156,527,87) (139,350,53)
Total stockholders’ equity 16,975,46 28,243,00
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 193,824,23  $ 105,836,13

The accompanying notes are an integral part of thesfinancial statements.
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SIGA TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHEN SIVE INCOME/LOSS

For the Years Ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 201

2013 2012 2011
Revenues
Research and development $ 5,519,300 $ 8,970,83" $ 12,725,79
Operating expenses
Selling, general and administrative 13,244,81 11,410,213 23,931,71
Research and development 13,856,50 18,213,03 18,367,34
Patent preparation fees 1,421,211 1,883,40! 1,808,16:
Restructuring charges 512,94 — —
Total operating expenses 29,035,48 31,506,57 44,107,22
Operating loss (23,516,18) (22,535,73) (31,381,43)
Decrease (increase) in fair value of common stoakants (73,756 804,51t 24,436,30
Interest expense (1,207,33) (172,99) —
Other income, net 1,491 52z 13,06:
Loss before income taxes (24,795,77) (21,903,69) (6,932,06)
Benefit from (provision for) income taxes 7,618,43! 7,844,15: 36,031,64
Net income (loss) $ (17,177,33) $ (14,059,53) $ 29,099,57
Basic earnings (loss) per share $ 039 $ 0.27) $ 0.57
Diluted earnings (loss) per share $ 0379 $ 0.2 $ 0.0¢
Weighted average shares outstanding: basic 52,368,84 51,639,62 50,929,49
Weighted average shares outstanding: diluted 52,368,84 51,639,62 54,061,65
Net income (loss) $ (17,177,33) $ (14,059,53) $ 29,099,57
Change in net unrealized gain (loss) on short-iax@stments — — (4,067
Comprehensive income (loss) $ (17,17733) $ (14,05953) $  29,09551

The accompanying notes are an integral part of thesfinancial statements.
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SIGA TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

For the Years Ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 201

Accumulated

Balances, December 31, 2010

Net income

Change in net unrealized gain (loss) on short-term
investments

Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stodkmpt
and warrants

Stock-based compensation

Tax obligation from stock-based compensation

Fair value of exercised common stock warrants

Balances, December 31, 2011

Net income

Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stodkrmpt
and warrants

Stock-based compensation

Balances, December 31, 2012

Net loss

Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stodkmpt
and warrants

Stock-based compensation

Tax obligation from stock-based compensation

Warrants issued in exchange for services recorsedher
assets

Fair value of exercised common stock warrants

Excess tax benefit from stock-based compensation

Balances, December 31, 2013

Additional Other Total
Common Stock Paid - In Accumulated Comprehensive Stockholders’

Shares Amount Capital Deficit Income (Loss) Equity
49,019,44 $ 4,90: $ 141,468,69 $ (154,390,57) $ 4,061 $ (12,912,91)
29,099,57 29,099,57
(4,067) (4,067%)
2,123,45. 21% 3,946,02. 3,946,23
700,00( 7C 12,463,70 12,463,77
(205,54%) (21) (1,353,63) (1,353,65)
9,531,911 9,5631,91
51,637,35 5,16¢ 166,056,69 (125,290,99) — 40,770,85
(14,059,53) (14,059,53)
5,16¢ (247,83) (247,831
1,779,51! 1,779,51
51,642,52 5,16¢ 167,588,37 (139,350,53) — 28,243,00
(17,177,33) (17,177,33)
1,508,14: 15C 2,868,23 2,868,38
2,172,59 2,172,59
(41,824 ) (178,949 (178,95
272,72¢ 272,72
751,37( 751,37(
23,66¢ 23,66¢
53,108,84 $ 531C $ 173,498,02 $ (156,527,87) $ —  $ 16,975,46

The accompanying notes are an integral part of thesfinancial statements.
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SIGA TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Years Ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 201

2013 2012 2011
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss) $ (17,177,33) $ (14,059,53) $ 29,099,57
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to reshcprovided by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation and other amortization 463,13’ 419,35¢ 568,28t
Increase (decrease) in fair value of warrants 73,75¢ (804,51¢) (24,436,30)
Stock-based compensation 2,263,501 1,779,51! 12,463,77
Non-cash interest expense 48,77¢ — —
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable 3,759,48. (2,104,40) 365,04:
Inventory (2,873,42) (17,641,92) —
Deferred costs (19,741,66) (2,591,46) (250,07)
Prepaid expenses and otheentassets 188,10: (444,25) 12,11¢
Other assets 147,62: (548,419 (4,697
Deferred income taxes, net (9,599,92) (7,847,80) (36,051,97)
Accounts payable, accrued agps and other current liabilities (4,566,99) 7,550,98! 2,659,59
Deferred revenue 105,170,16 16,050,91 41,001,11
Other liabilities 281,30: 18,713 147,58t
Net cash provided by (used in) opegaactivities 58,436,50 (20,222,82) 25,574,03
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures (857,34) (588,23)) (237,02)
Collateral for surety bond — (1,347,950 —
Proceeds from maturity of short term investments — — 40,000,00
Purchases of short term investments — — (25,004,71)
Net cash provided by (used in) invesactivities (857,34) (1,936,19) 14,758,26
Cash flows from financing activities:
Net proceeds from exercise of warrants and options 2,868,38 9,571 3,946,23
Payment of common stock tendered for employee béigations (178,957 — (1,353,651
Proceeds from the issuance of long-term debt 7,000,001 4,910,001 —
Repayment of long-term debt (8,000,001) — —
Excess tax benefit from stock-based compensation 23,66¢ — —
Net cash provided by financing atigs 1,713,10: 4,919,57 2,592,58
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equisalent 59,292,26. (17,239,44) 42,924,87
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 32,017,49 49,256,93 6,332,05:
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 91,309,755 $ 32,017,49 % 49,256,93
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash financing &iets:
Reclass of common stock warrant liability to iiddal paid-in capital upon warrant exercise $ 751,37 $ — % 9,531,91

The accompanying notes are an integral part of thesfinancial statements

43




SIGA TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Organization and Basis of Presentation

Description of Busines:

SIGA Technologies, Inc. (“SIGA” or the “Companyl§y a company specializing in the development andmercialization of solutions f
serious unmet medical needs and biothreats. Thep@ays lead product is Arestvyr ™ (tecovirimatscaknown as ST-246@an orally
administered antiviral drug that targets orthopoxses. While Arestvyr is not yet licensed as safeféective by the U.S. Food & Dr
Administration, it is a novel small-molecule drumat is being delivered to the Strategic Nationatipile under Project Bioshield.

Basis of presentatiol
The consolidated financial statements are preséntadcordance with generally accepted accountimgiples in the United States of Amer
("US GAAP”) and reflect the consolidated finangmsition, results of operations and cash flowsafbperiods presented.

The consolidated financial statements have beepaped on a basis which assumes that the Compahgamtinue as a going concern |
which contemplates the realization of assets aadatisfaction of liabilities and commitments ie thormal course of business.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Use of Estimates

The consolidated financial statements and relaiscdasures are prepared in conformity with accawghiprinciples generally accepted in
United States of America. Management is requirethéle estimates and assumptions that affect th@tegpamounts of assets and liabilii
the disclosure of contingent assets and liabiliiethe date of the financial statements and revama expenses during the period reported
most significant estimates include the variablesdu the calculation of fair value of stobksed awards including options and wan
granted or issued by the Company; reported amaimtssenue and expenses; impairment of goodwilt thie realization of deferred tax ass
Estimates and assumptions are reviewed periodiealtiithe effects of revisions are reflected infthancial statements in the period they
determined to be necessary. Actual results codldrdrom these estimates.

Cash Equivalents, Short-term Investments and Markiele Securities

The Company considers all highly liquid investmewith original maturities of three months or lesshie cash equivalents. Highly lig
investments with maturities greater than three m®mind less than one year are classified as trantinvestments. Such investments
generally money market funds, bank certificatedegiosit, and U.S. Treasury bills.

The Company classifies short-term investments ardketable securities with readily determinable faues as “available-for-sale.”
Investments in securities that are classified aslahe-forsale are measured at fair market value in the balaheet and unrealized holc
gains and losses on investments are reportedegsagate component of stockholders’ equity untilized.

Concentration of Credit Risk

The Company has cash in bank accounts that exdeed-@deral Deposit Insurance Corporation insuredtdi The Company has 1
experienced any losses on its cash accounts amdlaveance has been provided for potential credisés because management believe:
any such losses would be minimal, if any.

Accounts Receivabl

Accounts receivable are recorded net of provisifmmsdoubtful accounts. At December 31, 2013 and22dD0%of accounts receivabl
represented receivables from National InstitutesHefalth (“NIH”) and Biomedical Advanced Research and Developmerthohity
(“BARDA"). An allowance for doubtful accounts is based on ifigeanalysis of the receivables. At December 3112and 2012, the Compse
had no allowance for doubtful accounts.
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Inventory

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost onestd realizable value. The Company capitalizesritory costs associated with the Company
products when, based on managensejttigment, future commercialization is considgrezbable and the future economic benefit is expul
to be realized; otherwise, such costs are expeasedsearch and development. Inventory is evaldateithpairment periodically to identi
inventory that may expire prior to expected salehas a cost basis in excess of its estimated adddizvalue. If certain batches or unit:
product no longer meet quality specifications ocdmee obsolete due to expiration, the Company recarccharge to write down st
unmarketable inventory to its estimated realizailee.

Property, Plant and Equipmer

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cestpfhaccumulated depreciation. Depreciation is/ioled on a straighline method over tf
estimated useful lives of the various asset clasBes estimated useful lives are as follows: 5 gdar laboratory equipment; 3 yedis
computer equipment; and 7 ye#éos furniture and fixtures. Leasehold improvemesnts amortized over the shorter of the estimatetlulibees
of the assets or the lease term. Maintenance,rsepiadl minor replacements are charged to experisewased.

Revenue Recognitio
Revenue is recognized when persuasive evidence afrangement exists, delivery has occurred, thasféixed or determinable, collectabi
is reasonably assured, title and risk of loss Hmeen transferred to the customer and there arertieef contractual obligations.

Certain arrangements may provide for multiple detables, in which there may be a combination offrapt licenses; research, developm
regulatory or other services; and delivery of prdiultiple deliverable arrangements can be digidtdo separate units of accounting if
deliverables in the arrangement meet the follovanitgria: (i) the delivered item(s) have value he tustomer on a standalone basis and
circumstances in which an arrangement includesnergé right of return with respect to deliveredritg then performance of the remair
deliverables must be considered probable and sufzdta in control of the Company. If multiple deérables cannot be divided into sepe
units of accounting then the deliverables mustdyelined into a single unit of accounting.

Total consideration in a multiple deliverable agament is allocated to units of accounting on atined fair value of selling price bas
Consideration allocated to a delivered item or oh#ccounting is limited to the amount that is comtingent upon delivery of additional iter

Direct costs incurred by the Company and associaifid the deferral of revenue for a unit of accaogtwill also be deferred and will
recognized as expenses over the same period thegltiied deferred revenue is recognized as revenue

Subject to the above, payments for developmenvitie are recognized as revenue as earned, oeepéhiod of effort. Funding for t
acquisition of capital assets under cost-glescontracts or grants is evaluated for approprietognition as a reduction to the cost of thet:
a financing arrangement, or revenue based on #mfgpterms of the related grant or contract.

For the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, ahtl 28venues from NIH and BARDA were 100% , 100% 86%, respectively, of tot
revenues recognized by the Company.

Research and Developme

Research and development expenses include cogstlgiattributable to the conduct of research aedgetbpment programs, includi
employee related costs, materials, supplies, digti@e on and maintenance of research equipmeatctist of services provided by outs
contractors, including services related to the Camyfs clinical trials and facility costs, such as rarttlities, and general support services.
costs associated with research and developmenexaensed as incurred. Costs related to the adquisif technology rights, for whi
development work is still in process, and that hawalternative future uses, are expensed as eaurr

Goodwill

The Company evaluates goodwill for impairment aisteannually or as circumstances warrant. The impgait review process compares
fair value of the reporting unit in which goodwiisides to its carrying value. The Company operasesne business and one reporting
Therefore, the goodwill impairment analysis is parfed on the basis of the Company as a whole, usiegnarket capitalization of t
Company as an estimate of its fair value.
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Share-based Compensation

Stock-based compensation expense for all shased payment awards made to employees and dgdstdetermined on the grant date;
options awards, fair value is estimated using tleelBScholes model and for stock appreciation sgMSARS”), fair value is estimated usiny
Monte Carlo method. The value of the portion of éveard that is ultimately expected to vest is rdedras expense over the requisite se
periods in the Company’s consolidated statemenpefations.

These compensation costs are recognized net oftamaged forfeiture rate over the requisite senpegiods of the awards. Forfeitures
estimated on the date of the respective grantevidad if actual or expected forfeiture activityfelis from original estimates.

Income Taxes

The Company recognizes income taxes utilizing theetaand liability method of accounting for incotages. Under this method, defer
income taxes are recorded for temporary differefieseen financial statement carrying amounts aeddx basis of assets and liabilitie
enacted tax rates expected to be in effect foy#aes in which the differences are expected torseveA valuation allowance is established
is more likely than not that some or the entireedefd tax asset will not be realized. The recognitf a valuation allowance for deferred te
requires management to make estimates and judgmaleots the Company’s future profitability which améerently uncertain.

Net Loss per Shar

The objective of basic earning per share (“ERS'tp measure the performance of an entity overdperting period by dividing income (lo
by the weighted average shares outstanding. Thecilg of diluted EPS is consistent with that o§ibé&EPS, except that it also gives effe
all potentially dilutive common shares outstandituging the period.

The following is a reconciliation of the basic aditited net income (loss) per share computation:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Net (loss) income for basic EPS $ (17,17733) $ (14,059,53) $  29,099,57
Change in fair value of warrants — — 24,436,30
Net loss (income) for diluted EPS $ (17,177,33) $ (14,059,53) $ 4,663,27!
Weighted-average shares: basic 52,368,84 51,639,62 50,929,49
Effect of potential common shares — — 3,132,15!
Weighted-average shares: diluted 52,368,84 51,639,62 54,061,65
Earnings (loss) per share: basic $ (0.39 % 0.27) $ 0.57
Earnings (loss) per share: diluted $ (039 $ (0.27) $ 0.0¢
Anti-dilutive employee share-based awards, excluded — — 504,66¢

The diluted earnings per share calculation refldutseffect of the assumed exercise of outstangigants and any corresponding elimina
of the benefit included in operating results frdre thange in fair value of the warrants. Dilutedrsb outstanding include the dilutive effec
in-the-money options and warrants, unvested restrictetksdad restricted stock units. The dilutive effetisuch equity awards is calcula
based on the average share price for each fiscadpasing the treasury stock method. Under thastiey stock method, the amount
employee must pay for exercising stock options, dherage amount of compensation cost for futurgicethat the Company has not
recognized, and the amount of tax benefits thatlavdne recorded in additional paid-capital when the award becomes deductible
collectively assumed to be used to repurchase share
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The Company incurred losses for the years ende@reer 31, 2013 and 2012 whereas for the year eBdedmber 31, 2011, the Comp
had net income. For all periods presented, cedqinty instruments are excluded from the calcutatibdiluted earnings (loss) per share a:
effect of such shares is anti-dilutive. The weighawerage number of equity instruments excludedisbnf:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Stock Options 2,725,63; 2,865,86: 504,66¢
Stock-Settled Stock Appreciation Rights 439,05t 421,02( —
Restricted Stock Units 981,64! 351,01: —
Warrants 1,802,82I 2,263,53! —

As discussed in Note 5, the appreciation of eachRS®as capped at a determined maximum value. Assalt; the weighted average nurr
shown in the table above for stoskttled stock appreciation rights reflects the Wwidg average maximum number of shares that cot
issued.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying value of cash and cash equivalentsyuatts payable and accrued expenses approximatesafae due to the relatively sh
maturity of these instruments. Common stock wasramtich are classified as liabilities are recor@édheir fair market value as of ei
reporting period.

The measurement of fair value requires the usedfrtiques based on observable and unobservablts.ifphoservable inputs reflect mai
data obtained from independent sources, while wrehble inputs reflect our market assumptions. ifipats create the following fair val
hierarchy:

» Level 1 —-Quoted prices for identical instruments in activarkets

» Level 2 — Quoted prices for similar instrumeintactive markets; quoted prices for identicaliamigr instruments in markets that are
not active; and model-derived valuations where isauwe observable or where significant value ds\ae observable.

» Level 3 -nstruments where significant value drivers arehssovable to third partie

The Company uses modaérived valuations where inputs are observablefiveamarkets to determine the fair value of car@mmon stoc
warrants on a recurring basis and classify sucliamts in Level 2. The Company utilizes the Bl&dholes model consisting of the follow
variables: (i) the closing price of SIG&\'common stock; (ii) the expected remaining lifetted warrant; (iii) the expected volatility usin
weighted-average of historical volatilities fromcambination of SIGA and comparable companies; andtfe riskfree market rate.
December 31, 2013 and 2012, the fair value of svanants was as follows:

2013 2012
Common stock warrants, current $ 313,42 $ 333,79:
Common stock warrants, non-current — 657,24t
$ 313,42 $ 991,03¢

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company Adrsillion and $5.0 million outstanding, respeetiy from a loan entered into on
December 31, 2012 (refer to Note 6 for detailsk Tdir value of the loan, which is measured usiagdl 2 inputs, approximates book value at
December 31, 2013 and 2012.

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 &iGnot hold any Level 3 securities.

Legal Contingencie:

The Company is subject to certain contingenciesirayiin the ordinary course of business. The Compatords accruals for the
contingencies to the extent that a loss is botlhadste and reasonably estimable. If some amouniwéhange of loss appears to be a b
estimate than any other amount within the rangat, dmount is accrued. Alternatively, when no amouthin a range of loss appears to |
better estimate than any other amount, the lowestuat in the range is accrued. We record anticthadeoveries under existing insura
contracts when recovery is assured.
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Segment Informatior

The Company is managed and operated as one busiiesgntire business is managed by a single mamageteam that reports to the cl
executive officer. The Company does not operatarsép lines of business or separate businessesntitith respect to any of its prod
candidates. Accordingly, the Company does not peegiscrete financial information with respect &parate product areas or by location
only has one reportable segment.

Recent Accounting Pronouncemen

In February 2013, the Financial Accounting StandaBbard (“FASB”)issued new guidance on the reporting of reclasditios fron
accumulated other comprehensive income to net iecdine new guidance does not change the requirenf@mteporting net income or otl
comprehensive income in financial statements bqguires disclosures regarding the reclassificatibraecumulated other comprehen:
income by component into net income. The Compamgdoption of this guidance on January 2, 2013ndidhave a material effect on 1
financial statements.

In July 2013, the FASB issued new guidance on tha&ntial statement presentation of unrecognizedbenefit when a net operating |
carryforward, a similar tax loss, or a tax creditrgforward exists. The new guidance is effectigeffscal years, and interim periods wit
those years, beginning after December 15, 2013 Cidmepany does not anticipate a material impadieécQompanys financial position, resu
of operations or cash flows as a result of thimgea

3. Procurement Contract and Research Agreements
Procurement Contrac

On May 13, 2011, the Company signed a contract BRRDA (the “BARDA Contract”) pursuant to which SKzagreed to delivetwo million
courses of Arestvyr to the Strategic Stockpile. THese contract, worth approximately $463 millionngludes $54 millionrelated ti
development and supportive activities and contaersous options to be exercised at BARBAdiscretion. The period of performance
development and supportive activities runs unt@QAs originally issued, the BARDA Contract incigdan option for the purchase of uplt
million additional courses of Arestvyr; however, followiagrotest by a competitor of the Company, BARDAigzba contract modification
June 24, 2011 pursuant to which it deleted theoopd purchase the additional courses. Under thRBA Contract as modified, BARDA h
agreed to buy from SIGA 1.7 million courses of Avgs. Additionally, SIGA will contribute to BARDA 30,000 courses manufactur
primarily using federal funds provided by the U®partment of Health and Human Services (“HH®i}ler prior development contracts.
BARDA Contract as modified also contains optioret thill permit SIGA to continue its work on pediatand geriatric versions of the druc
well as use Arestvyr for smallpox prophylaxis. Assdribed in Note 14, the amount of profits SIGA wétain pursuant to the BARDA Contr
may be adversely affected by the outcome of Phalnerd’s action against SIGA.

In the fourth quarter of 2011, SIGA received appmately $41.0 millionin advance payments under the BARDA Contract. b fiburtt
quarter of 2012, SIGA received FDA concurrence wébpect to its product labeling strategy in acanog with the BARDA Contract a
received the related milestone payment of approtélye$12.3 million. In May 2013, after BARDA notified SIGA that theo@pany ha
successfully completed the milestone requiremeatsttie Final Drug Product Commercial Validation dbegs, the Company receive
milestone payment of approximately $8.2 millionn. 2013, in addition to the $8.2 milliomilestone payment, the Company rece
approximately $101.5 million from BARDA, of whiclpproximately $96.1 million was for the delivery 825,000courses of Arestvyr ai
approximately $5.4 million was for reimbursemeréted to research and development services anceiypactivities.

The BARDA Contract is a multiple deliverable arrantent comprising delivery of courses and coverséarh and development activit
The BARDA Contract provides certain product reptaeet rights with respect to delivered courses.tRigrreason, recognition of revenue
might otherwise occur upon delivery of coursesxigeeted to be deferred until the Compangbligations related to potential replacemel
delivered courses are satisfied. The Company asséiss selling price for each of the aforementiodeliverables research and developm
activities and drug product. The selling price eftain reimbursed research and development serviasdetermined by reference to exis
and past research and development grants and cnbatween the Company and various governmentcagernrhe selling price of dr
product was determined by reference to other Compasales of drug products such as antiviral therapgutirphan drugs and drugs v
potential life-saving impact similar to Arestvynciuding products delivered to the Strategic Stdekp

The Company has recognized revenue for reimburseafarertain BARDA Contract research and developnsenvices. Cash inflows rela
to delivery of courses will continue to be recordsddeferred revenue. In addition, direct costsriredd by the Company to fulfill the delivery
courses under the BARDA Contract are being defearetlwill be recognized as expenses over the samadpthat the related deferred reve
is recognized as revenue.
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As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, deferred direstscunder the BARDA Contract of approximately $2million and $2.8 million,
respectively, are included in deferred costs orctiresolidated balance sheets. As of December 313,2Be Company record&d 62.2 millior
of deferred revenue for the delivery of approxirhaté25,000 courses of Arestvyr to the Strategic Stockpile aedtain research a
development services provided as part of the BARIDuAtract. For the year ended December 31, 2018nwe/from reimbursed research
development was $1.2 million . In addition to tH&5;000courses of Arestvyr that were accepted by the &jratStockpile and resulted
payment, the Company also delivered 195,000 cowtses cost to BARDA in accordance with the BARDAr®ract, of which 62,000ere
accepted in 2013 and 133,000 were accepted in 2014,

In February 2014, the Company delivered approximag56,000 courses of Arestvyr accepted into the Strategicckgtite, of whict
approximately 192,000 courses will be invoiced$26.4 million and the remainder will be at no dosBARDA.

Research Agreemen

The Company obtains funding from the contracts graahts it obtains from various agencies of the G8vernment to support its research
development activities. Currently, the Company ¢ contract and twgrants with varying expiration dates through JUl @ that provide fc
potential future aggregate research and developfoading for specific projects of approximately $4 3nillion . This amount includes, amc
other things, options that may or may not be esertiat the U.S. governmesntliscretion. Moreover, the contract and grantganrcustomar
terms and conditions including the U.S. Governneeright to terminate or restructure a grant foreamence at any time.

4. Stockholders’ Equity

On December 31, 2013, the Company’s authorizedestegital consisted of 110,000,000 shares, of whith000,00G@re designated comm
shares and 10,000,000 are designated preferredssiidre Compang’'Board of Directors is authorized to issue pref@ishares in series w
rights, privileges and qualifications of each sedetermined by the Board.

At December 31, 2013 and 2012, the fair marketevafuoutstanding liability classified warrants v&813,425 and $991,03%espectively. Tt
Company applied the Blacgeholes model to calculate the fair values of #spective derivative instruments using the cortigdderm of th
warrants. Management estimates the expected viylating a combination of the Compashistorical volatility and the volatility of a gup
of comparable companies.

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 201Zdhmpany recorded a loss of $73,756 and a gai8@4 $16related to net changes in 1
value for liability classified warrants outstandidgring the respective periods.

On April 30, 2013, SIGA entered into a Services e&nent with MacAndrews & Forbes LLC (“M&F™jor certain professional a
administrative services. The Services Agreementahi@sm of thregears. As consideration for the Services AgreenfI@A issued warran
to M&F to acquire 250,000 shares of common stoclaratexercise price of $3.2%r share. The warrants are fully vested, immeli
exercisable and remain exercisable for two yeasmfissuance. The grant-date fair value, determungidg the BlackScholes model
previously described, is recorded as an asset avitbrresponding increase to equity. The asset trtem@d over the contractual term of
warrant.

2008 Financing

On June 19, 2008, SIGA entered into a letter agea¢ifas amended, the “Letter Agreemetitgt expired on June 19, 2010, with MacAndr
& Forbes LLC (“M&F"), a related party, for M&F’s gomitment to invest, at SIGA’s discretion or at M&Foption, up to $8 milliorin
exchange for (i) SIGA common stock and (ii) warsattt purchase 40%f the number of SIGA shares acquired by M&F. Imgideration fc
the commitment of M&F reflected in the Letter Agneent, on June 19, 2008, M&F received warrants tehmse 238,008hares of SIG,
common stock, initially exercisable at $3.06 (tf@ofmmitment Warrants”)The Commitment Warrants were exercisable until JLée201Z
On June 19, 2012, the Commitment Warrants were deteto extend expiration to June 19, 2014. Duesttam antidilution provisions, th
Commitment Warrants are recorded as a liability] eansequently the “mark-to-markettijustment to the fair value from the extended
was accounted immediately upon modification.

In 2009, SIGA issued to M&F 816,993 shares of comrstock and 326,797 warrants (the “2009 Warranis”acquire common stock
exchange for total proceeds of $2.5 million . Thenants were exercisable for a term of four yeamfissuance for an exercise priceb8f51¢
per share. The 2009 Warrants were not exercise@sadesult expired during the year ended DeceBhez013.

On June 18, 2010, M&F notified SIGA of its intentito exercise its right to invest $5.5 milligihe remaining amount available under
Letter Agreement following earlier investments antered into a Deferred Closing and Registratiogh®i Agreement dated as of June
2010 with the Company. On July 26, 2010, upon feation of certain customary closing conditiongliring
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the expiration of the applicable waiting period suant to the Hart-ScoRedino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as anehdM&F
funded the $5.5 million purchase price to SIGA ktleange for the issuance of (i) 1,797,38fres of common stock and (ii) warrant
purchase 718,954 shares of SIGA common stock akarcise price of $3.519 per share; the warrargsgercisable for a term of foyear:
from issuance.

The number of shares issuable pursuant to the miargganted under the Letter Agreement, as welagxercise price of those warrants,
be subject to adjustment as a result of the effefiiture equity issuances on certain anti-dilugwavisions in the related warrant agreements.

2006 Placements
In 2006, the Company issued 1,000,000 warrants antlnitial exercise price of $4.99 per share (@06 Warrants”)As of December 3
2013, there are no remaining 2006 Warrants asalbinces were either exercised or expired durmdpilrth quarter of 2013.

The Company accounted for the warrants in accorlavith the authoritative guidance which requirest theestanding derivative financi
instruments that require net cash settlement tesifiled as assets or liabilities at the time oftth@saction, and recorded at their fair value.
changes in the fair value of the derivative instemts are reported in earnings or loss as longeaddhivative contracts are classified as ass
liabilities.

5. Stock Compensation Plans

The Company’s 2010 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2814n") was initially adopted in May 2010. The 2010 Planvled for the issuance
stock options, restricted stock and unrestrictedksivith respect to an aggregate of 2,000,000 shaféhe Compang Common Stock
employees, consultants and outside directors oCtiapany. On May 17, 2011, the 2010 Plan was antetal@rovide for the issuance
restricted stock units (“RSUsgnd on February 2, 2012, the 2010 Plan was ametodeabvide for the issuance of SARs. Effective AR5,
2012, the 2010 Plan was amended to increase thenmaxnumber of shares of Common Stock availableidsuance to an aggregate
4,500,000shares. The vesting period for awards granted utidef010 Plan, except those granted to outsiceetdirs, is determined by
Compensation Committee of the Board of Directotse Tompensation Committee also determines the aiqirdate of each equity awe
however, stock options and SARs may not be exdi@saore than ten years after the date of granth@snaximum term of equity awa
issued under the 2010 Plan is ten years.

For the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 antl, #4 Company recorded stobised compensation expense, including stock of
SARs, RSUs and certain warrant amortization, of@xdmately $2.3 million , $1.8 million and $12.51wn , respectively.

Stock Options
Stock option awards provide holders the right techase shares of Common Stock at prices deterntipelle Compensation Committee
must have an exercise price equal to or in excebedair market value of the Company’s commorcktat the date of grant.

The fair value of option grants were estimatechatdate of grant during the years ended Decemhe2®B, 2012, and 2011 based upor
following range of assumptions:

2013 2012 2011
Expected volatility 67% 7% 76%
Expected dividend yield —% —% —%
Risk-free interest rate 0.84% -1.29% 0.98% -1.24% 1.94%
Expected life 6 year 6 year 6 year

Expected volatility has been estimated using a d¢oation of the Companyg’ historical volatility and the historical volatili of a group c
comparable companies, both using historical peraafgvalent to the optiongxpected lives. The expected dividend yield assiamp$ base
on the Company’s intent not to issue a dividenthaforeseeable future. The rifke interest rate assumption is based upon olsémteres
rates for securities with maturities approximatihg options’expected lives. The expected life was estimateddas historical experience ¢
expectation of employee exercise behavior in theréugiving consideration to the contractual teohthe award.
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A summary of the Company’s stock option activityssfollows:

Weighted Weighted
Average Average Aggregate
Number of Exercise Remaining Life Intrinsic Value
Options Price (in years) (in thousands)
Outstanding at January 1, 2013 2,902,700 $ 4.2¢
Granted 27,00( 3.87
Exercised (506,62 1.37
Canceled/Expired (69,455 4.0€
Outstanding at December 31, 2013 2,353,631 $ 4.91 5.09 $ 849,95(
Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2013 2,343,41. % 4.91 5.10 $ 844,33:
Exercisable at December 31, 2013 2,013,96 $ 5.0¢ 4.99 $ 663,12

As of December 31, 2013, $189,000 of total renmgininrecognized stodkased compensation cost related to stock optioaggscted to t
recognized over the weighted-average remainingiséguservice period of 1.06 years. The total failue of vested stock options w$e.€
million , $0.9 million and $2.2 million for the yemended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, regplycti

The total intrinsic value of stock options exerdiseas $959,000 , $5,000 and $12.3 millfon the years ended December 31, 2013, 201.
2011, respectively. The intrinsic value represéimésamount by which the market price of the undegystock exceeds the exercise price ¢
option.

The weighted average fair value at the date oftgi@nstock options granted during the years endedember 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011
$2.34, $1.77 and $7.01 .

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, 500,000 of thengamys outstanding options, respectively, were subjecspecific performant
conditions consisting of minimum cash receiptsghoéds and regulatory approval of our lead druglchate. During the year ended Decen
31, 2013, the performance conditions relating toimum cash receipts were achieved making 30000the aforementioned optic
exercisable. The remaining 200,00ptions with performance conditions relating toulagory approval have not been achieved, thus
options are not exercisable at December 31, 2013.

Stock Appreciation Right

Stock-settled stock appreciation rights (“SSARgsfpvide holders the right to purchase shares of @omStock at prices determined by
Compensation Committee and must have an exerdise @qual to or in excess of the fair market valtithe Companys common stock at t
date of grant. Upon exercise, the gain, or intdnsilue, is settled by the delivery of SIGA stockhie employee.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Coyngeanted 1.4 million shares of SSARs at a weiglaieerage grantate fair value ¢
$0.68per share. The exercise price of a SSAR is equélet@losing market price on the date of grant. Gtemted SSARs vest in equal ani
installments over a period of three years and expir later than seven yedrem the date of grant. Moreover, the appreciatbeach SSAI
was capped at a determined maximum value. At Deeei®b, 2013 and 2012, due to the cap on value #edmum number of shares t
could be issued in the future was 407,705 and 453,4espectively.

The fair value of granted SSARs has been estimatiéiding a Monte Carlo method. The Monte Carlo heet is a statistical simulati
technique used to provide the gralatte fair value of an award. As the issued SSARs wapped at maximum values, such attribute
considered in the simulation. The following tabtegents the weighted-average assumptions utiliz#tki valuations:

2012
Expected volatility 71%
Expected life from grant date 4.5 year
Expected dividend yield —%
Risk-free interest rate 0.61%

The Company calculates the expected volatility gisircombination of SIGA historical volatility and the volatility of a gup of comparab
companies. The expected life from grant date whated based on the expectation of exercise behavi
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consideration of the maximum value and contradierah of the SSARs. The dividend yield assumptiobased on the Comparsyintent not t
issue a dividend in the foreseeable future. Thie-frise interest rate assumption is based upon oldednterest rates appropriate for
expected life of the SSARs.

A summary of the Company’s SSAR activity is asdals:

Weighted Weighted
Average Average Aggregate
Number of Exercise Remaining Life  Intrinsic Value
SSARs Price (in years) (in thousands)
Outstanding at January 1, 2013 1,420,95 $ 3.5t
Granted — —
Exercised (8,750 3.5¢
Canceled/Expired (101,30) 3.5¢
Outstanding at December 31, 2013 1,310,900 $ 3.52 5.09 $ —
Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2013  1,285,29° $ 3.5¢ 5.09 $ —
Exercisable at December 31, 2013 459,68« $ 3.5¢ 509 $ —

As of December 31, 2013 , $302,000 of total renmgninrecognized stodkased compensation cost related to SSARs is expectde
recognized over the weighted-average remainingiséguservice period of 1.09 years. The total f@ilue of vested SSARs was $317,01,
and $0 for the years ended December 31, 2013, @0d2011, respectively. The total intrinsic valfieS8ARs exercised was $4,000 , $x
$0for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 antl, 284pectively. The intrinsic value representsatmunt by which the market price
the underlying stock exceeds the exercise priceRFAR.

Restricted Stock Awards/Restricted Stock Ut
RSUs awarded to employees vest in equal annuallimgints over a thregear period and RSUs awarded to directors of thag@my vest ov
a one-year period. A summary of the Company’s R&wity is as follows:

Weighted

Average

Number of Grant-Date

RSUs Fair Value
Outstanding at January 1, 2013 460,000 $ 2.82
Granted 775,00( 2.9¢
Vested (253,33) 2.6¢
Canceled/Expired (15,000 2.82
Outstanding at December 31, 2013 966,66¢ $ 2.9¢

As of December 31, 2013 , $1.7 million of total mmng unrecognized stodkased compensation cost related to RSUs is expéatbe
recognized over the weighted-average remainingiségservice period of 1.6years. The weighted average fair value at the afatgant fo
restricted stock awards granted during the yeale@®ecember 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 was $2.982 $2d $14.2@er share, respective
The total fair value of restricted stock and resétl stock units vested during the years ended rhleee 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 wi&7
million , $0 and $10.0 million .
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Warrants
A summary of the Company’s warrant activity is akofws:

Number of Weighted Average

Warrants Exercise Price
Outstanding at January 1, 2013 2,253,90. $ 3.3C
Granted 250,00( 3.2¢
Exercised (815,56¢) 2.92
Canceled/Expired (472,109 3.81
Outstanding at December 31, 2013 1,216,220 $ 3.3¢

Warrants represent the right to purchase shar€smwimon Stock at contractual exercise prices. A3emfember 31, 2013, all outstanding
warrants are exercisable.

6. Debt

In December 2012, the Company entered into a lga@eanent (“Loan Agreement”) with General Electrigplal Corporation (“GE Capita)l”
to provide the Company a term loan of $5.0 millwith a fixed interest rate of 9.85% per annum améwalving line of credit of7.0 millior
with a variable interest rate. Borrowings under éeolving line of credit are based on eligible stahding accounts receivable and will |
interest at a rate per annum equal to 5.25% plkdidpher of: (a) 1.50% , and (b) thremnth LIBOR divided by a defined factor. The terf
the loan is three years.

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, $4.0 million #6d million, respectively, was outstanding. Under the Loaneagrent, the Compa
may draw down from the revolving line of credit igp85%o0f qualified eligible accounts receivable as désatiin the Loan Agreement. As
December 31, 2013 and 2012, no amounts were alaitabborrow against the revolving line of cred#t there were no eligible accou
receivable.

Under the Loan Agreement, the Company was requmemhake interestnly monthly payments from February 2013 througheJ2013
Monthly payments of $167,000 in principal plus amt interest commenced on July 1, 2013.

The loan is collateralized by substantially allté Companys assets other than Arestvyr or any intellectuaperty related to Arestvyr. T
Loan Agreement contains affirmative and negatiweoants including certain customary financial cargs. The Company was in complia
with all financial debt covenants as of December281l3 and 2012.

In connection with securing the Loan Agreement, @mmpany incurred approximately $386,0000debt issue costs which are recorde
deferred costs and allocated between other cuassdts and other assets. Furthermore, the Compangrad $90,00@f costs which wel
accounted for as a debt discount and thus, arededas a direct reduction of the face amount efdbbt. The debt issue costs and
discount will be amortized to interest expense dlerterm of the Loan Agreement.

The aggregate amount of required principal paymanBecember 31, 2013 are as follows:

2014 $ 2,000,00t
2015 2,000,001

Unamortized discount (41,22¢)
Total $ 3,958,77.
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7. Related Party Transactions

On December 1, 2009, the Company entered into diteOServices Agreement with an affiliate of M&F ticcupy office space f
approximately $8,000 per month. An amendment irlaly 2012 increased the monthly payment to $12t0G{ppropriately reflect expanc
use of space. The Office Services Agreement wasebaah effective March 31, 2013.

In October 2012, the Company funded a letter afliciend deposit to take advantage of a lease fareo§pace secured by an affiliate of M
from a third party landlord on behalf of the CompaRursuant to such letter of credit, in January®the Company entered into a sublea
which the Company will pay all costs associatedlie lease, including rent. All payments madehgy@ompany pursuant to the sublease
either be directly or indirectly made to the thpdrty landlord and not retained by M&F or any #dfié. The new sublease replaced the cu
Office Services Agreement that is described inpgtevious paragraph, and occupancy commenced oth B2D13. The sublease allows fc
free rent period of five months beginning April2013; subsequent to the free rent period, montty payments are $60,000 for the ffise
years an$63,000 for the next twgears. Upon expiration on September 1, 2020, théeage and lease provides for two consecutiveyfds
renewal options.

A member of the Company’s Board of Directors is entber of the Compang’outside counsel. During the years ended DeceBihe?013
2012 and 2011, the Company incurred costs of $1l&m, $2.0 million and $3.1 million respectively, related to services provided by
outside counsel. On December 31, 2013, the Companystanding payables included $200,000 payaliteetoutside counsel.

8. Inventory

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Coyngelivered approximately 787,0@durses accepted into the Strategic Stockpile;to
the deferral of revenue under the BARDA Contraefgir to Note 2), amounts that would be otherwismmed as cost of goods sold
delivered courses are recorded as deferred codfseialance sheet. The value of inventory repteséte costs incurred to manufac
Arestvyr under the BARDA Contract. Certain of thdséing units of Arestvyr were initially manufaced prior to the point at which futt
commercialization was probable; thus, such cost exgEensed as research and development in thosectegpperiods. Additional cos
incurred to complete production of courses of Anaswill be recorded as inventory and reclassifteddeferred costs upon delivery to
extent related revenue is deferred.

Inventory consisted of the following at Decembey 3113 and 2012:

2013 2012
Work in-process $ 6,152,19: $ 17,641,92
Finished goods 14,363,15 —
Inventory $ 20,515,34 $ 17,641,92

For the year ended December 31, 2012, researctieargdopment expense included inventory write-doafr80.5 million.
9. Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment consisted of the¥atig at December 31, 2013 and 2012:

2013 2012

Laboratory equipment $ 2,473,421 $ 2,305,411
Leasehold improvements 3,166,62. 2,817,122
Computer equipment 655,36 458,42:
Furniture and fixtures 488,16¢ 345,28
6,783,58: 5,926,24

Less - accumulated depreciation (5,401,50) (4,938,37)
Property, plant and equipment, net $ 1,382,070 $ 987,86

Depreciation and amortization expense on propptant, and equipment was $463,137 , $419,358 $868,288 for the years ended
December 31,2013, 2012, and 2011, respectivelytHeoyear ended December 31, 2011, in additiorepweatiation and amortization expense,
the Company incurred non-cash charges of $25,080rinection with disposals of fixed assets.
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10. Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities isted of the following at December 31, 2013 and201

2013 2012
Loss contingency $ 2,635,27! 2,491,98
Bonus — 250,00(
Professional fees 794,27" 579,60!
Vacation 252,41( 328,46:
Other 1,160,43! 633,79t
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities $ 4,842,39. 4,283,84
11. Income Taxes
At December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company's goov{®enefit) for income taxes is comprised of fiblélowing:
2013 2012 2011
Current:
Federal $ 1,608,03 $ — —
State and local 373,45! 3,64¢ 20,33:
Total current provision (benefit) 1,981,48: 3,64¢ 20,33:
Deferred:
Federal (10,072,49) (7,557,16) (35,493,31)
State and local 472,57 (290,639 (558,66)
Total deferred provision (benefit) (9,599,92) (7,847,80) (36,051,97)
Total provision (benefit) $ (7,618,43) $ (7,844,15) (36,031,64)
At December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company’s d=daax assets and liabilities are comprised ofdhHewing:
2013 2012
Deferred income tax assets:
Net operating losses $ 7,750,69i 36,764,90
Deferred research and development costs 2,278,39 2,950,55!
Amortization of intangible assets 1,342,55! 1,572,28
Share-based compensation 2,166,12! 1,768,99
Depreciation 604,97: 709,18:
Deferred revenue 48,685,08 4,403,261
Alternative minimum tax credits 1,608,03. —
Loss contingency 942,52¢ 892,12¢
Other 554,77 212,48:
Deferred income tax assets 65,933,16 49,273,78
Less: valuation allowance (4,442,92) (4,328,23)
Deferred income tax assets, net of valuation alfmea $ 61,490,23 $ 44,945,55
Deferred income tax liabilities:
Amortization of goodwiill (224,909 (203,68))
Capitalized contract costs (7,940,79) (1,017,26)
Deferred income tax assets, net $ 5332453 § 43,724,60

As of December 31, 2013, $23.5 milliéederal net operating loss carryforwards which exj 2021 to 2032 was available to offset tax

income. As a result of a cumulative change in smgkership occurring in a prior year, approximat&dy1l million
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of the federal net operating loss carryforwards subject to annual limitation under IRC Section 382 addition, the utilization 1
approximately $1.6 million of federal net operatilogses attributable to excess tax deductions areffased compensation activity will
realized as a benefit to Additional PamdCapital when such deductions are applied tormedaxes payable. In 2012, previously avail
NOLs of approximatel$1.2 million expired.

For the year ended December 31, 2012, the Companyred net losses for tax purposes and conseguestbgnized an income tax benefi
$7.8 million . For the year ended December 31, 2614 benefit from income taxes of $36.0 milliorainly reflects net losses as well ¢
partial reduction of its valuation allowance asign#icant portion of the Company’s deferred tasets became realizable onadre likely
than not” basis primarily as a result of the exierubf the BARDA Contract and forecasts of pa&-earnings. Prior to June 30, 2011,
Company provided a tax valuation allowance on onitddl States federal and state deferred tax alsasexi on the Comparsyevaluation th
such assets were not “more likely than not” todmdized.

As of December 31, 2013, a valuation allowancepgfraximately $4.4 milliorrelates to certain deferred tax assets that thep@oyndoes ni
expect to realize on a more likely than not basise recognition of a valuation allowance for deddrtaxes requires management to r
estimates and judgments about the Comgafuture profitability which are inherently uncenaThis includes assessing available positive
negative evidence to determine if sufficient futtare income will be generated to utilize existirgfetred tax assets. If the current estimat
future taxable income are reduced or not realiftrdexample, based on the outcome in PharmAtherésn against the Company describe
Note 13, the Compars assessment regarding the realization of defeaedssets could change. Future changes in theatst amount
deferred taxes expected to be realized will beectéld in the Company’financial statements in the period the estimstehianged with
corresponding adjustment to operating results. @asun estimates may occur often and can havendisant favorable or unfavorable imp
on the Company’s operating results from periodanqul.

The Company’s effective tax rate differs from th&UFederal Statutory income tax rate of 35% devis!:

2013 2012 2011

Statutory federal income tax rate (35.0% (35.0% (35.0%
State tax benefit 2.8% (1.9% 0.2%
Gain (loss) from fair value of common warrants 0.1% (1.9% (123.9%
Share-based compensation 0.4% 0.86% 24.¢%
Other 0.2% 0.E% 1.4%
Valuation allowance on deferred tax assets 0.€% 0.E% (387.6%

Effective tax rate (30.9)% (35.9% (519.9%

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 201Zdh®any's effective tax rate differs from the i@ty rate principally due to state ¢
local taxes and other permanent differences. k®year ended December 31, 2011, the Companydieffdax rate differs from the fede
statutory rate due to the partial reversal of @kiation allowance as certain deferred tax assatarbe realizable on a more-likelyan basis ¢
well as the decrease in the fair value of commonkstvarrants which is not deductible for tax pugms

The Company applies the applicable authoritatividajice which prescribes a comprehensive modeh®ntanner in which a company shc
recognize, measure, present and disclose in isdial statements all material uncertain tax pms#ithat the Company has taken or expe:
take on a tax return. The Company has no tax pasitior which it is reasonably possible that thaltamounts of unrecognized tax ben:
will significantly increase or decrease within tweimonths from December 31, 2013. The Company fildsral income tax returns and incc
tax returns in various state and local tax jurigdits. The open tax years for U.S. federal, statklacal tax returns is generally 2012013
open tax years relating to unused net operating dasryforwards (“NOLs"pegin in 1998. In the event that the Company cateduhat it i
subject to interest and/or penalties arising frameeutain tax positions, the Company will presernéri@st and penalties as a compone
income taxes. No amounts of interest or penaltiesewecognized in the Compasyconsolidated financial statements for each ofy#aas il
the three-year period ended December 31, 2013.
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12. Restructuring

In the fourth quarter of 2013, the Company begaroptimization program to increase efficiencies witits operations (theOptimizatior
Program”).This program, which included a reduction in emp®yradcount, is intended to align the Companysuress, staff and effo
with the most promising growth opportunities. Witte implementation of the Optimization Program, @@mpany is targeting $6 million
reduction in annual operating expenses, of whishlestantial portion of the reduction has been implated at December 31, 2013. For the
ended December 31, 2013, the Company recordedraatesing charge of 512,944 which included a naskcasset impairment for the write:
off of certain prepaid assets. The following tadlenmarizes the activity for the restructuring:

Accrued as of

Accrued as of December 31,
January 1, 2013 Charges Payments Non-Cash Items 2013
Severance Charges $ — 3 324,61 $ (206,38") $ — 3 118,23(
Asset Impairments — 188,32¢ — (188,329 —
$ — 3 512,94: $ (206,38Y) $ (188,329 $ 118,23(

13. Commitments and Contingencies
Operating lease commitments

The Company leases its Corvallis, Oregon, facditied office space under an operating lease, raoshtly amended in November 2012, w|
expires in 2017 and includes a renewal option foegtension of five yearsin January 2013, we entered into a sublease amithffiliate o
M&F for corporate office space under an operatiegse which commenced in April 2013 and expires0B02(refer to Note 9 for furth
description of the lease arrangement). The respeldases contain annual escalation clauses, répeswasions and generally require us to
utilities, insurance, taxes and other operatingeesps. Rental expense, including charges for nmainte, utilities, real estate taxes and «
operating expenses, totaled $1.4 million , $1.0iomland $827,000 for the years ended Decembe2(@®13, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Future minimum rental commitments under non-cafdelaperating leases as of December 31, 2013 @ected to be as follows:

2014 $ 1,602,84!
2015 1,622,50:
2016 1,642,17
2017 1,661,84.
2018 734,36(
Thereafter 1,268,441

Total $ 8,532,16!
Other

In December 2006, PharmAthene, Inc. (“PharmAthefildl an action against SIGA in the Delaware Cafir€hancery (the “Court” orCourt
of Chancery”) captioned PharmAthene, Inc. v. SIG&chAnologies, Inc., C.A. No. 262¥- In its amended complaint, PharmAthene aske
Court to order the Company to enter into a liceagreeement with PharmAthene with respect to28%; now also known as Arestvyr, to dec
that the Company is obliged to execute such adieagreement, and to award damages resulting fref@dmpanys supposed breach of t
obligation. PharmAthene also alleged that the Campgmeached an obligation to negotiate such a dieeagreement in good faith, and so
damages for promissory estoppel and unjust enriohinased on supposed information, capital, ancstassie that PharmAthene allege
provided to the Company during the negotiation pssc The Court tried the case in January 2011.

In September 2011, the Court issued its post-tgpahion. The Court denied PharmAthesmeequests for specific performance and expec!
damages measured by the present value of estirhated profits. Nevertheless, the Court held that Company breached its duty to nego
in good faith and was liable under the doctrinepadmissory estoppel. The Court consequently awatdeBharmAthene what the Cc
described as an equitable payment stream or etpiiiab consisting of fifty percerdf the net profits that the Company achieves frateso
ST-246 after the Company secures $40 miliiomet profits, for ten years following the firsbromercial sale. In addition, the Court awal
PharmAthene one-third of its reasonable attornfes and expert witness expenses.
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In May 2012, the Court entered its final order gunmdigment in this matter, implementing its pt$&l opinion. Among other things, the fii
order and judgment provided that (a) net profitsuldobe calculated in accordance with generally pismk accounting principles appl
consistently with how they are applied in the prafian of the Company’ financial statements, (b) the net profits calibofawould take int
account expenses relating to ST-246 commencing thighCompany’s acquisition of S36 in August 2004, and (c) PharmAthene c
recover $2.4 million of attorneys’ fees and expenges of December 31, 2013, SIGA has recorded @ $2lion loss contingency with respt
to the fee, expense and interest portion of thgrjueht.

In June 2012, the Company appealed to the Suprevud 6f the State of Delaware the final order amdigjment and certain earlier rulings
the Court of Chancery. Shortly thereafter, PharneAthfiled its crosappeal. The Company obtained a stay of enforcemkttie fee an
expense portion of the judgment by filing a sutetyd for the amount of the judgment plus post-judgiinterest. The Company postet:
million as collateral for the surety bond whichrézorded in other assets as of December 31, 20h@ parties briefed the issues, and ar
before the Delaware Supreme Court,en banc, on dat0a2013.

On May 24, 2013, the Supreme Court of Delawareeidsts decision, affirming the Delaware Court ofa@berys judgment in part, reversing
in part, and remanding to Vice Chancellor Parsdiee Supreme Court affirmed the Chancery Court deteation that the Company F
breached its contractual obligation to negotiatgdod faith; reversed the promissory estoppel hgldand, reversed the Vice Chancelor’
equitable damages award. The Supreme Court heldhéadrial judge may award expectation damagedfeach of the contractual duty
negotiate in good faith if such damages are pravitm reasonable certainty, and remanded to the &@hgrCourt for consideration of dama
consistent with that holding. The Supreme Count aéversed the Chancery Cosréiward of attorney fees and expert witness feeause the
were predicated in part on a now-reversed findihgatility on PharmAthene promissory estoppel claim. The Supreme Court tiedt the
Chancery Court could reevaluate on remand an aliemaward, if any, of attorneyfes and expert testimony expenses consistenttiad
Supreme Court’s opinion. Finally, the Supreme Cdiextlined to consider all claims raised in Pharnefiéis crossppeal because it affirm
the Chancery Cous’finding that the Company was liable for breachtagontractual obligation to negotiate in gooihfaOn June 11, 201
the Supreme Court issued its mandate to the Co@hancery with the decision described above.

On June 26, 2013, the parties appeared beforeGheamcellor Parsons to discuss the remand, at winehPharmAthene declared its desir
supplement the record with further evidence. Faihgnbriefing and argument on August 15, 2013, thar@ery Court granted PharmAthene’
motion to supplement the record and also allowedGbmpany to submit responsive evidence. On Decef®#9, 2013, the Court held
evidentiary hearing with respect to that evider@@e.January 15, 2014, after briefing on relevanidss the parties appeared for oral argu
regarding what if any remedy the Chancery Courtukhonpose in light of the remand by the SupremarCof Delaware.

No assurances can be given as to the Chancery’s determinations on remand.
From time to time, the Company is involved in digsuor legal proceedings arising in the ordinamyrse of business. The Company belit

that there is no dispute or litigation pending, eptcas discussed above, that could have, individaalin the aggregate, a material adv
effect on its financial position, results of op&as or cash flows.
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14. Financial Information By Quarter (Unaudited)

2013

Revenues

Selling, general and administrative
Research and development
Patent preparation fees
Restructuring charges

Operating loss

Net loss

Earnings (loss) per share: basic and diluted

2012

Revenues

Selling, general and administrative
Research and development
Patent preparation fees

Operating loss

Net loss

Earnings (loss) per share: basic and diluted

Three Months Ended

March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31
(in thousands, except for per share data)
1,32¢ % 96 $ 2,29: % 934
3,031 3,16¢€ 3,26¢ 3,78
3,64¢ 3,131 4,261 2,81¢
458 301 32¢ 33E
— — — 512
(5,807) (5,637 (5,562) (6,519
(4,87¢) (3,06 (4,90z2) (4,33¢)
0.09 % (0.06) $ 0.09 % (0.09)
Three Months Ended
March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31
(in thousands, except for per share data)
$ 1,46¢ $ 2,701 $ 2290 $ 2,51«
2,214 3,47¢ 3,13¢ 2,58
4,46t 5,18:% 4,17C 4,39¢
33€ 37€ 377 794
(5,549 (6,337) (5,39¢) (5,259
(4,616) (3,767) (3,05¢) (2,616)
$ 0.09 ¢ 0.07) ¢ 0.06) $ (0.09)
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accounté&on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Cligécutive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, &vated the effectiveness of «
disclosure controls and procedures as of DecembeP@®L3 in accordance with the framework laternal Control - Integrated Framework
(1992) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatafnhie Treadway Commission. The term “disclosuatmls and proceduress
defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 158e) under the Securities and Exchange Act of 188hagement recognizes that any disclosure ca
and procedures no matter how well designed andatgrgrcan only provide reasonable assurance oénbitheir objectives and managen
necessarily applies its judgment in evaluatingahe&t-benefit relationship of possible controls anacedures.

Based on that evaluation, our Chief Executive @ffamnd Chief Financial Officer have concluded that disclosure controls a
procedures were effective as of December 31, 2023easonable level of assurance.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportirg

There have been no changes in our internal coowen financial reporting during the quarter endest®mber 31, 2013 that materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materiallieaf, our internal control over financial reporting

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Finandal Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and taiaiing adequate internal control over financiglaing, as such term is defir
in Rule 13a-15(f) or Rule 1585(f) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1984ernal control over financial reporting is a pregelesigned
provide reasonable assurance regarding the réjabil financial reporting and the preparation ofaincial statements prepared for exte
purposes in accordance with generally accepteduatiog principles. Our internal control over finglcreporting includes those policies
procedures that:

a. pertain to the maintenance of records that, inarasle detail, accurately and fairly reflect thansactions and disposition of
Company’s assets;

b. provide reasonable assurance that transactionseapeded as necessary to permit preparation ohdiah statements in accorda
with generally accepted accounting principles, Hrad receipts and expenditures of the Company airgglmade only in accordar
with authorizations of management and the direabthe Company; and

c. provide reasonable assurance regarding preveotitimely detection of unauthorized acquisitiose or disposition of the Company’
assets that could have a material effect on tlenéial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or d@¢taisstatements. Also, projectic
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future pesiage subject to the risk that controls may becimagequate because of changes in condi
or that the degree of compliance with the policeprocedures may deteriorate.

The effectiveness of our internal control over fioial reporting as of December 31, 2013 has beditealiby PricewaterhouseCoof
LLP, an independent registered public accounting,fas stated in their report which appears herein.

Item 9B. Other Information
None.
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Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers, and Corporge Governance

Information required by this item is incorporategtdin by reference from our definitive proxy stagerinfor the 2014 Annual Meeti
of Stockholders.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Information required by this item is incorporategtdin by reference from our definitive proxy stagerinfor the 2014 Annual Meeti
of Stockholders.
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial @Qvners and Management and Related Stockholder Matter

Information required by this item is incorporatestdin by reference from our definitive proxy stagerfor the 2014 Annual Meeti
of Stockholders.

Equity Compensation Plan Information
The following table sets forth certain compensaptan information with respect to compensation plas of December 31, 2013:

Number of Securities to be Weighted-average Number of Securities
Issued Upon Exercise of Exercise Price of Available for Future
Outstanding Options, Outstanding Options, Issuance under Equity
Plan Category Warrants and Rights (1) Warrants and Rights Compensation Plans (2)
Equity compensation plans approved by
security holders 3,977,56. $ 4.2¢ 1,959,94.
Equity compensation plans not approved by
security holders — N/A —
Total 3,977,56. 1,959,94.

(1) Consists of the 1996 Incentive and Non-QuadifStock Option Plan and the 2010 Stock Incentiaa.P
(2) Consists of the 2010 Stock Incentive Plan.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transa@ns, and Director Independence

Information required by this item is incorporategtdin by reference from our definitive proxy stagerinfor the 2014 Annual Meeti
of Stockholders.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Information required by this item is incorporategtdin by reference from our definitive proxy stagerinfor the 2014 Annual Meeti
of Stockholders.

61




Table of Contents

PART IV

Iltem 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) (1) and (2). Financial Statements and Financi@tatements Schedule.

See Index to Financial Statements under Item & IPhereof where these documents are listed.

(@) (3). Exhibits.

The following is a list of exhibits:

Exhibit
No.

Description

3(a)

3(b)

3(c)

4(a)

4(b)

4(c)

4(d)

10(a)

10(b)

10(c)

10(d)

10(e)

10(f)

10(9)

Restated Articles of Incorporation of the Compamcdrporated by reference to the FornB Registration Statement of t
Company dated May 10, 2000 (No. 333-36682)).

Form of Certificate of Amendment of the Restatedtifieate of Incorporation of SIGA Technologies,cIn(incorporated b
reference to the Proxy Statement on Schedule 14hAeo€ompany dated June 15, 2007).

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company (incatpd by reference to the Annual Report on ForniK1df-the Compan
for the year ended December 31, 2008), as amenddtebAmendment to the Bylaws of the Company (ipooated by referenc
to the Current Report on Form 8-K of the Compatedfiviarch 12, 2009).

Form of Common Stock Certificate (incorporated bference to the Form SB-Registration Statement of the Company d
March 10, 1997 (No. 333-23037)).

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of Aug@st2D03, between the Company and MacAndrews & FoHb@dings Inc
(incorporated by reference to the Current Repoffamm 8-K of the Company filed on August 18, 2003).

Form of Warrant to purchase shares of common sté¢ke Company, issued to MacAndrews & Forbes, ldriCJune 19, 20(C
(incorporated by reference to the Current Repoffam 8-K of the Company filed on June 23, 2008).

Form of Consideration Warrant issued to MacAndrén=orbes, LLC on April 30, 2013 (incorporated byerence to the Curre
Report on Form 10-Q of the Company filed on May A1 3).

Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of Au@)s2d03, between the Company and MacAndrews & FRoHbadings Inc
(incorporated by reference to the Current Repoff@m 8-K of the Company filed on August 18, 2003).

Letter Agreement dated October 8, 2003 among thepgaay, MacAndrews & Forbes Holdings Inc. and TrawTPharma, In
(incorporated by reference to the Current Repoffa@mm 8-K of the Company filed on August 18, 2003).

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dateaf danuary 22, 2007, between the Company and BeaniHruby
(incorporated by reference to the Current Repoff@m 8-K of the Company filed on January 22, 2007)

Amended Employment Agreement dated December 311,26 January 27, 2007 Employment Agreement (asdat betwee
the Company and Dr. Hruby (incorporated by refeegiocthe Current Report on Fornk8sf the Company filed on December |
2011).

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dateaf danuary 22, 2007, between the Company and BeBniHruby
(incorporated by reference to the Current Repoffam 8-K of the Company filed on January 22, 2007)

Amended Employment Agreement dated December 311,20 January 27, 2007 Employment Agreement (asdat betwee
the Company and Dr. Hruby (incorporated by refeegiocthe Current Report on Fornk8sf the Company filed on December |
2011).

Letter Agreement, dated as of June 19, 2008, betwee Company and MacAndrews & Forbes, LLC (incoasped by referenc

tn tha Ciirrant Dannrt nn Enrn- nf tha Camnany filad an Tirina 22 200



10(h) Employment Agreement, dated as of January 31, 208ween the Company and Eric A. Rose (incorporbjereference to tk
Current Report on Form R-of the Company filed on January 31, 2007), asraied and restated (as set forth in the Cu

Report on Form 8-K of the Company filed on Novembgr2008).

10(i) Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated March2DD9, between the Company and Dennis E. Hruby f(porated b
reference to the Current Report on Form 8-K of@lenpany filed on March 12, 2009).
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10())

10(K)

10(l)

10(m)

10(n)

10(0)

10(p)

10(q9)

10(r)

10(s)

10(t)

10(u)

10(v)

10(w)

10(x)

Employment Agreement dated as of February 10, 26&tlyeen SIGA and Daniel J. Luckshire (incorpordigdeference to tk
Current Report on Form 8-K of the Company filedrabruary 16, 2011).

2010 Stock Incentive Plan dated May 13, 2010 (ipoated by reference to the Definitive Proxy Statetron Schedule 14A
the Company filed on April 12, 2010).

Amendment to the SIGA Technologies, Inc. 2010 Stodentive Plan (incorporated by reference to theréht Report on For
8-K of the Company filed on May 17, 2011).

Deferred Closing and Registration Rights Agreemdated as of June 18, 2010, between MacAndrews &dsoLLC and th
Company (incorporated by reference to the Curremdr on Form 8-K of the Company filed on JuneZZ?.0).

Contract dated as of May 13, 2011, between SIGAtardBiomedical Advanced Research and Developmeitihakity of the
United States Department of Health and Human Sesviportions of this exhibit have been omitted aeparately filed with th
Securities and Exchange Commission with a requestdnfidential treatment) (incorporated by refeeio the Current Repc
on Form 8-K of the Company filed on May 17, 2011).

Amendment of Solicitation/Modification of Contradated as of June 24, 2011, to Agreement dated B&apfl3, 2011, betwee
SIGA and the Biomedical Advanced Research and Dewetnt Authority of the United States Departmenitiefilth and Huma
Services (portions of this exhibit have been orditted separately filed with the Securities and Brge Commission with
request for confidential treatment) (incorporatgddference to the Current Report on Forid 8f the Company filed on June
2011).

Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated Januan2@@7, between the Company and Dr. Dennis Hruhgo(porated b
reference to the Current Report on Form 8-K ofGoenpany filed on December 27, 2011).

Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated Novemer2008, between the Company and Dr. Eric Rosefjiarated b
reference to the Current Report on Form 8-K ofGeenpany filed on January 13, 2012).

Amendment to the SIGA 2010 Stock Incentive Plaodiporated by reference to the Current Report amrK of the Compan
filed on February 2, 2012).

Director Compensation Program, effective Januarg012 (incorporated by reference to the DefinifRrexy Statement on For
DEF 14A of the Company filed on April 27, 2012).

Amendment of Solicitation/Modification of Contradated as of September 28, 2011, to Agreement detesf May 13, 201!
between SIGA and the Biomedical Advanced ReseardiDeevelopment Authority of the United States Dépant of Health an
Human Services (portions of this exhibit have bemiitted and separately filed with the Securitied &xchange Commissic
with a request for confidential treatment) (incagted by reference to the Current Report on Forr® Idf the Company filed ¢
May 7, 2012).

Amendment of Solicitation/Modification of Contradated as of October 7, 2011, to Agreement datedfdday 13, 2011
between SIGA and the Biomedical Advanced ReseardiDeevelopment Authority of the United States Dépant of Health an
Human Services (portions of this exhibit have bemitted and separately filed with the Securitied &@xchange Commissit
with a request for confidential treatment) (incalgded by reference to the Current Report on Forr@ ¥ the Company filed ¢
May 7, 2012).

Amendment of Solicitation/Modification of Contradated as of January 25, 2012 to Agreement, dateaf aday 13, 2011
between SIGA and the Biomedical Advanced ReseardiDevelopment Authority of the United States Dépent of Health an
Human Services (portions of this exhibit have bemiitted and separately filed with the Securitied &xchange Commissic
with a request for confidential treatment) (incalgded by reference to the Current Report on Forr@ ¥ the Company filed ¢
May 7, 2012).

Amendment of Solicitation/Modification of Contradated as of February 7, 2012, to Agreement, dasedfavay 13, 2011
between SIGA and the Biomedical Advanced ReseardiDeevelopment Authority of the United States Dépent of Health an
Human Services (incorporated by reference to thee@tiReport on Form 10-Q of the Company filed oayr, 2012).

Amendment to the SIGA 2010 Stock Incentive Plaodiporated by reference to the Current Report amrK of the Compan






10(aa)

10(bb)

10(cc)

14

21

23.1

31.1

31.2

32.1

32.2

Amendment of Solicitation/Modification of Contradated as of December 19, 2012, to Agreement, dsted May 13, 2011,
between SIGA and the Biomedical Advanced ReseardiDevelopment Authority of the United States Dépent of Health and
Human Services (portions of this exhibit have beeritted and separately filed with the Securitied Bmchange Commission
with a request for confidential treatment) (incaigded by reference to the Current Report on Forfi 5 the Company filed on
March 6, 2013).

Amendment of Solicitation/Modification of Contratated as of February 28, 2013, to Agreement, degeaaf May 13, 2011,
between SIGA and the Biomedical Advanced ReseardiDevelopment Authority of the United States Dépent of Health and
Human Services.

Amendment of Solicitation/Modification of Contradated as of April 9, 2013, to Agreement, datedfdday 13, 2011, between
SIGA and the Biomedical Advanced Research and Dewe¢nt Authority of the United States Departmenteélth and Human
Services.

The Company's Code of Ethics and Business Condhmrporated by reference to the Annual Report omF10KSB of the
Company for the year ended December 31, 2003).

Subsidiaries of the Registrant.
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriting.

Certification pursuant to Rule 13aKa) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934admpted pursuant to Section 302 of
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 — Chief Executive Office

Certification pursuant to Rules 134{a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934dmopted pursuant to Section 302 of
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 — Chief Financial Office

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbarksr@.ct of 2002 —Chief
Executive Officer.

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 13%0adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbarksr@ct of 2002 —Chief
Financial Officer.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this repot
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theoeduly authorized.

SIGA TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
(Registrant)

Date: March 10, 2014 By: /s Eric A. Rose
Eric A. Rose, M.D.
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpwhe following persons
behalf of the registrant and in the capacities@mthe dates indicated.

Signature Title of Capacities Date
/9 Eric A. Rose
Eric A. Rose, M.D. Chairman and Chief Executive Officer March 10, 2014

(Principal Executive Officer)

/s Daniel J. Luckshire

Daniel J. Luckshire Executive Vice President and March 10, 2014
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and
Principal Accounting Officer)

/s/ James J. Antal
James J. Antal Director March 10, 2014

/s Michael J. Bayer
Michael J. Bayer Director March 10, 2014

/9 William C. Bevins
William C. Bevins Director March 10, 2014

/9 Thomas E. Constance
Thomas E. Constance Director March 10, 2014

/4 Jeffrey Kindler

Jeffrey Kindler Director March 10, 2014
/s Joseph Mar shall

Joseph Marshall Director March 10, 2014
/9 Paul G. Savas

Paul G. Savas Director March 10, 2014

/9 Bruce Sovin
Bruce Slovin Director March 10, 2014

/9 Andrew Stern
Andrew Stern Director March 10, 2014




/9 Frances Fragos Townsend
Frances Fragos Townsend Director March 10, 2014

/s Michael Weiner, M.D.
Michael Weiner, M.D. Director

March 10, 2014
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AMENDMENT OF SOLICITATION/MODIFICATION OF CONTRA CT 1. CONTRACT ID CODE PAGE OF PAGES
N/A 1 2

2. AMENDMENT/MODIFICATION NO 3. EFFECTIVE DATE |4. REQUISITION/PURCHASE REQ. NO 5. PROJECT NO(f applicable)
Modification 0007 See Block 16 C N/A

6. ISSUED BY CODE N/A 7. ADMINISTERED BY I other than Item 6) CODE | N/A
DHHS/ASPR/AMCG
330 Independence Avenue, SW,

Room G640,
Washington, DC 20201

8. NAME AND ADDRESS OF CONTRACTORNo., street, county, State and ZI P Code) (X) |9A. AMENDMENT OF SOLICITATION NO.

SIGA TECHNOLOGIES, INC. 9B. DATED (SEEITEM 11)
35 E 62nd Street
New York, NY 10065

10A.MODIFICATION OF CONTRACT/ ORDER NO.
X HHSO0100201100001C

10B. DATED (SEE ITEM 13)
CODE N/A FACILITY CODE N/A 05/13/2011
11. THIS ITEM ONLY APPLIES TO AMENDMENTS OF SOLI CITATIONS

D The above numbered solicitation is amended a®&atin Item 14. The hour and date specified fareipt of OffersD is extendedD is not extended.

Offers must acknowledge receipt of this amendmeint o the hour and date specified in the solt@taor as amended, by one of the following meth@alsBy completing Items 8 and 15, and returning
____copies of the amendment; (b) By acknowledgingipta# this amendment on each copy of the offemsitted; or (c) By separate letter or telegram whittiudes a reference to the solicitation and
amendment numbers. FAILURE OF YOUR ACKNOWLEDGEMEND BE RECEIVED AT THE PLACE DESIGNATED FOR THE REGE OF OFFERS PRIOR TO THE HOUR AND DATE
SPECIFIED MAY RESULT IN REJECTION OF YOUR OFFER by virtue of this amendment, you desire to chamyeffer already submitted, such change may be foadelegram or letter, provided
each telegram or letter makes reference to theistion and this amendment, and is received poidne opening hour and date specified.

12. ACCOUNTING AND APPROPRIATION DATA (f required ) N/A

13. THIS ITEM APPLIES ONLY TO MODIFICATIONS OF C ONTRACTS/ORDERS, IT MODIFIES THE CONTRACT/ORDER NO. AS DESCRIBED IN ITEM
14.

(U) | A. THIS CHANGE ORDER IS ISSUED PURSUANT TQ%pecify authority) THE CHANGES SET FORTH IN ITEM 14 ARE MADE IN THEONTRACT ORDER
NO. IN ITEM 10A.

B. THE ABOVE NUMBERED CONTRACT/ORDER IS MODIFIED TREFLECT THE ADMINISTRATIVE CHANGES @uch as changesin paying office,
appropriation date, etc. ) SET FORTH IN ITEM 14, PURSUANT TO THE AUTHORITY IOFAR 43.103(b).

C. THIS SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENT IS ENTERED INTO PURBNT TO AUTHORITY OF:
X FAR 52.243-2 Changes — Fixed Prideg987) and mutual agreement of the Parties

D. OTHER (Specify type of modification and authority )

E. IMPORTANT: Contractor [] is not, [X] is required sign this document and return _Xopies to the issuing office.

14. DESCRIPTION OF AMENDMENT/MODIFICATION Organized by UCF section headings, including solicitation/contract subject matter where feasible)
PURPOSE: To revise Section F.2. Place and Method of Deliferythe purpose of delivering the first 5004 treant courses under CLIN 0001.

FUNDS ALLOTED PRIOR TO MOD #7 $463,393,621

FUNDS ALLOTTED WITH MOD #7_$ 0

TOTAL FUNDS ALLOTED TO DATE $463,393,621.00 (unclged)
EXPIRATION DATE: September 24, 2020 (unchanged)
CONTRACT FUNDED THROUGH: September 24, 2020 (undjeat)

Except as provided herein, all terms and conditafrtie document referenced in Item 9A or 10A, eetofore changed, remains unchanged and in fidéfand effect

15A. NAME AND TITLE OF SIGNER (Typeor print ) 16A. NAME AND TITLE OF CONTRACTING OFFICER Typeor print)
Dennis E. Hruby, Chief Scientific Officer Darrick A. Early, Contracting Officer
DHHS/ASPR/AMCG
15B. CONTRACTOR/OFFEROR 15C. DATE SIGNED |16B. UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 16C. DATE SIGNED

[s/ Dennis E. Hruby
(' Signature of person authorized to sign)

NSN 754(-01-152-8070 OMB No. 0990—01ETANDARD FORM 30 (REV. 10-83)

BY /[s/ Darrick A. Early

( Signature of Contracting Officer ) 28 Feb 2013

28 Feb 2013




Contract No.
HHS0100201100001C
Modification No.7 Block 14

Continuation Sheet
Page 2 of 2

1. Section F.2. Place and Method of Delivery is revised by adding the following:

F.2.1.1.. Treatment courses delivered and inspected at the Contractor's site on March 4, 2013 under

CLIN 0001 in the amount of 5004 units under Lot Number 24601003 are subject to the following clause:
FAR 52.247-29 F.o.b. Origin (Feb 2006)

No other treatment courses delivered under this Contract are subject to this provision.

All other terms and conditions of contract HHS0100201100001C remain unchanged.

END OF MODIFICATION 7 TO HHS0100201100001C
(Rest of page intentionally left blank)



AMENDMENT OF SOLICITATION/MODIFICATION OF CONTRACT 1. CONTRACT ID CODE PAGE OF PAGES
N/A 1 2

2. AMENDMENT/MODIFICATION NO 3. EFFECTIVE DATE |4. REQUISITION/PURCHASE REQ. NO 5. PROJECT NO(f applicable)
Modification 0008 See Block 16 C N/A

6. ISSUED BY CODE N/A 7. ADMINISTERED BY I other than Item 6) CODE | N/A
DHHS/ASPR/AMCG
330 Independence Avenue, SW,

Room G640,
Washington, DC 20201

8. NAME AND ADDRESS OF CONTRACTORNo., street, county, State and ZI P Code) (X) |9A. AMENDMENT OF SOLICITATION NO.

SIGA TECHNOLOGIES, INC. 9B. DATED (SEEITEM 11)
35 E 62nd Street
New York, NY 10065

10A.MODIFICATION OF CONTRACT/ ORDER NO.
X HHSO0100201100001C

10B. DATED (SEE ITEM 13)
CODE N/A FACILITY CODE N/A 05/13/2011
11. THIS ITEM ONLY APPLIES TO AMENDMENTS OF SOLI CITATIONS

D The above numbered solicitation is amended a®&atin Item 14. The hour and date specified fareipt of OffersD is extendedD is not extended.

Offers must acknowledge receipt of this amendmeint o the hour and date specified in the solt@taor as amended, by one of the following meth@alsBy completing Items 8 and 15, and returning
____copies of the amendment; (b) By acknowledgingipta# this amendment on each copy of the offemsitted; or (c) By separate letter or telegram whittiudes a reference to the solicitation and
amendment numbers. FAILURE OF YOUR ACKNOWLEDGEMEND BE RECEIVED AT THE PLACE DESIGNATED FOR THE REGE OF OFFERS PRIOR TO THE HOUR AND DATE
SPECIFIED MAY RESULT IN REJECTION OF YOUR OFFER by virtue of this amendment, you desire to chamyeffer already submitted, such change may be foadelegram or letter, provided
each telegram or letter makes reference to theistion and this amendment, and is received poidne opening hour and date specified.

12. ACCOUNTING AND APPROPRIATION DATA (f required ) N/A

13. THIS ITEM APPLIES ONLY TO MODIFICATIONS OF C ONTRACTS/ORDERS, IT MODIFIES THE CONTRACT/ORDER NO. AS DESCRIBED IN ITEM
14.

(U) | A. THIS CHANGE ORDER IS ISSUED PURSUANT TQ%pecify authority) THE CHANGES SET FORTH IN ITEM 14 ARE MADE IN THEONTRACT ORDER
NO. IN ITEM 10A.

B. THE ABOVE NUMBERED CONTRACT/ORDER IS MODIFIED TREFLECT THE ADMINISTRATIVE CHANGES @uch as changesin paying office,
appropriation date, etc. ) SET FORTH IN ITEM 14, PURSUANT TO THE AUTHORITY IOFAR 43.103(b).

C. THIS SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENT IS ENTERED INTO PURBNT TO AUTHORITY OF:
X FAR 1.602-1, FAR 52.232-23 Assignmein€Claims

D. OTHER (Specify type of modification and authority )

E. IMPORTANT: Contractor [] is not, [X] is required sign this document and return _Xopies to the issuing office.

14. DESCRIPTION OF AMENDMENT/MODIFICATION Organized by UCF section headings, including solicitation/contract subject matter where feasible)
PURPOSE:The purpose of this modification is to acknowletlye Assignment of Claims to GE Capital Corporat®ee continuation sheet.

FUNDS ALLOTED PRIOR TO MOD #8 $463,393,621

FUNDS ALLOTTED WITH MOD #8.$ 0

TOTAL FUNDS ALLOTED TO DATE $463,393,621.00 (unclged)
EXPIRATION DATE: September 24, 2020 (unchanged)
CONTRACT FUNDED THROUGH: September 24, 2020 (undjeat)

Except as provided herein, all terms and conditafrtie document referenced in Item 9A or 10A, eetofore changed, remains unchanged and in fidéfand effect

15A. NAME AND TITLE OF SIGNER (Typeor print) 16A. NAME AND TITLE OF CONTRACTING OFFICER Typeor print)
Dennis E. Hruby, Chief Scientific Officer Darrick A. Early, Contracting Officer
DHHS/ASPR/AMCG
15B. CONTRACTOR/OFFEROR 15C. DATE SIGNED |16B. UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 16C. DATE SIGNED
[s/ Dennis E. Hruby BY /[s/ Darrick A. Early
(Signature of person authorized to sign ) 09 Apr 2013 (Signature of Contracting Officer ) 09 Apr 2013

NSN 754(-01-152-8070 OMB No. 0990—01ETANDARD FORM 30 (REV. 10-83)



Contract No. Continuation Sheet
HHS0100201100001C Page 2 of 2

Modification No.8 Block 14

Contract is revised by updating the following:
Article B.6 Advance Understandings is hereby updated to add B.6.3 Assignment of Claims

Under the provisions of FAR 52.232-23 and Assignment of Claims Act 831 U.S.C. 3727, 41 U.S.C 815, the Contractor
has provided notice and has agreed that as it earns compensation for services rendered under this contract, these
payments will be made (assigned) to General Electric (GE) Capital Corporation (assignee). This assignment shall cover
all money due or become due under this contract. It shall not exceed the life of this contract. Under this notice,
DHHS/ASPR/AMCG is aware and has consented to directing payments due under this notice of assignment to GE
Capital Corporation.

The Contractor agrees that this assignment cannot be further assigned or re-assigned unless authorized.
If, prior to contract completion, the Contractor fulfills its obligation to GE Capital, the assignee must process a release
of claims. This shall ensure that future payments are made to the correct party. In such cases, the Contractor shall file

a written notice of release together with a true copy of the release of assignment instrument to the Contracting Officer
and the Disbursing officer.

All other terms and conditions of contract HHS0100201100001C remain unchanged.

END OF MODIFICATION 8 TO HHS0100201100001C

(Rest of page intentionally left blank)



Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referéndfie Registration Statements on Form S-3 (N88-129756 and 33338796) and ¢
Form S-8 (Nos. 333-183101, 333-167329, 333-112938;56216 and 3335992) of SIGA Technologies, Inc. of our reportegaiMarch 1(
2014 relating to the financial statements and ffectiveness of internal control over financial oging, which appears in this Form-1K.

/s/ PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP

New York, New York
March 10, 2014



Exhibit 31.1

Certification by Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Eric A. Rose, M.D., certify that:

| have reviewed this annual report on FornKléF SIGA Technologies, Inc
Based on my knowledge, this report does not corgajnuntrue statement of a material fact or omgtade a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts under which such statements were made, nt#adisg with respect to t
period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements,aher financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’ other certifying officer and | are responsible éstablishing and maintaining disclosure conteoid procedures (
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@)) and internal control over financial repagtifas defined in Exchange /
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registramd &ave:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresgused such disclosure controls and procedares tiesigned under «
supervision, to ensure that material informatiotatneg to the registrant, including its consolidhtsubsidiaries, is ma
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isihg prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr; or caused such internal control over finahi@orting to be design
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assaraegarding the reliability of financial repodimnd the preparation
financial statements for external purposes in ataace with generally accepted accounting principles

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registeadisclosure controls and procedures and presémtihis report our conclusio
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contral$ procedures, as of the end of the period coveyetlis report based
such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in theistegnt's internal control over financial reporting thatcomred during th
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regrdts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annuabrg that has material
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaf, the registrant’s internal control over finateeporting; and

5. The registran$’ other certifying officer and | have disclosedsdxh on our most recent evaluation of internal abrdver financie
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitasmmmittee of the registrastboard of directors (or persons performing thevedent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakresssn the design or operation of internal contneérofinancial reportin
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect thgistrants ability to record, process, summarize and refinancia
information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involvesmagement or other employees who have a signifioalet in the
registrant’s internal control over financial repogt

Date: March 10, 2014

/9 Eric A. Rose
Eric A. Rose, M.D.
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2

Certification by Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Daniel J. Luckshire, certify that:

| have reviewed this annual report on FornKl6F SIGA Technologies, Inc
Based on my knowledge, this report does not corgajnuntrue statement of a material fact or omgtade a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts under which such statements were made, nt#adisg with respect to t
period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements,aher financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’ other certifying officer and | are responsible éstablishing and maintaining disclosure conteoid procedures (
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@)) and internal control over financial repagtifas defined in Exchange /
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registramd &ave:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresgused such disclosure controls and procedares tiesigned under «
supervision, to ensure that material informatiotatneg to the registrant, including its consolidhtsubsidiaries, is ma
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isihg prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr; or caused such internal control over finahi@orting to be design
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assaraegarding the reliability of financial repodimnd the preparation
financial statements for external purposes in ataace with generally accepted accounting principles

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registeadisclosure controls and procedures and presémtihis report our conclusio
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contral$ procedures, as of the end of the period coveyetlis report based
such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in theistegnt's internal control over financial reporting thatcomred during th
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regrdts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annuabrg that has material
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaf, the registrant’s internal control over finateeporting; and

5. The registran$’ other certifying officer and | have disclosedsdxh on our most recent evaluation of internal abrdver financie
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitasmmmittee of the registrastboard of directors (or persons performing thevedent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakresssn the design or operation of internal contneérofinancial reportin
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect thgistrants ability to record, process, summarize and refinancia
information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involvesmagement or other employees who have a signifioalet in the
registrant’s internal control over financial repogt

Date: March 10, 2014

/s/ Daniel J. Luckshire
Daniel J. Luckshire

Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of SIGA Techogies, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form X0for the period ended December
2013 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Cimsion on the date hereof (the “Report})Eric A. Rose, M.D., Chief Executive Officer
the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 8 1280adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbarley Act of 2002, that to the best
my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementseétion 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExchangeoA 1934; an

(2) The information contained in the Report faphesents, in all material respects, the finanmialdition and results of operations of the
Company.

A signed original of this written statement reqdifgy Section 906 has been provided to the Compadyvall be retained by tt
Company and furnished to the Securities and Exah&@uammission or its staff upon request.

/9 Eric A. Rose

Eric A. Rose, M.D.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
March 10, 2014




Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of SIGA Techogies, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form X0for the period ended December
2013 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Csion on the date hereof (the “Report;)Daniel J. Luckshire, Executive Vice Presic
and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certifjursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted purdoaBection 906 of the Sarban@siey
Act of 2002, that to the best of my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementseétion 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExchangeoA 1934; an

(2) The information contained in the Report faphesents, in all material respects, the finanmdaldition and results of operations of the
Company.

A signed original of this written statement reqdifgy Section 906 has been provided to the Compadyvall be retained by tt
Company and furnished to the Securities and Exah&@ammission or its staff upon request.

/s Daniel J. Luckshire

Daniel J. Luckshire

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Office
March 10, 2014




